
Introduction
Melvin I. Urofsky

We note with great sorrow the passing 
of Associate Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg. 
During her tenure on the Court, she was a 
friend of the Society, Journal, and also of its 
editor. Few members of the high court have 
been the focus of such great personal renown 
in the outer world; in fact, the only other 
justice I can think of who had a movie made 
about them would be Oliver Wendell Holmes 
Jr.

As is our custom, we mark the passing 
of a justice with two brief articles, one 
by a colleague on the bench and the other 
by a clerk. Justice Clarence Thomas, who 
served with Justice Ginsberg throughout her 
tenure, writes about the esteem, respect, and 
affection she enjoyed while on the bench. 
Ms. Ruthanne Deutsch clerked for the justice 
in the 2007 Term. One recalls the picture 
of the justice’s coffin being carried up the 
steps of the Supreme Court, with her former 
clerks lined up as an honor guard on either 
side. Ms. Deutsch is currently an attorney in 
private practice in D.C.

We also note that the longtime executive 
director of the Society, David Pride, has 
retired after four decades of service to the 
Society. When I became editor, David was 
not only a mentor but became a friend. His 
wisdom in guiding the Society, and facili­

tating the move into its current quarter, will 
be long remembered. We wish him and his 
wife many years of a happy and healthy 
retirement.

Our regular selection of articles once 
again displays how broad the subject of 
Supreme Court history has become; it also 
displays the wealth of talent that is tied to the 
Court and to the Journal.

The first article, about the color of the 
justices’ robes, is by Matthew Hofstedt, who 
is the Associate Curator of the Supreme 
Court. We often take for granted that the 
justices’ robes are black, and in recent years 
when Chief Justice William H. Rehnquist 
added some stripes, and Justices Sandra Day 
O’Connor and Ginsburg added lace collars, 
the basic robe remained black. Was it always 
that way? Mr. Hofstedt gives us an answer.

A number of years ago when I was 
researching a book, f asked Justice Ginsburg 
a question involving judicial ethics, i.e., what 
could they do extrajudicially? She sent me to 
the office that answers these questions for the 
Court, and I was told that this question—and 
its answers—have changed over time. Our 
managing editor, Clare Cushman, who is also 
the Society’s Director of Publications and 
Resident Historian, wrote in the last issue 
about how William R. Day hired his sons to

© 2021 Supreme Court Historical Society 
DOI: 10.111 l/jscb.12253



6 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY

serve as his law clerks, then called “secre­
taries.” It turns out that Justice Day’s sons 
also practiced before the Supreme Court, 
with their father recusing most, but not all, of 
the time. While this would cause great alarm 
today, it apparently did not upset bench, bar, 
or the public in those days.

Tom C. Clark is an often underrated 
member of the Supreme Court, remembered 
primarily for the fact that he resigned in order 
to make it possible for President Lyndon 
B. Johnson to appoint Clark’s son Ramsey 
as Attorney General. What is not as well 
known is what happened a few years later, 
when Johnson wanted to get rid of Ramsey. 
Craig Alan Smith, professor of history and 
political science at California University of 
Pennsylvania, tells us that story. Professor 
Smith is currently at work on a much-needed 
biography of Clark.

We have two student essays in this issue. 
The first is by Rachael E. Jones, a law student 
at the University of Virginia who wrote this 
article under the mentorship of Professor 
Micah Schwartzman. The Rosenberger case 
is one that is taught in nearly every constitu­
tional law course, because it marks, although 
not always clearly, a shift in the Court’s 
Establishment Clause jurisdiction. Ms. Jones 
agrees that the case is an inflection point, 
but she also points out that there is a great

deal more involved in the case, much of 
it unrelated to jurisprudence. It is a case 
in which we really do want to know more 
about, as Brandeis put it, “all the facts that 
surround.”

The other student essay comes from 
Joseph Angelillo, who wrote this while a 
student of our associate editor, Timothy 
Huebner, at Rhodes College. Mr. Angelillo 
is now pursuing a doctorate in American 
constitutional history at the University of 
Florida. L.Q.C. Lamar was the first pro­
secessionist southerner appointed to the high 
court after Reconstruction. Although his 
nomination by Grover Cleveland was hailed 
as a sign of reconciliation between North and 
South, feelings about the war still ran high 
more than two decades after Appomattox. 
Mr. Angelillo reveals that Lamar was not the 
great conciliator he is made out to be and 
takes us on a tour of the press reactions to 
his controversial appointment.

Finally, Henry S. Cohn is a judge 
trial referee in Connecticut, whose atten­
tion was grabbed by a book written by 
another Nutmeg Stater, Professor Donald W. 
Rodgers. The object of their interest is 
the landmark free-speech case of Hague v. 
C/O (1939).

As always, we offer you a large palette of 
topics. Enjoy!



Remembering Ruth Bader Ginsburg

Clarence Thomas

Justice Ginsburg and I served together 
as federal judges for almost three decades, 
beginning on the U.S. Court of Appeals for 
the District of Columbia Circuit. Though my 
tenure there was all too brief, I very much 
enjoyed my time with then-Judge Ginsburg. 
Early on, she and her husband, Marty, invited 
Virginia and me to dinner at their home. 
Of course, Marty was an accomplished chef, 
and both were a delight to be around. At 
the court, Judge Ginsburg was simply a joy 
to work with. Though we sat together only 
a few times, I found her knowledgeable, 
thorough, and delightful. Whether we were 
working jointly in her office on opinion 
language or I was perusing her line edits on 
a circulating draft, her deep commitment to 
the craft of judging always was clear. Also 
clear, and invariable, was her commitment 
to working collaboratively and civilly with 
her colleagues, whether in agreement or 
disagreement.

Later on, as I completed my second 
Term on the Supreme Court, then-Judge 
Ginsburg was nominated to replace Justice 
Byron White. One of my colleagues asked 
whether I knew her and whether I thought

she would be a good colleague. I immediately 
responded that she would be an outstanding 
Justice and a delight to work with. In my 
short time as a judge and as a member of the 
Court, I had learned that, unlike elsewhere 
in the city, disagreement was not the con­
trolling factor in relationships among judges. 
Character and work ethic were far more 
important. I expected Judge Ginsburg would 
be an excellent colleague, and her tenure 
converted my assessment to a prophecy.

Justice Ginsburg proved to be an out­
standing Member of this Court from the 
beginning to the end of her long tenure. In 
the early days, the Court’s docket was signif­
icantly heavier, and Chief Justice Rehnquist 
placed a premium on a fast turnaround of 
opinion assignments. Justice Ginsburg was 
stellar when it came to this, quickly produc­
ing well-written, concise opinions. She was 
also routinely one of the fastest to respond to 
her colleagues’ circulating opinions—either 
joining, asking for changes, or advising that 
she intended to write or await further writ­
ing. In fact, her efficiency became a source 
of humorous banter as well as a thing of 
legend.
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Justice Thomas escorted Justice Ginsburg to her seat at the second Inauguration of President Obama in 2013. She 
joined the Supreme Court bench in 1993 for his third Term, and they served togther for 27 years.

As could be imagined, Justice Ginsburg 
expected the rest of us to be equally con­
scientious in responding to her circulating 
opinions. From time to time, after a few days 
had passed and someone had not responded, 
she would call to quietly and politely ask 
if the colleague had yet had a chance to 
look at her opinion. Not once did she come 
across as discourteous or even pushy, only 
conscientious and quick. Over the years, 
there was so much respect for her and the 
way she did her work that it almost seemed 
discourteous not to respond to her opinions as 
soon as possible. It was as though we all owed 
it to her to reciprocate her conscientiousness. 
I cannot recall a single colleague who felt 
burdened by this. In fact, it often served as 
a source of laughter. When we discussed cir­
culating opinions, she might quietly note that

several colleagues had not responded to her 
opinion that circulated a day or two before. 
And, because it was her opinion, we would 
laughingly chide the “tardy” colleague.

Justice Breyer followed Justice Ginsburg 
on the Court, completing a Court that would 
be together for over a decade. That was 
a wonderful Court. It seemed like family 
in many ways. During those years, Justice 
Ginsburg and I discovered that her wedding 
anniversary—June 23—was also my birth­
day. From that day on, she never failed to 
send me a card or note on my birthday. I en­
deavored to do the same for her. Marty would 
prepare a cake for each of our birthdays, and 
Justice Ginsburg would be the bearer of these 
delectable gifts.

Although Justice Ginsburg was normally 
quiet and controlled, her friends and family



REMEMBERING RUTH BADER GINSBURG 9

could bring out a different side in her. It was 
obvious that Marty was special, and Justice 
Ginsburg would light up whenever he was 
around. His sense of humor was keen, and 
she seemed to enjoy it as much or more 
than anyone else, laughing loudly at Marty’s 
jokes or turns of phrase. It was delightful to 
see and to be a part of. Justice Scalia, her 
close friend of many, many years, also could 
make her laugh and bring broad smiles to 
her face.

In fact, Justice Scalia and Justice Gins­
burg knew each other before either became 
a judge. Coincidentally, while working at 
Monsanto Company in St. Louis, I attended 
a symposium, “The Quest for Equality,” at 
Washington University in 1978. One portion 
featured a discussion between Professors 
Ruth Bader Ginsburg and Thomas Sowell. 
Among the other notable participants were 
Professors Antonin Scalia and Robert Bork. 
None of us could have known then what lay 
ahead for each of us.

Justice Ginsburg and I often disagreed, 
but at no time during our long tenure together 
were we disagreeable with each other. She

placed a premium on civility and respect. 
This approach did not lessen her strong 
convictions, but rather facilitated a respect­
ful environment in which disputes furthered 
our common enterprise of judging. Whether 
in agreement or disagreement, exchanges 
with her invariably sharpened our final work 
product.

But as outstanding a Justice and col­
league as Justice Ginsburg was, what will 
always stand out for me was her courage 
during her many health challenges and the 
death of Marty. Either of these would have 
been enough to mire most in despondency, or 
at least compromise one’s ability and desire 
to work. But not once did these challenges 
affect her work. Though frail in body, she re­
mained intellectually rigorous and character­
istically productive in her work. Despite her 
strength and perseverance, however, it was 
profoundly sad to see her physical suffering.

Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg will always 
have a special place in my heart and memory 
as a dear and wonderful colleague. It was my 
good fortune to have shared the bench with 
her for so many years.



Snapshot Memories of RBG

Ruthanne M. Deutsch

Like many of her law clerks, I first met 
Justice Ginsburg during my interview to clerk 
for her. And also like many others, I came 
to the interview armed with advice to hold 
my tongue during her pauses, and be sure 
to let her finish her thought before speaking 
(hard advice to follow for a fast-talking New 
Yorker). “Count to 3 Mississippi,” I was told. 
So I did. And during our one-hour sedately 
paced chat, instead of talking about law, 
as expected, we talked about attending law 
school while raising children (an experience 
we both shared), Vladimir Nabokov (an au­
thor we both loved, who was also one of her 
professors at Cornell), and our shared passion 
for international travel. She toured me around 
her office, showing me photos, and ending 
with one of her favorites—a picture of her 
son-in-law snuggling with her grandchildren. 
“This,” she said, “gives me hope for the 
future.”

Fast forward a few years to the first day 
of my clerkship, which coincided with my 
eldest son’s tenth birthday. She couldn’t have 
been more welcoming to my family when 
they came to Chambers. And throughout 
my clerkship year, it was an unquestioned

premise that I should be able to parent, and 
clerk, and manage my time as I saw fit. I 
remember the first time I diffidently went to 
her office to ask whether f could step out for a 
few hours to attend a classroom presentation 
(on edible bugs). She looked at me puzzled 
that I had even thought to ask. And, upon my 
return to work, was eager to hear about which 
bugs we ate and what they tasted like.

As for the work, RBG taught me to focus 
on clarity and precision, and that only the 
hardest work and persistence yields writing 
that is effortless to read. Her unparalleled 
attention to detail, combined with an uncanny 
ability to distil a case to its essence, yielded 
opinions that both did justice and provided 
road maps to lawyers and judges on complex 
areas of the law. Some of the most joyful 
moments of my clerkship were discussing the 
trickier questions with her, and seeing her 
light up when something clicked, and she 
decided where to land.

In the years after my clerkship, I was 
grateful to keep in touch through visits to 
Chambers, work on her Portrait Commit­
tee, and various DC gatherings. She always 
asked after my family. And at every career
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The author with Justice Ginsburg, for whom she clerked in the 2007 Term.

inflection point offered sage advice, wishing 
me a “thriving” practice when I launched my 
own firm. I have a collection of handwritten 
notes from her, praising the “delectable,” 
“scrumptious,” and “best-ever” handmade

chocolates I would bring her after our trips 
to my husband’s family in Peru. While she 
shared many gifted goodies with her Cham­
bers staff and clerks, she never shared those 
Peruvian choco-tejas.
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In January of 2021, I had the privilege 
of presenting my first Supreme Court ar­
gument. While my three co-clerks had all 
been able to argue before her, I sadly did 
not get there in time. But the day before my 
argument I received this note from former 
RBG clerk Joseph Palmore, which made 
my day, while also making me weep. He 
wrote:

Hi Ruthanne,

When her former clerks argued 
for the first time in front of her, RBG 
would make eye contact and beam 
with a smile as soon as she came 
onto the bench. And she would also 
try to ask the first question. She of 
course never pulled any punches - 
she voted against me plenty of

times. But she did everything she 
could to put me at ease and be 
a friendly and supportive presence.
I’m so sorry she won’t be there 
physically for you tomorrow. But 
know that she would have been 
extraordinarily proud of you and 
the accomplishments that brought 
you to the podium. Best of luck 
tomorrow.

Joe

The wisdom and compassion that RBG 
gave to every member of her law clerk 
family lives on through her former clerks. 
She modeled for us all how to work hard in 
service of justice, and live a full and rich life 
while doing so. I am eternally grateful to have 
known her.

Ruthanne M. Deutsch is an attorney with Deutsch Hunt PLLC, and served as Justice 
Ginsburg’s law clerk in October Term 2007.



T h e  S w i t c h  t o  B la c k :  R e v is i t in g  E a r ly  
S u p r e m e  C o u r t  R o b e s aZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

M atthew  H ofstedtsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

“ Did the y re ally we ar ro be s like that?”  

is usually the first question a visitor to the 

Supreme Court Building asks when gazing 

upon the portrait of Chief Justice John Jay 

in an elaborate robe, black overflowing with 

red sleeves and stole trimmed with white. 

Jay strikes quite a contrast to the other por­

traits depicting justices in more solemn all­

black robes now synonymous with American 

judges. The answer to the question is “ Yes,”  

but the evidence surrounding Jay’s robe and 

the Supreme Court’s early attire is piecemeal 

and at times contradictory. Making things 

more confusing are the various historical 

accounts of the Court’s dress, based on little  

firsthand knowledge.

These mostly undocumented accounts 

have led to a now generally accepted “ fact”  

that the Court’s adoption of the all-black 

robes was due to the arrival of Chief Justice 

John Marshall in 1801. The story is that 

Marshall adopted the plain black robe on 

his first day with the Court to symbolize a 

new era. By adopting a more “ republican”  

robe, Marshall was signaling a move away

from the “ aristocratic” colored robes worn 

by the other justices, which were seen by 

some as a symbol of the Federalist stance of 

the Court during the 1790s.1 The argument 

goes that the switch to black was one of the 

ways “ the great Chief Justice”  began to unify 

the Court, show judicial modesty, and form 

the Court’s new identity. Despite its appeal, 

there is little documentation to support this 

claim, and as will  be explored, what evidence 

there is suggests the change occurred before 

Marshall became chief justice.2

What follows is an attempt to sort the 

facts from the fiction to come to a better 

understanding of the Court’s early judicial 

attire. Starting with the Jay robe and all 

of the myths surrounding it, this article 

will  review the documentation that supports 

the use of the colorful robes by the early 

justices and add some new discoveries that 

perhaps narrow in on when the switch to 

black actually happened. While robes are 

admittedly a minor part of  the Court’s history, 

they are one of the few pieces of material 

culture created specifically for the justices.WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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The Co u r t’s eventual move to the black robe 

would influence the visual representation of 

judges throughout the United States to the 

present day.

T h e  J o h n  J a y  R o b e

The story of the Supreme Court’s early 

attire begins with the robe seen in perhaps 

the most widely known portrait of a Supreme 

Court justice: Gilbert Stuart’s Chief Justice 

John Jay.3 While many have wondered if  

this was indeed a judicial robe, the Jay 

Family understood it to be so. In August 

1794, Sarah Jay wrote to her husband about 

Stuart’s progress on the portrait, noting that 

their nephew, likely Peter Jay Munro, was 

modeling the robe for the artist. “ It is your

very self,” she wrote, “ it is an inimitable 

picture &  I am all impatience to have it to 

myself.”  Stuart had painted portraits of Jay 

earlier in London, but upon returning to New 

York, the Chief Justice only had time to sit for 

the head of this portrait. Stuart delivered the 

portrait to Mrs. Jay on November 15, 1794, 

and she immediately hung it in the family ’s 

home.4

In 1808, Jay gave the portrait to his son, 

Peter A. Jay, who added this postscript in 

a letter to his father, “ I have put up your 

portrait by Stuart which you were so kind 

to give me. It is an excellent likeness but 

the unfinished state of the Drapery makes it 

look ill  &  I wish to have that part completed 

by some other painter. For that purpose, I 

will  be obliged to you, if  you will  be so 

good, as to bring with you when you next 

come to Rye, your Chief Justice’s Robes.” 5 

Stuart had a reputation for not completing 

some of his portraits, and Peter A. Jay is 

clearly referring to the portrait of Jay in his 

robes, so if  Peter followed through on his 

plan it may explain why descriptions of the 

portrait often note the difference between 

Jay’s head and the rest of  the painting. A  2004 

Gilbert Stuart exhibition catalog provides an 

excellent analysis of the portrait, suggesting 

“ [i]t  is possible that Stuart did not complete 

the robes in the portrait. This could explain 

the rapidly painted, awkward areas of  the robe 

along Jay’s left shoulder and arm.” 6

Throughout the nineteenth century, the 

Jay Family commissioned copies of Stuart’s 

portrait for relatives and others, and eventu­

ally engravings of it began to appear in print. 

In 1815, Joseph Delaplaine commissioned 

William Levy to make an engraving of the 

portrait for his L ives &  Portraits  of Distin ­

guished Am ericans.7 This is likely the first 

widely published image of Jay in his robes of 

office. Delaplaine sent a copy of the print to 

former President John Adams, who replied, 

“ Thanks for the Portraits of my Friends 

Rush and Jay. The latter appears with proper 

Dignity in his Robes of Chief Justice and
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the Like ne s s o f the Co u nte nance is co r re ct.” 8 

Adams was Vice President during the years 

of  Jay’s service on the Court so he recognized 

the robe.

Jay appears in a few historical paintings 

during the nineteenth century, sometimes in 

what appears to be an academic robe, but it 

was not until the 1870s that a renewed interest 

in the Jay robe itself surfaced.9 One of the 

catalysts may have been the 1876 publishing 

of a Currier &  Ives engraving titled, “ The In­

auguration of Washington.” 10 This imagined 

scene depicts Chancellor Robert Livingston 

administering the presidential oath of office 

to George Washington back in 1789 wearing 

a robe that is strikingly similar to the one Jay 

wore in the Stuart portrait. Some surviving 

copies of the print even have hand-colored 

red sleeves on the robe. Livingston was 

the highest judicial officer in New York, 

but whether he wore any robe during the 

inaugural ceremony is undocumented.11

The following year, one of Jay’s grand­

sons, also named John Jay, presented a copy 

of Stuart’s portrait by Henry Peters Gray 

to the Supreme Court. It was the second 

oil portrait of a justice acquired by the 

Court, and it took a place of honor above 

the fireplace mantel in the Justices’ Robing 

Room in the United States Capitol.12 With 

the colorful portrait prominently displayed, 

speculation about its history began to appear 

in newspaper articles, speeches, and books 

about the Court. Did it really depict Jay in 

his robe of office? Where had the robe come 

from? Did the other justices wear something 

similar?

Over the next few decades, several the­

ories on the origin of the robe appeared. 

One, perhaps based on the Currier &  Ives 

engraving and reportedly affirmed by an 

unnamed member of the Court, suggested 

Jay had borrowed the robe from Chan­

cellor Livingston, his former law partner
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and fr ie nd13; another stated the robe was 

given to Jay as part of an honorary de­

gree from the University of Dublin (Trin­

ity College)14...or was it the University 

of Edinburgh in Scotland15...or perhaps 

Harvard University16...or his alma mater, 

King ’s College (Columbia University).17 To­

day, one wonders if it was bestowed by 

Hogwarts!18

The truth is that Jay’s robe was not 

magically conjured nor a flourish from the 

artist’s paintbrush. As noted in the Jay Family 

correspondence, the robe itself existed—and 

still exists. In the early 1880s, amid the grow­

ing speculation about the robe, the Jay Family 

sent it  to the Supreme Court in Washington to 

allow the justices to inspect it for themselves. 

The deep red colors of the Stuart portrait 

had faded on the actual robe to a somewhat 

“ salmon-pink”  hue and the sleeves were a bit 

shorter, but overall it looked very similar to 

the one featured in the Robing Room portrait. 

A  period newspaper reported,

The special occasion of the exhibi­

tion of  this historic robe to the court 

now is to settle a much-controverted 

point as to whether the members of 

the court ever did wear a black robe 

with pink facing, as exhibited in the 

portrait which was suspended upon 

the walls of the robing chamber. It 

was supposed that the robe worn by 

Chief Justice Jay in the portrait was 

borrowed for the occasion from Jus­

tice Livingston, chancellor of New 

York, and in which he administered 

the oath of office as president of the 

United States to George Washington 

in 1789 in New York city. The ex­

hibition of the actual robe worn by 

Chief Justice Jay when he sat upon 

the bench settles this question to the 

satisfaction of the entire court.19

In an apparently unanimous decision, the 

Waite Court justices deemed the robe to be

the one worn by Jay “ on the Bench” and 

discounted the story of its being borrowed 

from Livingston. (Had Jay borrowed the robe, 

he clearly never gave it  back.) With the matter 

seemingly decided, the Court returned the 

heirloom to the Jay Family in New York, 

but questions about why the Court chose 

to wear judicial robes and what the other 

justices wore remained unanswered, allowing 

for continued speculation.

D e b u n k in g  S o m e  S a r t o r ia l M y t h s

Despite the Jay Family, John Adams, and 

eventually the Supreme Court concluding 

that the robe was Jay’s official one, there was 

little evidence outside of the robe itself to 

explain its origin and actual use, and almost 

nothing about what the other justices wore. 

Two of the early Court histories, George 

Van Santvoord’s L ives of  the Chief Justices 

(1854) and Henry Flanders’ L ives of the 

Chief Justices of the Suprem e Court of 

the United States (1858), are biographical 

in nature, and neither describes what Jay 

or his brethren wore during the Court’s 

first sitting or in the decades thereafter.20 

Other nineteenth-century scholars, commen­

tators, and reporters writing about the his­

tory of the Supreme Court latched onto 

various stories of the robe’s origins noted 

above. The most prevalent assumed the robe 

must be an academic robe, and the associ­

ation with the University of Dublin widely 

reported.

This particular story received a stamp 

of approval when featured in a speech by 

New York lawyer William  Allen Butler at the 

Centennial Celebration of  the Supreme Court 

in 1890, subsequently published in Hampton 

L. Carson’s H istory  of the Suprem e Court  

of  the United States.21 The association may 

stem from the school’s academic regalia, 

referred to as the “ Pinks,”  that has a similar 

salmon-pink color. Butler also claimed the 

associate justices wore “ the ordinary black 

robe which has since come into vogue as the
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ve s tm e nt o f all the m e m be rs o f the Co u r t”  but 

offers no evidence for this conclusion. Of the 

early Jay biographers, George Pellew wrote 

in his book, John Jay (1898), that the robe 

was “ perhaps”  a Doctor of Laws robe. Frank 

Monaghan, in John Jay, Defender of L ib ­

erty  (1935) describes the Court’s first sitting 

but used descriptions from the February 1792 

Term, and he then recounts the robe’s Dublin 

origin story as the most likely source for the 

robe.22

One version of this story evolved to 

claim Jay had his Dublin doctoral robe altered 

to become his chief justice’s robe; this ver­

sion of the story appeared in many publica­

tions, including the February 24, 1894, issue 

of  WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH arper’s W eekly23 Later that year, another 

version published in K ate F ie ld  s W ash ing ton 

newspaper mentions the robe among several 

stories told by Court staff during a “ behind 

the scenes”  tour of the Court’s rooms in the 

U.S. Capitol:

The furniture is not the only inter­

esting feature of the robing room. 

Over the fireplace is a large por­

trait of Chief-Justice Jay— the first 

to hold [tjhis exalted office. He 

is dressed in a brilliant red gown 

trimmed with ermine, the earliest 

attempt at judicial costuming in 

this country. It was decided that 

the Supreme Court must have some 

sort of official robe, but as the cut 

and material were not yet chosen, 

the first Chief-Justice trimmed his 

Dublin University gown with er­

mine, to bridge over the emergency.

This was probably thought too fine 

for a republic, so the material of 

the judicial robes was changed to 

heavy black silk. If  you are fortu­

nate enough to gain admission to 

the robing room, Archie, the negro 

attendant, who has been there for 

many years, will  proudly point out 

the beautiful workmanship on one

of these gowns, and will  possibly let 

you slip your arms through the wide 

sleeves and survey the effect in the 

glass. A  woman’s first thought is that 

she must at once have a lounging 

gown cut after the same graceful 

fashion, with the ample fullness 

shirred into a narrow yoke, and great 

sleeves that look, when the arm is 

dropped, like part of  the voluminous 

folds of the main garment.24

The special tour provided to Alice M. 

Whitlock apparently included the experience 

of trying on a judicial robe, one not likely  to 

happen today. The story of the Dublin robe 

now includes it being altered with ermine 

and probably stems from mistaking the white 

trim  of Jay’s robe for the white fur associated 

with royal and judicial robes in European 

nations. It may also derive from an 1831 

quote of  Daniel Webster who said, “ When the 

spotless ermine of the judicial robe fell upon 

John Jay, it touched nothing less spotless 

than itself.” 25 A few reports from the early 

1790s, to be reviewed below, also describe 

the justices as wearing scarlet robes trimmed 

with ermine but there is no evidence that 

any justice ever added ermine trimmings to a 

robe.26 More importantly, the Irish university 

has no record of awarding a degree to Jay.27 

It is likely that the University of Dublin was 

confused over time with the University of 

Edinburgh because that school did award Jay 

an honorary Doctor of Laws degree in May 

1792, but as will  be seen, Jay would have 

procured his judicial robe by this time.28

A  few years later, several new wrinkles 

enter the story of the Court’s early attire, 

apparently stemming from the work of a 

somewhat self-proclaimed historian, Lucien 

B. Proctor.29 A lawyer near Albany, New 

York, Proctor wrote biographical sketches of 

famous lawyers from his home state as well 

as historical accounts of famous legal trials. 

His articles and books are full of chatty 

anecdotes written in a conversational style
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and are chock-full of wonderful quotations, 

many of which have no other known source. 

In early 1896, Proctor published two virtu­

ally identical articles, one in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT he A m erican 

L aw yer titled “ First Federal Chief Justice,”  

the other in the M ich igan L aw R eview called 

“ John Jay and other Chief Justices of the 

Supreme Court of  the United States.”  In these 

articles, Proctor wrote a remarkable story:

Before [Jay took] his seat on the 

bench of the Federal Court a curi­

ous and animated discussion arose 

concerning the habiliments of its 

judges while on the bench. By some

the scholarly gown was preferred; 

others advocated the classic toga; 

others desired the more sacred stole. 

But it was the question of the En­

glish judicial wig, which is associ­

ated with Blackstone, Bacon, Coke, 

Mansfield, Buller and other English 

judges, over which the most exciting 

controversy arose. To the use of  this 

appendage Jay most emphatically 

objected. The subject was discussed 

[outside] judicial circles. Hamilton, 

then secretary of the treasury, who 

favored the methods, costumes and 

fashions of England, strongly sus­

tained, not only the judicial wig, 

but the toga; while Jefferson, ‘whose 

simple manners and opposition to 

the aristocratic tendencies of the 

federal leader exhibited themselves 

in the combing of his hair out of the 

fashionable pigtail, discarding hair 

powder, wearing pantaloons instead 

of  breeches, fastening his shoes with 

strings instead of elaborate buck­

les,’ indulged in denunciations of  all 

unnecessary apparel for the judges. 

He said to Hamilton one day, when 

the subject was under discussion: ‘ I 

have been reading your letter to Jay 

concerning the apparel of  the judges 

of the Supreme Court.’

‘Well, what do you think of it?’

‘That I have no patience with the 

prevailing custom of imitating ev­

erything English in our democratic 

institutions, particularly the organi­

zation of  our courts. If  we must have 

peculiar garbs for the judges, I  think 

the gown is the most appropriate. 

But, for heaven’s sake, discard the 

monstrous wig, which makes the 

English judges look like rats peep­

ing through bunches of  oakum,’ was 

the reply.
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Whe n Aaro n Bu r r was as ke d his 

o p inio n in re gard to the attire o f the 

judges, he said: ‘ It has long been 

the custom in all civilized nations 

to place the outer garb of Roman 

Senators, Grecian orators and jurists 

on modem judged, eminent scholars 

and divines. But I have never seen 

or read of a flowing English wig on 

a statue of an illustrious Roman or 

Grecian orator or statesman. I am 

in favor of giving our judges the 

judicial robes of Mansfield, copied 

from those of Cicero. But let us 

forego the great inverted woolsack, 

termed a wig, which disguised the 

majestic head of the great English 

jurist.’ 30

Unless Proctor had access to now lost 

documents capturing this debate, it seems 

highly unlikely that a virtual “ Who’s Who”  

of early America—Jefferson, Hamilton, and 

Burr—had a debate over judicial attire, al­

though it would have made for an interesting 

addition to the Broadway hit WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH am ilton had 

the trio engaged in a rap battle over judicial 

robes and wigs! To date, none of  these quotes 

is found in any of the writings of the three 

men, nor is there a surviving letter to John 

Jay from Hamilton discussing the apparel of 

the Court.31

Proctor’s account might have receded 

into the mists of history had it not been 

given an important push forward by former 

President Benjamin Harrison, who published 

a shortened version, also without citation, in 

the December 1896 issue of L ad ies’ H om e 

Jou rna l, and then in his 1897 book, This 

Country  of O urs,

When the constitutional organiza­

tion of the Court had been set­

tled and the high duty of selecting 

the Justices had been performed by 

Washington, the smaller, but not 

wholly unimportant, question of a

court dress loomed up, and much 

agitated and divided the minds of 

our public men. Shall Justices wear 

gowns? And if  yea, the gown of 

the scholar, of the Roman Senator, 

or of the priest? Shall they wear 

the wig of the English Judges? 

Jefferson and Hamilton, who had 

differed so widely in their views 

as to the frame of the Constitution, 

were again in opposition upon these 

questions relating to millinery and 

hair-dressing. Jefferson was against 

any needless official apparel, but 

if  the gown was to carry he said;

‘For Heaven’s sake discard the mon­

strous wig which makes the En­

glish Judges look like rats peep­

ing through bunches of oakum.’ 

Hamilton was for the English wig 

and the English gown. Burr was 

for the English gown, but against 

the ‘ inverted wool-sack termed a 

wig.’ The English gown was taken 

and the wig left, and I am sure 

that the flowing black silk gown 

still worn by the Justices helps to 

preserve the court room that dig­

nity and sense of solemnity which 

should always characterize the place 

of  judgment.32

This fascinating account, seemingly cre­

ated by Proctor and retold by Harrison, turns 

up in other histories of the Court. The most 

notable of these was Charles Warren’s multi­

volume work The Suprem e Court  in  United  

States H istory  that won the 1923 Pulitzer 

Prize in History. Warren states incorrectly 

that at its first session in New York City, 

“ the Judges were attired in robes, probably of 

black and red,”  and then his footnote perpet­

uates many of  these stories.33 As entertaining 

as Proctor’s work is, it should be considered 

fiction until some other source is located to 

confirm some aspect of it, and subsequent 

works such as Warren’s that rely on it should
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no t be cite d as do cu m e ntatio n o f the Co u r t’s 

early attire.

Beyond Proctor’s interesting but prob­

lematic work, another explanation for the 

Court’s adoption of the colorful robes comes 

from George Hazelton’s The National Capi­

tol:  Its  Architecture, Art  and H istory  first 

published in 1897. After recounting some of 

the theories noted above, Hazelton wrote:

There is some authority to show 

that, at the earlier sittings of the 

Court, a tri-colored scarf, probably 

occasioned by the French craze, was 

sometimes worn; and in the picture 

of John Jay on the walls of the 

robing room, the gown itself has 

a border of brick-red, the sleeves 

being almost entirely of  that color.34

Hazelton acknowledged the Court’s por­

trait of Jay in the robes as a source for 

his speculation and repeats Harrison’s com­

ments, but he offered no evidence for his 

suggestion that the “ French craze”  was the 

cause for the choice, nor what the third 

color may have been. Jay, often accused 

of being an Anglophile, especially in the 

outrage following the Jay Treaty, was more 

likely to have been influenced by English 

sartorial traditions in outfitting the Court than 

those of the French.

In 1922, Hampton Carson, the author 

of the earlier Centennial H istory of the 

Suprem e Court, returned to the subject 

of the robes in a speech given during the 

rededication of the Old City Hall courtroom 

used by the Court:

These walls, without decoration, are 

today in the same unadorned state 

that they were then in, and yet the 

Bench was not without a touch of 

color. The Chief Justice sat in a 

robe of black silk faced with scarlet 

and white facings, with vermilion 

colored sleeves of large size. The 

Associate Justices sat in black robes

faced with scarlet and white, but 

with far narrower stripes than those 

of the Chief Justice and the sleeve 

instead of being a single color, 

coming all the way to the shoulder 

in a fold, as in the case of the 

Chief Justice, had a white stripe, 

at right angles across, in order to 

mark the yoke of the gown. When 

that judicial dress was dispensed 

with I know not, but such was the 

appearance of the Bench as eight 

members of the Philadelphia bar 

stepped to the front to be sworn in 

as counsellors of this court.35

Carson is likely describing the robe seen 

in the Stuart portrait when discussing Jay’s 

robe having “ vermillion colored sleeves of 

large size”  and wider facings than the As­

sociate Justices. The red sleeves seen in the 

portrait are much longer than the ones on the 

actual robe, and Gilbert (or the anonymous 

painter who may have followed him in filling  

out the robes) left off  the details found on the 

actual robe. The source for the very specific 

details about the associate justice’s robes, 

heretofore unseen, may be based on a portrait 

of Justice William Paterson, of which more 

will  be discussed below.

More recently, the association with 

Harvard took root based on an identification 

made by the historian and Jay scholar Richard 

B. Morris who attributed the robe to the Ivy  

League school that had given Jay an honorary 

degree in 1790.36 Harvard’s honorary robes 

are almost entirely red, and they do not 

resemble Jay’s robe.37 In November 1790, 

Harvard’s President wrote to Jay informing 

him of the honor bestowed in July, thus, 

Jay was not present for the ceremony. The 

letter mentions delays in engraving the 

diploma and makes no mention of a robe.38 

In the early 1970s, the Supreme Court’s 

Curator confirmed with Harvard’s University 

Archives there was no documentation to 

support the presentation of a robe to Jay
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be cau s e the re was no e vide nce that acade m ic 

ro be s we re in u s e at the s cho o l du r ing the 

late e ighte e nth ce ntu ry o the r than p e rhap s 

p lain black ro be s fo r u nde rgradu ate s .39 The 

erroneous Harvard connection resurfaced in 

a description of the Jay portrait in a 2004 

exhibition catalog, G ilbert Stuart, again 

attributed to Morris.40 A  more recent biog­

raphy repeats the unsubstantiated notion that 

Jay may have worn the robe at the first sitting 

of the Court, citing Charles Warren and this 

exhibition catalog.41 As for an association 

with Jay’s alma mater, Kings College (now 

Columbia University), no documentation ex­

ists and any connection is likely  based on the 

Oxford LL.D. robes worn by early presidents 

of th jnsshm jhatyp  M kfstm f  jtejtraftie ’̂ about 

the Jay robe that have been cited for years are 

at best educated guesses, and the quotations 

attributed to Jefferson, Hamilton, and Burr 

likely pure fiction. Throughout the twenti­

eth century, these various stories reappear 

but eventually most Court historians and 

commentators concluded that Jay did wear 

some sort of  robe with red and white when he 

sat with the Supreme Court. Whether it was 

an academic or judicial robe, and what the 

other members of the Court wore, was still 

in dispute.

T o  R o b e  o r  N o t  t o  R o b e

Looking at the Jay robe today, it does 

appear quite colorful compared with the all­

black robe the Court eventually adopted. 

Historically, the use of color in  judicial attire 

was common across Europe, especially in 

England. The larger story of the evolution 

of judicial robes is beyond the scope of this 

article other than to note that several of the 

British colonies in what would become the 

United States had adopted forms of judicial 

attire following English tradition.43 After the 

American Revolution, most courts cast off  

their judicial robes and wigs in keeping with 

the republicanism of the early Republic that 

would have cut against the continuation of

these European traditions, especially those of 

England from which the young country had 

just rebelled.44 A  few state supreme courts, 

however, reportedly continued to don col­

orful traditional judicial attire before aban­

doning it, including Massachusetts, Mary­

land, and Pennsylvania.45 Most state courts 

did not adopt the use of robes again un­

til the late nineteenth and early twentieth 

centuries.

At the national level, the Articles of 

Confederation authorized the Congress to 

create a federal court in 1780, the Court 

of Appeals for Cases of Capture, to handle 

maritime prize cases. In 1781, James Madi­

son recommended the judges of this court 

receive a black robe from the government, but 

there is no documentation to show if  these 

judges ever received or wore robes.46 With 

the ratification of the Constitution in 1787, 

the steps to form the new federal government 

began. The Constitution left most of the 

details of the organization of the Supreme 

Court and the Federal Judiciary to Congress. 

One of the first congressional actions was 

the Judiciary Act of 1789 that created the 

original federal court system of regional 

district courts, circuit courts (comprised of a 

district court judge and two Supreme Court 

justices), and the Supreme Court. The courts 

themselves were to determine the other more 

mundane details, such as judicial attire.

The decision to do away with the much 

disliked English judicial wigs may have been 

an easy decision, and wigs in general were 

going out of style, but the reasons why the 

Supreme Court chose to wear judicial robes 

remain a mystery. Did the justices discuss 

the notion of providing a symbolic, visual 

representation of the new federal Supreme 

Court that would help to bind the new United 

States together under the federal government 

as they uniformly applied federal law across 

the nation?47 Perhaps not so directly, but they 

were aware they were creating a new judicial 

system as reflected in the grand jury charges 

they issued in the early 1790s.48 More likely,
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traditio n p lay e d a p ar t. Many o f the Co u r t’s 

first members had some experience as judges 

before joining the Supreme Court or were 

prominent lawyers and were therefore famil­

iar with the legal traditions of  the colonial and 

state courts.49 A  few may have owned judicial 

robes or “ bar gowns”  worn as attorneys from 

their prior duties, as some advocates wore 

when arguing in colonial and state courts. 

The use of a judicial robe, therefore, would 

have been a natural thing for them to consider 

to give their proceedings the solemn dignity 

they were accustomed to seeing in the courts.

T h e  C o u r t ’s  N e w  R o b e s

So what really happened when the 

justices first came together in New York City 

in February 1790? Honestly, nobody really 

knows. Unlike the opening of Congress 

and the Inauguration of President George 

Washington in 1789, the initial sitting of the 

Supreme Court received little attention, and 

the few newspaper accounts remark only that 

many prominent people were present and that 

it was “ uncommonly crowded.” 50 Based on 

reports from Philadelphia the following year, 

the Court may have undertaken a modified 

version of  a traditional “ opening of  the court”  

ceremony practiced in England and else­

where wherein the justices were met by local 

officials attending the court and escorted to 

the site designated, the Exchange building 

at the foot of Broadway. No contemporary 

description of what the Justices wore those 

first days has been located despite many later 

descriptions of  the Court’s first sitting repeat­

edly claiming some, or all, of the Justices 

wore robes. Without any documentation, it 

is more likely  that they appeared in the usual 

professional attire of the day, a dark suit coat 

and breeches for the initial session.51

On February 2, 1790, with a quorum of 

John Jay, William Cushing, James Wilson, 

and John Blair, the Supreme Court officially  

opened and took care of some administrative 

matters surrounding the formation of the

Court: the Minutes note the reading of the 

justices’ commissions, the naming of a Clerk 

and Crier, and the determination of what the 

Court’s Seal would look like.52 The Court 

met for several more days admitting lawyers 

as Counselors and Attorneys, a distinction 

carried over from English courts, and then 

adjourned until August because there were 

no cases to hear. As to what the justices (or 

other federal judges) were to wear, no known 

records exist, and little commentary appears 

in surviving correspondence of  the justices or 

others.53

Another clue that the first Court probably 

did not wear robes comes from the lack of di­

rection provided by the highest federal court 

on several issues, including expectations 

for judicial attire. On February 13, 1790, 

William Loughton Smith wrote to Edward 

Rutledge, “ I have to inform Mr. [William]  

Drayton [a federal judge in South Carolina] 

that the Supreme Court have not fixed any 

thing as to the dress of the Courts.” 54 Later 

that month, another federal district judge, 

Richard Law, inquired of Chief Justice Jay 

about “ any uniformity particularly Formality 

of Dress”  that was to be expected when the 

circuit court would convene. Jay responded, 

“ No particular dress has as yet been assigned 

for the Judges on the Circuits.” 55 Even new 

Supreme Court justices were in the dark. On 

March 21, 1790, Senator Samuel Johnston 

of North Carolina wrote to his brother-in- 

law, Associate Justice James Iredell, who was 

recently named to the Court and preparing 

to ride the Southern Circuit. “ I don’ t know 

what kind of Gowns the Judges wear,”  wrote 

Johnston, who was advising Iredell from New 

York, “ but supposed that your Bar-Gown may 

answer your purpose till  you can be better 

informed which will not probably be till  

you come to this place.” 56 Had the justices 

adopted judicial robes or worn academic 

robes at their first sitting as some have 

contended, someone would probably have 

noted their choice of garments instead of 

recording that no decision had been made.
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As Se nato r Jo hns to n p re dicte d, it ap p e ars 

the dis cu s s io n abo u t attire fo r the m e m be rs 

o f the Su p re m e Co u r t hap p e ne d whe n the y 

re co nve ne d in Ne w York City for the August 

Term 1790. The first indication the Court had 

decided to wear robes comes in a postscript to 

a February 2, 1791, letter from Justice John 

Blair to Justice James Wilson,

P.S. If  you [would] Wish, that I send 

you the Copy [which] you were so 

kind as to lend me of your speech 

to the G[rand] jury, before I can 

have the pleasure to deliver it with 

my own hand (as I once expected 

to do about this time) please to 

instruct me. Probably by th is tim e 

our  gowns m ay be fin ished &  the 

judges m ay appear in them th is 

term . The cost of them ought to be 

defrayed without delay &  on your 

application to the Treasurer of the 

U.S. for what I owe on that account 

he will,  I am sure, pay it on demand.

I would give an order for it  if  I knew 

the amount. I wish to be informed 

of that circumstance, that I may 

be enabled to draw from my true 

balance, in favour of a gentleman 

here who has promised to furnish 

me with cash &  take my order on the 

Treasurer.57

From Blair ’s note, it is clear the order for 

“ our gowns”  occurred before February 1791, 

and presumably, the next time Blair would 

be able to deliver the borrowed speech “ with 

my own hand”  would be at the Court’s next 

meeting in August 1791, at which point the 

gowns might be ready. A  week later, Blair 

wrote to the Treasurer of the United States, 

Samuel Meredith, regarding his account,

I have lately written to Judge Wil ­

son, desiring him to apply to you for 

the price of a judge’ s gown, which 

he was to procure for me, but for 

which I did not send him a formal

order, as I was not acquainted with 

the amount.58

Whether Justice Wilson was able to fol­

low  Blair ’s instructions is unknown, but just a 

few weeks later, on February 24,1791, a John 

Shields sent a receipt to Chief Justice Jay on 

behalf of Wilson in reference to making a 

robe,

Agreeably to the request of the

Honorable James Wilson, Esq. [to 

me?] I have this day drawn on you 

in favor of Mr. George Douglas for 

53 dollars and Eight Seven Cents 

at three days sight which you will  

please to Honor. This sum is for  a 

Robe and making agreeably to the 

Account.59

The sum of $53.87 appears to be a 

substantial sum for one judicial robe so Jay 

may have had other items to pay off to 

make “ agreeably the account,” or perhaps 

this was the amount due for several robes 

ordered from Douglas. John Shields was a 

Philadelphia merchant located at “ the Sixth 

door below Chestnut in Second-Street”  who 

may have also been the Treasurer of the 

Philadelphia chapter of the Society of St. 

Andrew, a group that honored its Scottish 

heritage—and whose president was none 

other than the Scottish-born Justice Wilson.60

The identification of George Douglas is 

harder to pin down because that name does 

not appear in the 1791 or 1793 Philadelphia 

city directories. Was he a tailor, another 

merchant, or someone else? Looking back 

to New York City, there are two possible 

suspects: a father and son with that name 

listed in the city directory in 1790.61 Both 

were merchants, with George Douglas, Jr., 

listed at No. 236 Queen (now Pearl) Street 

as an importer of dry goods and clothing 

from Hull, London, and Bristol, with possible 

associations with a large trading company.62 

This address would have been just down the 

street from the Exchange building where the
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Co u r t had m e t in Ne w York the previous 

summer. It is not hard to imagine, admittedly 

based on these scant details, the justices 

walking down the street to place their order 

for robes. It is also possible that the Court 

tasked Justice Wilson with coordinating the 

acquisition of the robes when he returned 

to his home in Philadelphia, and where the 

Court knew it would meet the following 

year.63 Questions remain, therefore, about 

whether the robes could have come from 

a tailor in New York City or Philadelphia, 

or if  the order for such fine goods required 

a specialized robe maker from Scotland or 

England, possibly through the connections of 

the Douglas trading company.64

All of the original six justices were 

present in New York during the August Term 

1790, including John Rutledge who did not 

sit with the Court due to an attack of gout.65 

The discussion to don robes, therefore, may 

have included Rutledge that summer, but he 

missed the next February Term and then re­

signed on March 5, 1791, following his elec­

tion as chief justice of  his home state of  South 

Carolina. Thomas Johnson of  Maryland filled  

the vacancy under a temporary commission 

dated August 5, 1791, under which he took 

his oaths on September 19 before Richard 

Potts in Frederick, Maryland.66 On January 

9,1792, Johnson wrote to James Wilson from 

Georgetown, Maryland,

I have been here several Days in­

deed longer than I expected. Early 

next month I hope to see you in 

Philadelphia] and you will  oblige 

me by having a Dress m ade for  

m e agreeable to those in tended 

for  the other Judges. I have no 

Vanity to gratify in this outward 

Mark of Office. I should have rather 

inclined against it but am not so 

perverse as to be singular in Things 

in themselves indifferent.67

Due to illness, Johnson would miss the 

coming February Term, but this letter reveals

that Johnson thought he would need a robe 

made to match the others that were apparently 

already in the works. That Johnson might 

have argued against wearing robes had he 

been involved with the initial discussions 

is an interesting side note and the lack of 

other surviving correspodence on the topic 

frustrating.

In any case, a set of  robes was in hand by 

the February Term 1792, when it met in the 

courtroom in the new City Hall (see Figure 

X), and WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT he G azette o f the U n ited Sta tes 

reported,

SUPREME COURT OF THE

UNITED STATES

Friday, Feb. 10, 1792

The Court met pursuant to adjourn­

ment - present 

The Hon. William  Cushing 

James Wilson 

John Blair 

James Iredell

No business being before the Court, 

it adjourned till to-morrow 11 

o’clock.

The Judges appeared on the 

bench in  their  robes of  office.68

Several other newspapers reported simi­

lar information,

Friday, Feb. 10. - PURSUANT 

to Adjournment, the Honorable 

William Cushing, James Wilson, 

John Blair and James Iredell, Esq’rs. 

Associate Justices, this day met at 

the City-Hall, and there now appear­

ing a sufficient number of Justices 

to constitute a Court, proclamation 

is made, and the Court is opened.

There being no business at present 

before the Court, it is adjourned 

until to-morrow as [sic] eleven 

o’clock.
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Extract fro m the m inu te s o f the 

Co u r t,

SAMUEL BAYARD, Clerk.

A  CO RRESPO NDENT observes, 

that he was highly pleased to­

day, with  the appearance of the 

Judges of the Suprem e Court  of 

the United States in  their  RO BES 

O F JUSTICE, the elegance, grav­

ity  and neatness of which, were 

the subject of rem ark  and appro­

bation  with  every spectator.69

As noted, Thomas Johnson was absent 

and missed the unveiling of the robes due 

to illness, but James Wilson wrote to him 

on March 13, 1792, to discuss circuit duties 

and update him on the status of his request 

for judicial dress, ending his letter, “ Your 

Robes are made.” 70 This comment suggests 

Johnson’s gown was either made in Philadel­

phia, or if  Wilson had the robe ordered for 

Rutledge altered, it  was done by a tailor there. 

Chief Justice Jay was not able to enjoy this 

moment either because he had remained at 

home in New York with his pregnant wife, 

Sarah Jay. Mrs. Jay was well enough for him 

to depart on his circuit riding duties by April,  

and she wrote to him on April  22, 1792,

Your friends at Philadelphia seem to 

relinquish the expectation of seeing 

you there again, at least in your 

official capacity, as Mr[s]. Morris 

has sent your Robe to you, which 

Mr[s]. [Soderstrom] was so obliging 

to leave here this morning.71

This letter confirms that Jay was not 

wearing his robe on circuit that spring, and 

that the other justices expected Jay to leave 

the Court if  elected governor of New York 

and were therefore sending him his robe 

as a farewell token.72 Sarah Jay does not 

indicate she will forward the robe to her 

husband, nor has a letter from him asking 

for it been located, and this suggests that

the justices did not intend to wear the robes 

while on circuit.73 Of note, the volumes of 

the very thorough Docum entary H istory  

of the Suprem e Court  show no reports of 

any justice wearing robes while on circuit,73 

nor that Associate Justice William Cushing 

or Chief Justice Oliver Ellsworth wore a 

robe when swearing in, respectively, George 

Washington in 1793 or John Adams in 1797, 

two events that may have required wearing 

their official attire outside of a court sitting.74

Some stories about the Court’s robes, 

as noted above, claimed they were red and 

trimmed with ermine, or even matched those 

worn by English judges from the King ’s 

Bench. This confusion could stem from 

someone in the courtroom audience not able 

to see the details of the judge’s robes up 

close and mistaking the white trim for er­

mine, the white fur associated with English 

judicial attire. One such comment came soon 

after the Court first appeared in their robes. 

Benjamin Bourne, one of Rhode Island’s 

Representatives in Congress and a future U.S. 

District judge, wrote on February 21, 1792, 

the “ Supreme Court...has been sitting [but] 

have done little or no business” and that 

“ The Judges were habited in Scarlet Robes 

Richly &  fully  ermined.”  Bourne is certainly 

describing the federal Supreme Court in his 

letter because he mentions a case before the 

Court and goes on to discuss the future of 

Chief Justice Jay.75 Assuming Bourne saw 

the court firsthand, the red in Jay’s robe as 

seen in the Stuart portrait may have been de­

scribed as scarlet and the white trim  mistaken 

for ermine.

In August 1792, a letter written by 

“ Russell”  appeared in Philadelphia’s WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF edera l 

G azette under the title “ On the Dresses of 

the Judges.”  Like Bourne, the author appears 

to be describing the federal Supreme Court, 

although his critique could be directed at 

the Pennsylvania courts as well. Either way, 

his notice says much about how many peo­

ple viewed the colorful robes worn by any 

judges:
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Having by accide nt chance d the 

o the r day to walk by the co u r t 

ho u s e , and o bs e rving a cro wd by the 

do o r , I was te m p te d to e nte r fo r an 

ins tant, to s e e what was the object 

of attention; when I was surpised, 

at my going in, to behold upon 

the judicial seats; six gentlemen, 

arrayed in a robe as unsuitable to 

the season, as it was new in point 

of fashion. I was for some time 

at a loss to discover the kind of 

dress they had on, till,  on a nearer 

approach, I  found it  to be scarlet 

tr im m ed  with  erm ine. Such a dress 

in August was truly surprising; for 

in point of convenience, it must be 

exteremely oppresive, and in point 

of show or appearance, it certainly 

is much less solemn and decourous 

than the black coats, till  lately ob­

served on those seats.

The dress, I have been told, is 

borrowed from a country we are but 

too ambitious to copy, though we 

were lately so fond of disdaining.—  

I am sorry our judges should have 

imitated an example, originating, 

probably, in barbarous times, and 

probably preserved only in England 

on account of its antiquity...

But, seeing that constitution of 

the United States has not warranted 

any distinctions of dress used in 

regal courts to be adopted by our 

own; but, on the contrary, forbids 

expressly, by its spirit, the introduc­

tion of orders of nobility so con­

nected with distinctions of dress:—  

Seeing also, our amiable President 

does not assume the royal robes 

at his levees, to which he has, at 

least, as much apparent right:—  

I have not been able to forbear 

these strictures; might always to 

oppose them to every novelty which 

appears to me calculated to alter

the habits of our plain republican 

system.76

There are some inconsistencies with 

Russell’s account, for example, he states he 

stopped by the “ Court House”  but the federal 

Supreme Court met in the new City Hall 

starting in August 1791, and at that time 

the term “ Court House”  usually referred to 

a building located elsewhere in the city.77 

Whether Russell intentionally or mistakenly 

described the white trim of the robes as 

ermine, that detail connects the Court’s robes 

to the aristocratic trappings of the English 

judges. For Russell and many others, such 

associations should not be seen in the courts 

of  the new nation where simple “ black coats”  

(confirming the court’s earlier sittings had no 

robes) are more in keeping with republican 

virtues.

At the federal Supreme Court’s sub­

sequent sitting, a similar comment on the 

justices’ robes again made the newspapers, 

and not for their fashionable style but for 

their European associations. The February 

9, 1793, issue of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD un laps A m erican D a ily  

A dvertiser included the following notice:

In my usual round in royal square, 

from Congress hall to the house 

of state, in which places the wise 

akers [sic] of America are framing 

laws for the citizens of these United 

States, I carelessly sauntered into 

the city court-house, where the fed­

eral supreme court was sitting. I  had 

been there but a few minutes, when 

I was accosted, by a plain, decent, 

elderly looking man, thus; “ Canst 

thou  tell  m e, fr iend,  whether those 

servants of the people on you 

elevated seats, dressed in party  

coloured robes or livery, cannot 

pass sentence according to  law , on 

r ight  and wrong, without being 

cloathed in  the H arlequin  dress?”

I replied, “ I had heard they could 

not.”  He shrugged his shoulders and
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s aid, “ Po o r Americans! If  that is 

the case, your independency has not 

mended your condition much—your 

liberty is but a shadow indeed, when 

you carry the badges of European 

slavery on your backs to your seats 

of  justice.”  A.B.C.78

Another anonymous letter appeared in 

the city ’s WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ationa l G azette a few weeks 

later, with the correspondent noting “ with 

pleasure”  the spread of republican ideals and 

removal of “ every vestige of royalty and 

regal pomp” from the country. “ I cannot 

help viewing with a jealous eye,”  the writer 

continues,

the gaudy trappings of our very  

worthy judges of the suprem e 

court of the United States.—

Plainness and simplicity are funda­

mental principles of a republican 

government, and we are all aware 

of the prevalency [sic] of examples; 

when I  see, therefore, our chief mag­

istrates upholding the relicks [sic] 

of aristocracy, I really am surprized 

[sic], and not a little fearful of the 

consequences; people seem to be 

pretty generally agreed, with regard 

to the evil tendency of bestowing 

titles. And to me it appears as great 

an impropriety, and will  eventually 

have the same effect, to retain the 

idle pomp of  office, as the ridiculous 

epithets annexed thereto.79

A  year later, in September 1794, a long- 

running series of letters authored by “ A  

Citizen” titled “ A Review of the Revenue 

System in Thirteen Letters” included this 

reference to the Supreme Court in Letter XII,

Guided by the same principle, and 

directed by same influence [as seen 

as President Washington’s levees],

even the grave Judges of the

Suprem e Court, when on the 

solem n seat of judgm ent, distin ­

guished them selves from  their  fel­

low citizens by robes of gaudy 

and fantastic form .  With these they 

might have amused the fancy and 

excited the ridicule of their behold­

ers; but never could have added to 

their own dignity or respectability in 

the opinion of men of real discern­

ment. ...The judges indeed continue 

to wear their party colored robes, 

but it is probable they do it more 

from pride which prevents their 

acknowledging their mistake, then 

from any conviction of their utility.  

Some of those who have been lately 

appointed, refuse to wear them.80

Describing the Court’s robes in a deroga­

tory way, calling them “ party colored,”  

“ gaudy,” and “ Harlequin” dress are among 

the tropes used by the anti-Federalist press 

when referring to the Court. “ Parti-coloured”  

is a technical term used to describe a gar­

ment divided vertically and of two different 

colors; it would be a useful shorthand to 

describe the red and white colors of the 

Court’s robes.81 At the same time, it held 

the double meaning suggesting the Court 

was supportive of the Federalists, one of 

the nascent political parties forming in the 

1790s. The term appears several times in 

newspapers during this period in other uses, 

including “ party colored cockades” seen on 

hats to indicate a person’s support for one 

party over the other so it was not reserved 

for the Supreme Court alone.82 Importantly, 

these notices reinforce the idea that all of 

the justices were in colored robes, not just 

Chief Justice Jay. The suggestion made by 

“ A  Citizen”  that new members of the Court 

were refusing to wear the robes echoes the 

notion of reluctance to don judicial robes in 

Justice Thomas Johnson’s earlier letter when 

he requested a robe be made for him. There 

is no known documentation to support the 

notion that some of the justices wore robes 

and others did not, but the enthusiasm for the
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co lo r fu l ro be s m ay have be e n waning as the 

m e m be rs hip o f the Co u r t change d.

T h e  A u g u s t  T e r m  1 7 9 5

Chie f Ju s tice Jay did no t win the Ne w 

York governorship in 1792 as many suspected 

and continued to serve through 1795; how­

ever, he missed the August Term 1794 and 

February Term 1795 while on a diplomatic 

mission to England that resulted in the treaty 

that would bear his name. When the terms 

of the Jay Treaty reached the public, there 

was a great uproar claiming that Jay had 

given up too much to the English. At the 

same time, he was the leading candidate for 

governor of  his home state. One commentator 

captured this dichotomy while mocking Jay 

in the March 30, 1795, issue of the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA uro ra 

G enera l A dvertiser ,

It is to be presumed that the 

philanthropic and republican toast 

of our judicial envoy [Jay] will  

add to his other merits, and secure 

him an honourable and affectionate 

reception on his return; for freemen 

must certainly welcome the man to 

their shores, with hearts overflowing 

with delight, who proclaimed a 

wish, that thrones and tyranny might 

have an honourable security! The 

citizens of New-York will, doubt­

less, hold this in remembrance, 

and place it as a stepping stone for 

redoubtable envoy to mount the 

chair of their government; &  lest 

the bottom should be too hard, the 

H arlequin  robe which would then 

be useless, might be converted 

into a cushion upon which a 

friend of kings might loll at his 

ease.83

Upon learning of his election, Jay re­

signed from the Court in late June 1795, but 

in celebrating the nation’s independence that 

July 4, effigies of  Jay burned in several cities,

and newspaper accounts of  these proceedings 

almost always noted his visage was dressed in 

robes.84

With Jay’s departure, President George 

Washington named John Rutledge of South 

Carolina as chief justice. As noted earlier, 

Rutledge had previously served on the Court 

as one of the original associate justices but 

resigned to become South Carolina’s chief 

justice. Now, under a recess appointment, 

Rutledge arrived in Philadelphia during the 

August Term, and made contact with James 

Iredell, whom he knew from his earlier tenure 

on the Court,

I thank you for your very kind Let­

ter, &  shall be happy to see you, as 

soon as convenient— I cannot take 

my Seat at the Bench, today—when 

the Court rises, I will  be obliged to 

you, for  a Sight of your  G own, or, 

if  Mr. Jay’s, or Mr. Blair ’s, is here, 

be pleased to order the Officer of  the 

Court, or the person who has Charge 

of ‘ em, to send one of them, to my 

Lodgings.85

This letter reinforces the notion that all 

of the justices were wearing a similar robe at 

the August 1795 Term and that either Jay’s 

or Blair ’s robe might be used by Rutledge 

when he assumes his position as chief justice. 

Importantly, this suggests—at least to Rut­

ledge’s knowledge— that the chief justice’s 

robe would be interchangeable with that of 

an associate justice, something he may have 

known if  he was included in the discussion 

to adopt robes back in August 1790. What 

Rutledge could not have known was that 

Jay’s robe was in New York with the Jay 

Family, but he must have known Blair was ill  

and not present and therefore his robe might 

be available.86 Rutledge did preside as chief 

justice that summer, only for the Senate to 

reject his nomination later in the year. No 

comments on the appearance of the Court 

appear at the time so perhaps he was able to 

make do with Blair ’s robe.
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At abo u t the s am e tim e , ano the r p ie ce o f 

this p u zzle e nte rs the story: a pastel portrait 

by James Sharpies Sr. of Associate Justice 

William Paterson wearing what appears to 

be a similar robe to that of John Jay.87 

Sharpies was an English artist, whose family 

first traveled to the United States in late 

1794, remaining through 1801. With mem­

bers of his family, he made portraits of many 

prominent Americans of the day, including 

several members of the Supreme Court and 

at least one of their wives. The significance 

of the Paterson portrait is that Sharpies had 

a reputation of making a faithful likeness 

of his subjects. He worked not in oil but 

pastel, producing a small portrait in about 

two hours that he gave to the sitter when 

completed, charging $15 for a profile like 

Paterson’s portrait. This is a stark contrast to 

Stuart, who as noted earlier, took months, if  

not years, to complete his works, allowing 

backgrounds or other details to be filled  

in later from memory or by other artists.88 

The Paterson robe depicted by Sharpies is 

actually closer to how the extant John Jay 

robe appears than is the one in the Stuart 

portrait.

Unfortunately, the Paterson portrait is 

difficult to date: it could have been painted 

anytime between 1795 and 1801, but likely  

dates to 1796-98 when Sharpies mostly 

worked in Philadelphia. At least one other 

justice, William Cushing, sat for Sharpies 

around this time based on a 1797 letter 

from Cushing to his niece that mentions two 

separate portraits Sharpies made of him. The 

Sharpies family also captured other members 

of the Court, but possibly at other times 

including Oliver Ellsworth, Bushrod Wash­

ington, Governor John Jay, Brockholst Liv ­

ingston, and possibly Alfred Moore. Based 

on Sharpies’ technique, it would be surpris­

ing for him to depict Paterson in a robe he 

did not wear, but he is also the only member 

of  the Court Sharpies portrayed in this way.89 

If  taken as a “ document”  of what Justice Pa­

terson was wearing the day he was drawn, the 

Sharpies portrait pushes the use of the col­

ored robes into the second half of the 1790s.

A n o t h e r  E a r ly  R o b e  R e d is c o v e r e d

Taken together, the evidence so far—  

both physical and documentary—suggests
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that all o f the m e m be rs o f the Co u r t u p 

u ntil Jay’s departure likely wore the same 

type of robe with red and white trim, from 

the February Term 1792 through at least 

the August Term 1795, and the Paterson 

portrait indicates the colorful robes may have 

been in use into the later 1790s. In addition 

to Jay’s robe, however, at least five others 

should have existed, one each for William  

Cushing, James Wilson, John Blair Jr., James 

Iredell, and John Rutledge/Thomas Johnson. 

Without a firm date for the order of first 

robes, the one requested by Thomas Johnson 

in January 1792 and that was ready by March 

could have been the one ordered for Rut­

ledge and altered for Johnson’s use. Whether 

there were five, six, or seven colorful 

robes, the question remainsof what happened 

to them?

As described above, the one robe known 

to have survived was that of John Jay, and it 

remained with the family into the twentieth 

century. In the late 1920s, a Jay descendant, 

Peter Jay, wrote to Chief Justice William  

Howard Taft and offered the robe for use 

when the planned Supreme Court Building 

opened. Despite Taft’s interest in one day 

having a place to show the Court’s history in 

the new building, he declined the offer citing 

a lack of  space while the Court was still meet­

ing in the Capitol building. He recommended 

the Smithsonian, and, in turn, the Jay Family 

placed the robe on loan there while Peter Jay 

was overseas. Despite a second conversation 

in 1931 with Chief Justice Charles Evans 

Hughes, the robe remained on loan with the 

Smithsonian until donated to the National 

Museum of American History in 1973. The 

robe did make it to Supreme Court Building 

once as WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa featured object in a short-term 

exhibition.90 Today, the robe is in fragile but 

remarkably good condition in the museum’s 

collection, having undergone a major con­

servation treatment after the donation. Even 

when first cataloged, the curators there were 

not sure if  the robe was an academic or 

judicial robe.91

With only Jay’s robe to study, however, it  

was difficult  to determine if  it was a unique 

robe, one of a matching set, or if  there were 

differences between the chief justice’s robe 

and those of the associate justices. Recently, 

a second robe of what appears to be a design 

identical to that of  Jay’s robe was located: the 

one worn by Associate Justice James Iredell 

who served on the Court from 1790 to 1799. 

The key to locating Iredell’s robe was a 1907 

exhibition catalog from the North Carolina 

Historical Exhibit at the Jamestown Ter­

centennial Exposition that listed the robe.92 

Following this lead, the robe was located in 

the collection of the North Carolina Museum 

of History in Raleigh, a donation dating 

to 1914.93 Finally, the physical proof of a 

second early Court robe could confirm the 

existence of a set of robes for all of the 

justices—or would it?

Importantly, with the help of the North 

Carolina Museum’s staff, the author was able 

to inspect the robe in the museum’s conserva­

tion lab.94 Unfortunately, the body of  the near 

230-year-old garment was mostly in tatters, 

having been on exhibit in the state’s Hall 

of History as early as 1884. Its deteriorated 

condition confirmed the description in the 

early exhibit catalog that it had “ fallen a 

victim to the ravages of time.” 95 From the 

segments that were intact, it was clear cer­

tain features in its manufacture were nearly 

identical to Jay’s robe, indicating the two 

robes were likely  from the same tailor’s shop, 

made with the same material, and were of  the 

same pattern. This is most apparent in the 

pleated area found on both “ outer sleeves,”  

where there are seven folds held in place by 

strings looped over four buttons, and along 

the back shoulder seam area with a solitary 

button with looped string. Importantly, the 

ends of the silk fabric of the main robe, 

called selvedges, have a gold edge on the 

inside seam which is similar to matches the 

ones on the Jay robe.96 All  of this appears to 

confirm a common source, but there were two 

surprises: the red and white colored “ stole”
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ru nning do wn the fro nt o f Jay’s robe was 

missing from Iredell’s robe, and even more 

unexpected, the outer sleeves of the Iredell 

robe were all black.

The existence of the black Iredell robe 

leads to other questions; most notably, did the 

associate justices wear a black robe and the 

chief justice alone wear the one with the red- 

and-white embellishment? Some historians 

had suggested such a distinction in rank, but 

the Sharpies portrait of Justice Paterson and 

the other documentation discussed earlier 

argues that the robes were all the same, or 

at least all had colorful aspects, thus refuting 

that idea. The most logical explanation could 

be that the changes to Iredell’s robe occurred 

at some point while he was still on the Court.

To this layperson’s eye, the construction 

of these early robes is such that there is a 

black silk inner robe, with the fabric pulled 

together along the shoulders and back to 

create the flowing body of  the gown. Narrow, 

inner sleeves of black fabric end in turned 

back cuffs. To this black gown, the colorful 

outer sleeves and stole are attached, with the 

stole running around the neck and down the 

two sides of the front of gown. The Jay robe 

preserves the original color patterns of the 

outer sleeves and stole while on the Iredell 

robe these pieces are black or missing. The 

condition of the Iredell robe is so poor that 

the extant outer sleeves were detached from 

the robe’s body.

If  one wished to turn the more colorful 

robe into an all-black one, the outer sleeves 

could be removed, dyed black or replaced 

with black fabric, and reattached. At  the same 

time, the stole could be detached and the 

result would be an all-black robe.97 During 

inspection, the exterior sides of the outer 

sleeves showed a slightly different sheen 

and color that hints to a possible dyeing 

process, but long exposure to light could 

be the culprit. Intriguingly, inside the top 

collar of the Iredell robe is a very small 

piece of fabric, close in color to the faded 

colors found on the stole of the Jay robe

and possibly a remnant of this piece that was 

removed.

It was impossible from visual obser­

vation alone to determine if  the fabric on 

the outer sleeves of the robe were origi­

nally black, dyed later, or were a complete 

replacement. (The inner and outer sleeves 

were in much better shape than the body 

of the garment so perhaps they were com­

pletely replaced.) However altered, the North 

Carolina museum staff did think this black 

color on the outer sleeves was from early 

in the garment’s life because the fabric was 

extremely brittle, likely  caused by the use of 

iron in the making of black dyes in the late 

eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries.98 

The Jay robe in the Smithsonian also suffered 

damage over the years from light exposure, 

fading of the original dyes used in the fabric, 

and the naturally deteriorating silk. At this 

time, plans to bring the robes together for 

a full analysis by historic textile experts at 

one of the museums, or at least to undertake 

a comparable study, are on hold due to the 

COVID-19 pandemic.99

If  the alterations to make the Iredell robe 

appear black prove correct through further 

analysis, it would be definitive proof that all 

of the Court’s robes once had the red and 

white details. It would mean that Iredell’s 

robe was most likely changed to black at 

some point after Jay resigned in June 1795 

but before Iredell’s death in October 1799. 

This would explain the difference between 

the two original 1792 robes, and it could 

mean that the switch to black for all the 

other robes occurred at some point during 

the 1796-99 period. This moves the Court’s 

change to the all-black robe back a few years, 

and rather than attributing this change to John 

Marshall, it would have occurred during the 

chief justiceship of Oliver Ellsworth.

From a purely practical standpoint, this 

analysis may make more sense. With the 

departure of Jay and Blair in 1795, two new 

justices, Ellsworth and Samuel Chase, joined 

the Court the following year. Assuming each
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de p ar ting justice kept their robe as Jay did, 

the Court had at most four original robes 

for six justices. If  the Court retained Justice 

Blair ’s robe after he resigned, there may have 

been five. If  the original robes were made 

overseas, there would be a long wait for a 

new matching custom robe, but if  made in 

Philadelphia it could have been a few weeks 

or months. Perhaps the new chief justice 

decided to move to a more easily obtained 

black robe for its new members, and the 

others phased out the older robes or altered 

them to match. Another possibility is that the 

change occurred later, perhaps after the death 

of James Wilson in 1798. If  Jay and Wilson 

had been the main advocates for the colored 

robes, Wilson’s death may have allowed the 

newer members of the court make such a 

change, especially if  some of the reports that 

new justices did not wish to don the colorful 

robes held some truth. Unfortunately, there is 

no known correspondence about this change 

and no robes of any sort associated with 

Ellsworth, Chase, or Bushrod Washington 

have been located to date. In addition, no life  

portrait of any of these justices shows them 

wearing a robe, let alone one like those of Jay 

or Iredell.100

The new physical evidence of the Iredell 

robe seems to put a limit on the timeframe 

for the switch to the black robes, but at least 

two documentary references to the justices 

wearing “ party colored robes” appear after 

1800 and may support the argument that the 

justices continued to wear the multicolored 

robes after Iredell’s death in October 1799. 

The phrase returned to newspapers in regard 

to the Supreme Court in “ A  Card for Judge 

Chase” published in several newspaper in 

mid-1800:

The writer of a letter, dated at

Philadelphia, May 7th, 1800, of 

which an extract appeared in the 

Examiner of the 20th of the same 

month, though willing to gratify 

Judge Chase and the public, by

establishing in a court of  justice the 

truth of the allegations contained in 

that publication, is not disposed to 

enter into controversy in the federal 

court, with a Judge of that court, 

under the existing practice of com­

mon law, ‘ that the greater the truth, 

the greater the libel’ a doctrine too 

monstrous to be longer tolerated 

even in England, but which might 

be forced down in this country by 

M r.  Chase and his brethren  of the 

party-colored robe.101

Chase’s behavior on the bench while on 

circuit court duties was under fire from the 

rising ranks of the Jeffersonian-Republicans. 

Eventually, Chase’s reported partisan actions 

from the Bench would lead to his impeach­

ment in 1804, of  which he was acquitted. The 

author of the May 7, 1800, letter that began 

this newspaper war of words with Chase 

was tentatively identified as Stevens Thom­

son Mason, a Senator from Virginia.102 The 

writer claims to have been in the courtroom 

watching Chase while he was attending to his 

circuit court duties and must have thought the 

full  Supreme Court was still wearing colorful 

robes in mid-1800.

A year and half later, on January 13, 

1802, the same Senator Mason used the 

phrase on the floor of the U.S. Senate during 

the debate over the repeal of  the Judiciary Act 

of 1801:

But if the gentleman from New

York wishes to be gratified - with 

a more modern idea of sovereign 

degradation, I would refer him to the 

memorable threat of an individual, 

a servant of the people to humble 

a whole State, a great State too, in 

dust and ashes. A State upon her 

knees before six venerable judges, 

decorated in  party-colored robes, 

as ours form erly  were, or  arrayed  

in m ore solem n black, such as
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ing, though a State, that it might 

have some chance for justice, ex­

hibits a spectacle of humble and 

degraded sovereignty far short of 

the dreadful denunciation to which I 

allude!103

If  Mason was indeed the author of the 

May 7, 1800, letter, and thus the author of 

the “ Card for Judge Chase” in June 1800, 

he must have learned by his January 1802 

speech that the Court no longer wore the 

colorful robes. This does not mean, however, 

that the change necessarily occurred between 

those two dates.

The sentence from Senator Mason’s 

speech, with its vague “ lately assumed”  time- 

frame, combined with the arrival of Chief 

Justice John Marshall the year before in 

February 1801, appears to be the basis for 

the claim that Marshall ordered, or led, the 

switch to the black robe. The influential 

biography of Marshall by Jean Edward Smith 

suggested the new Chief Justice made this 

change purposefully to show new leadership 

at the Court but offers only this one quote as 

the proof that “ verifies the change to the black 

robe under Marshall.” 104 In light of the redis­

covered Iredell robe, and without additional 

confirmation, Senator Mason’s remark alone 

can no longer sustain the attribution crediting 

Marshall as much as it fits the narrative of 

how he unified the Court.

The connection of Marshall to the black 

robe made by Smith and others may also have 

been influenced by the existence of an all- 

black robe worn by Marshall and preserved at 

the John Marshall House in Richmond, Vir ­

ginia. Prior to the rediscovery of the Iredell 

robe, it was the oldest all-black robe known 

to exist. Recently, the Marshall robe has 

gone through a much-needed conservation 

treatment and will  be on exhibit for a short 

time starting in April  2021.105 Unlike the Jay 

or Iredell robes, the Marshall robe does not 

have outer sleeves nor a stole and appears

more like the black robes worn today. The 

recent study was unable to determine if  this 

robe was made in 1801, but with a near thirty- 

five-year tenure it is likely  Marshall required 

more than one robe; therefore, the surviving 

one may be his second or third.106 Despite the 

existence of  this robe, there are no eyewitness 

accounts that Marshall wore a black robe 

when he joined the Court on February 2, 

1801, nor if  he did so at the inauguration 

of Thomas Jefferson on March 4, 1801. 

Despite the lack of documentation, Marshall 

presumably found a black robe to wear at 

the Court’s first sitting in Washington, DC, 

only a week after his Senate confirmation, but 

the black Iredell robe suggests he did so to 

conform to the all-black robes already in use 

by the Court.107

If  one entertains, however, the idea that 

the change to black robes did occur under 

Marshall when he arrived in February 1801, 

how does one explain why Iredell’s pre-1799 

robe is black? Several theories are possible, 

but all of them point to some explanation 

other than coming from John Marshall. One 

would be that the outer sleeves of the Iredell 

robe were always black, so despite the other 

evidence reviewed herein suggesting all of 

the justices wore similar colorful robes, it 

would mean the switch to black robes pre­

dated Marshall. Another is that the alteration 

of  Iredell’s robe happened within his lifetime, 

so also before Marshall joined the Court. 

A third possibility could be that the robe 

remained with the Court after Iredell’s death 

and was modified later for the use of another 

justice, but if  so, why was the robe retained 

by the Iredell Family as an heirloom?108 

One other possibility is that the alteration 

of the robe happened much later in its life, 

possibly to make it look like an all-black 

Supreme Court robe that had been adopted, 

but that also seems like an unlikely outcome 

for a cherished family heirloom. The most 

probable answer is that it happened during 

Iredell’s life, before John Marshall became 

chief justice.
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Eve n with the ne w p hy s ical e vide nce o f 

the Ire de ll ro be and the re vie w o f re liable 

do cu m e ntatio n abo u t the Co u r t’s early robes, 

there is still uncertainty about when the 

switch to black occurred. Was it in 1796 with 

the arrival of Chief Justice Ellsworth and 

Justice Samuel Chase, or in 1798 after the 

death of  James Wilson, or at some other point 

yet to be determined? Whenever it happened, 

one other aspect remains a mystery: why did 

only Senator Mason seem to notice? For over 

200 years, there have been articles, speeches, 

and books written about the Supreme Court, 

many of which touched on the Supreme 

Court’s attire but only one obscure quote has 

been located that actually notes this change. 

One would think someone else would have 

commented on the symbolism of the move 

away from the aristocratic “ party colored”  

robes to more simplistic “ republican”  ones, 

either in the press or in a letter somewhere. 

Perhaps this article will  lead to new findings 

to help clarify what actually happened.

Allowing for a bit of speculation, there 

is one moment in American history that may 

provide an explanation for the oversight of 

this admittedly minor, but hard-to-miss event: 

the death of George Washington. Perhaps the 

story went something like this: Following 

Wilson’s death in 1798, the justices began 

contemplating a change to an all-black robe. 

Only two of the original justices who had 

agreed to wear the colorful robes were still 

on the Court, William Cushing and James 

Iredell, and perhaps the newer, younger mem­

bers wanted to switch. In addition, the Court 

was coming under increased fire from the 

Jeffersonian-Republican press as being too 

pro-Federalist, so at some point during 1799, 

the Court decided to make the switch to 

the black robes. Some opted for new robes 

and others, like Iredell, had their old robes 

altered. Such a move at this time would agree 

with all of the physical and documentary 

points noted in this article previously.

The Court’s next scheduled sitting was 

in February 1800, but before the justices 

could appear in their all-black attire the news 

of former President George Washington’s 

death would have swept the nation. As the 

news spread, the entire country went into 

mourning, with the House of Representatives 

voting to have all members wear black and 

the Senate opting for a black armband for 

the remainder of their sessions. Both opted 

to drape their chambers with black mourning 

cloth. When the Supreme Court arrived for 

its Term in early February, the entire city 

of Philadelphia was preparing for a National 

Day of Mourning on February 22, 1800; 

Washington’s birthday.109 In this scenario, 

when the justices took the Bench in their 

now all-black robes, there was little  comment 

because it appeared as another gesture of 

mourning to the former president. To be 

clear, this fictional account is not suggesting 

the justices changed their robes to black in 

order to mourn Washington, but the complete 

lack of commentary on the Court’s switch to 

black robes “ could” have been lost amidst 

the nation’s mourning of Washington. Such 

a story would also bring Senator Mason’s 

remark of the Court’s switch to black “ lately 

assumed”  in line as well.

Of course, locating another robe from 

the early 1790s set— regardless of its 

condition—or a robe associated with Chief 

Justice Ellsworth or Justices Chase, Wash­

ington, or Alfred Moore might help settle 

the matter...and there is hope that at least 

one other robe survived and may still exist 

somewhere. Within the historic collections 

held by the Supreme Court’s Curator is a 

handwritten note retained by the Marshal 

of the Court that appears to date to the 

late nineteenth century. It starts with Senator 

Mason’s 1802 quote written out, but after the 

quote another hand added,

In addition to the above I will  say 

that about two years ago my family 

were in the house of descendants
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o f Mr. Ju s tice Patte rs o n [s ic] o f the

U.S. Supreme Court, and saw there a 

portrait of the Judge in a black robe 

or gown with a broad red stripe on it 

- this portrait was said to represent 

him in his official vestment as a 

justice of the U.S. Supreme Court.

WAM

(G own m entioned above was at 

that tim e in possession of M rs.  

Patterson of Cooperstown, NY) 110

The portrait mentioned is likely  a version 

of the Sharpies portrait of Justice Paterson 

discussed earlier, of which several may ex­

ist. The parenthetical postscript implies that 

Paterson’s judicial gown—possibly retaining 

its colorful aspects as seen in the portrait—  

had survived into the late 1800s. No direct 

descendants of Justice Paterson are known to 

have lived in Cooperstown, and efforts to find

it and other early robes have, to date, been 

unsuccessful.

After a sifting through two centuries of 

stories about the Court’s robes, the docu­

mented facts suggest that the first justices 

did choose to create a unique design for the 

robes of the new Supreme Court. Wearing 

a matching set of robes would signify a 

unified Court and bring a solemnity to its 

proceedings, while importantly maintaining a 

symbolic connection to the long traditions of 

the law and the role of the federal Supreme 

Court in the new nation. These robes became 

a target for some to criticize the Court for 

such aristocratic regalia, but for the early 

justices the robes likely symbolized their 

continued belief in building a new nation 

through what became known as the Rule of 

Law, something all of them had been a part 

of for much of their lives.

The intentional decision of the first 

Supreme Court justices to don judicial robes 

was perhaps surprising during a time of cast­

ing off  the traditions of the Old World while 

forming the new nation. Retaining judicial 

robes was one way to signify a continuation 

of the legal system people knew, even if  

it was now in the form of federal courts 

whose role was still to be fully  determined. 

James Fennimore Cooper, in his Notions of 

the Am ericans, had his fictional “ Traveling 

Bachelor”  describe the 1828 Supreme Court 

in one of his letters, “ No civil officer of 

the government has a costume except for 

the judges of the supreme court. The latter 

wear, in court, plain black silk gowns. They 

commenced with wigs and scarlet robes, 

but soon discarded them as inconvenient.” 111 

While this account is not entirely accurate, 

it may be correct in that the eventual switch 

to the all-black robe was due to being “ in­

convenient” and not made with an overt 

symbolic or political purpose as has often 

been suggested. Continued research may one 

day find more answers to the remaining 

questions, but the decision to switch to black 

robes impacted the symbolic visualization
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o f judges in the United States, and around 

the world.WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
E d ito r’s N ote '. The author continues to 

conduct research on robes and other attire 

worn by the justices and will  continue this 

story in a future article. He hopes that anyone 

with any clues about what happened to one of 

the other early robes will  contact the Supreme 

Court Historical Society or the Curator’s 

Office at the Supreme Court.
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lacking, but the formalization of academic regalia in the 

United States did not happen until the late nineteenth 

century.

40 See G ilbert  Stuart (New York; Metropolitan Mu­

seum, 2004). The exhibition opened at the Metropolitan 
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the author.
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time as her husband or if  she made the sketches later is 

unknown.
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97 Author’s conjecture on robe alterations. Some terms 

used may not be the correct technical terms for describ­
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portation for a direct side-by-side comparison of the 
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this way in his memoir; see Tyler, M em oir  of Roger B. 

Taney, LLD ,  1872, 64.

101 Emphasis added. “ A Card to Judge Chase,” T he 

T im es, and D istr ic t o f C o lum b ia D a ily A dvertiser , 

Alexandria, VA, June 25, 1800.

102 Docum entary H istory, Volum e 3, 324-431.
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the Judiciary in 1802 (First Session of the Seventh 
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may be referring to the case of C h isho lm v. G eorg ia 

(1793), in which the Court found a person could sue a 

state in federal court even if  not living in the state, a 

decision made moot by the Eleventh Amendment, passed 

in 1795.

104 Smith, John M arshall, 612, footnote 34. Smith also 
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Court of Appeals of Virginia, but it is not believed that 

state court was wearing robes c. 1801 and apparently 

did not adopt them until 1920, see “ Robes for Judges,”  

Virginia Law Register 6, no. 6 (October 1920): 479.

105 According to Preservation Virginia staff, Howard 

Sutcliffe of River Region Costume and Textile Conser­

vation completed conservation of John Marshall’s robe 

in late 2020. Closed group tours will  be able to view the 
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106 Author’s discussions with Preservation Virginia staff 

Jennifer Hurst-Wender and Lea Lane, Fall 2020.

107 Marshall’s confirmation was on January 27, his 

commission issued on January 31, and he sat with the 

Court on February 4.

108 According to records, the donation of the Iredell robe 
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James Iredell V, of Norfolk, Virginia, who was only five 
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109 For more on the observances for Washington’s death, 

see Kahler, The Long Farewell: Am ericans M ourn  the 

Death of G eorge W ashington, University of Virginia 

Press, 2008.

110 Emphasis added. Robes Research files, Office of the 

Curator, Collection of the Supreme Court of the United 

States. Efforts to track down Mrs. Patterson’s descen­
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M atthew  H ofstedt is the Associate Curator of the Supreme Court of the United States.
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On De ce m be r 6, 1887, President Grover 

Cleveland sent a stack of  papers to the United 

States Senate. The pile contained a host 

of nominations, as Congress had resumed 

its session the day before and the twenty- 

second president had several posts within 

his Cabinet to fill.  These included Secretary 

of the Interior, Postmaster General, Secre­

tary of the Treasury, two assistant cabinet 

secretaries, and— though it lay outside of 

his cabinet, perhaps most important—an as­

sociate justiceship of the Supreme Court.1 

About to enter the final year of his first 

term as president, Cleveland was not inex­

perienced in sending nominations over for 

the Senate’s “ advice and consent.”  However, 

the first Democrat elected president since 

the Civil War, Cleveland entered into his 

toughest confirmation battle by including a 

note reading “ I nominate Lucius Q.C. Lamar 

of Mississippi, to be Associate Justice of 

the Supreme Court of the United States, in 

place of William  B. Woods, deceased.” 2 The

president had chosen Lamar, his sixty-two- 

year-old Secretary of  the Interior, to sit on the 

Supreme Court.

More than a prominent member of 

Cleveland’s cabinet, Lamar was a South­

erner and a former secessionist, who had 

personally drafted the Mississippi Ordinance 

of Secession in 1861. Seemingly departing 

from his rebel background, Lamar had since 

eulogized arch-Radical Charles Sumner in 

1874 and emerged as a proponent of national 

reunion, serving in the House of Repre­

sentatives and Senate. President Cleveland 

appointed Lamar to serve as Secretary of 

the Interior in 1884, and when a Supreme 

Court vacancy occurred in 1887, Cleveland 

nominated Lamar to fill  it. It had been three 

and a half decades since the last Southerner, 

John A. Campbell, had been nominated to 

the Court. Following debate in the national 

press and the Senate, Lamar was confirmed 

by a two-vote margin, making him only the 

fifth  justice until that time to be confirmed byWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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a m argin o f le s s than five vo te s .3 Thus, ap­

pearing a “ reconstructed”  rebel who served in 

the nation’s highest court, Lamar developed a 

reputation as a conciliatory figure and symbol 

of national reunion.4

Indeed, Lamar epitomized national re­

union to some contemporaries, with mod­

erate Republicans at the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew Y ork T im es 

responding to his nomination by calling him 

“ a man of vigorous mind and studious habits 

and of unquestionable integrity.” 5 Yet the 

debate over his nomination reveals much that 

clouds his reputation as an amiable figure. In 

his service with the Confederacy and post­

war political career, he confronted Black 

suffrage in a manner that was anything but 

conciliatory to Black Americans. He further 

antagonized Black suffrage when, as a Sen­

ator, he took a stance on the legality and va­

lidity  of  the Reconstruction Amendments and 

the federal government’s power to enforce 

voting rights under the Amendments. These 

actions proved central points of contention 

during the debate over his nomination, and 

press reactions revealed the shifting tide of 

support for the Reconstruction Amendments 

and Black suffrage. In short, his nomination 

reveals that, rather than a lauded leader in 

the advance toward national reunion, Lamar 

should be regarded as central in the retreat 

from Reconstruction.

S e c e s s io n is t  R o o t s

Lamar’s antebellum career saw him 

emerge as a secessionist. Born in Georgia 

and named after his father, Lucius Quintus 

Cincinnatus Lamar II  came into the world on 

September 17, 1825. He studied at Emory 

College in Atlanta, and while he did not 

receive an extensive legal education, he fol­

lowed his father-in-law to the University 

of Mississippi to teach law. He took up 

politics and developed a friendship with 

Jefferson Davis, and both won election to 

Congress in 1856 as Democrats. With the 

1860 election of Abraham Lincoln causing

several slaveholding states to fear for the 

fate of their peculiar institution, secessionist 

fervor grew in Mississippi, and both Lamar 

and Davis resigned their congressional seats, 

Lamar doing so to participate in the 1861 

Mississippi secession convention. There, at 

age 35, he personally drafted the Mississippi 

Ordinance of Secession and the resolution 

supporting South Carolina’s secession from 

the Union.6 The Mississippi Secession Ordi­

nance’s inclusion of a charge that all oaths 

taken in support of the United States Consti­

tution be “ abrogated and annulled”  displayed 

Lamar’s place as one of the state’s foremost 

secessionists.7 With Mississippi taking part 

in the rebellion, Lamar next enrolled in the 

Confederate Army and joined Davis—now 

President of  the Confederacy— in Richmond.

During the Civil War, Lamar served 

in several Confederate leadership positions. 

As a soldier, he fought at the 1862 Battle 

of Williamsburg, and Davis subsequently 

appointed him to the post of commissioner 

to Russia to earn foreign recognition of the 

Confederacy. However, he never made it to 

Russia and failed to convince audiences in 

London and Paris to recognize the South’s 

independence. After his return, he spent the 

remaining years of the War working with the 

Confederate War Department and speaking 

on behalf of Davis.8

Appomattox and the 1865 defeat of 

the Confederacy put a temporary pause on 

Lamar’s public career. With rebels initially  

barred from reentering the federal govern­

ment, Lamar returned to private law practice 

and regained his position at the University of 

Mississippi. Over the next five years, three 

constitutional amendments— the Thirteenth, 

Fourteenth, and Fifteenth, also known as the 

Reconstruction Amendments—would be rat­

ified, ending the institution of chattel slavery, 

providing for birthright citizenship, and out­

lawing overt racial discrimination in voting 

rights.9 These amendments stood poised to 

create a dramatic shift in the social order 

of the South, as did the Republican-imposed
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fe de ral o ccu p atio n o f the fo rm e r s tate s o f 

the Co nfe de racy .10 Like m any So u the rne rs , 

Lam ar wo u ld no t s tand fo r this , bu t he 

hid be hind a “ re co ns tru cte d” image while 

defying the federal government’s attempts to 

secure freedpeople’s rights at several turns.

Such an episode of defiance occurred 

in 1871, one year after the ratification of 

the Fifteenth Amendment. As part of his 

legal practice, Lamar—still not “ thoroughly 

reconstructed”  and feeling that “ there was a 

determination to disgrace every white man 

in the eyes of the negroes” —defended sev­

eral Klansmen in a federal court hearing 

in Mississippi.11 During this hearing, later 

discussed by the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew Y ork T im es, Lamar 

apparently feared physical attack, rose, and 

brandished a chair. When ordered to stand 

down by the judge, a federal marshal rushed 

toward Lamar and “ lay his hands on him,”  

after which Lamar struck him “ severely.” 12 

According to later descriptions from the 

N ew Y ork T ribune, Lamar broke “ a small 

bone at the cap of the [Marshall’s] eye,”  

much to the excitement of the Klansmen.13 

This episode not only displayed defiance to 

the federal government and its attempts to 

secure the rights of Blacks but it perhaps 

also spurred condemnation from the Supreme 

Court itself. The Court perhaps so acted in 

U .S . v. C ru ikshank (1876), which arose from 

the 1873 Colfax Massacre and confronted 

issues of the federal government’s power 

to enforce Blacks’ Fourteenth Amendment 

rights.14 In the federal circuit opinion for 

the decision— the core of which the Supreme 

Court later redeployed in its review of the 

case—Justice Joseph P. Bradley wrote that 

“ an assault upon the marshal of the United 

States, and hindering him in the execution of 

legal process, is a high offense against the 

United States, for which the perpetrator is 

liable to punishment.” 15 In this declaration, 

Bradley directly quoted M oore v. I l l ino is  

(1852), an antebellum ruling decided nine­

teen years prior to Lamar’s assault upon the 

marshal.16 Although Bradley did not craft

the language condemning an assault upon 

a federal marshal specifically to denounce 

Lamar, it does not seem too far a stretch to 

speculate that the justices, themselves federal 

judges, knew of Lamar’s actions. Perhaps 

Bradley had simply found the perfect prece­

dent to criticize the “ unreconstructed”  former 

rebel for his continued resistance to federal 

enforcement efforts.

After Mississippi’s readmission to the 

Union in 1870, Lamar demonstrated a will ­

ingness to end sectionalism and supported 

national reconciliation. This could be seen 

especially in his famous eulogy of Radical 

Republican Charles Sumner in 1874 on the 

floor of the House of Representatives, to 

which Lamar won election in 1872.17 In this 

noted speech, described in John F. Kennedy’s 

Profiles in Courage as “ a turning point in 

relations between the North and South,”  

Lamar called on his colleagues to mend 

sectional tensions. This speech has emerged 

as perhaps the most prominent moment of 

his career, as Lamar himself—a former se­

cessionist eulogizing the nineteenth century’s 

most staunch white advocate of abolition, 

Black suffrage, and land appropriation—  

epitomized such a unifying message.18 He 

reinforced such guises of a “ reconstructed”  

proponent of national reunion in an article 

published in the N orth A m erican R eview , 

There, he argued in favor of voting rights 

for freedpeople, recognizing that “ There are 

many honest, intelligent, and independent 

men among the Negroes in every Southern 

State.” 19 These actions lent Lamar credibility 

as a conciliatory figure, which boosted him 

to election to the Senate in 1876.20

While Lamar projected this “ recon­

structed”  guise in Washington D.C., those in 

Mississippi knew him for what he was: a 

leader of the “ Redemption”  of Mississippi to 

white rule. This “ Redemption”  saw paramil­

itary groups of white supremacists engage 

in a campaign of violence and intimidation 

to prevent Black citizens from exercising 

their voting rights gained under the Four-
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te e nth and Fifte e nth Am e ndm e nts . The s e 

white s u p re m acis ts u nde r to o k the s e e ffo r ts 

with the go al o f “ re de e m ing” Mississippi 

or restoring it to white Democratic rule.21 

As described by historian Nicholas Lemann, 

Congressman Lamar, rather than directly 

carry out violence against Black citizens, 

headed the political wing of the Democratic 

Party in Mississippi, where he made no effort 

to hide his support for “ Redemption” in 

his personal correspondence.22 In an 1873 

letter to his legal partner Edward Clark, he 

lamented living in a state where “ strangers”  

held political rights. “ I say strangers,”  Lamar 

clarified, because “ Northern men and enfran­

chised Negroes were new to the political in­

terests and institutions of the state.” 23 Lamar 

abhorred Black voters, called Republican

rule “ irresponsible,” and asked, “ Where is 

the constituency to which these men will  

be responsible?” He answered, “ Negroes!”  

He seemed livid that any elected officials 

bore responsibility to Black Americans, as he 

went on to claim that Black voters could not 

measure up to the moral code of an “ enlight­

ened”  constituency. This constituency, Lamar 

clarified, meant white people.24

With such racial prejudices, it comes 

as no surprise that Lamar opposed federal 

investigations into the atrocities of “ Re­

demption.”  Scores of Black Americans were 

killed in the 1874 Vicksburg Riots, after 

which President Ulysses S. Grant deployed 

federal troops to end the violence. Ever 

the opponent of the federal government and 

its attempts to enforce Black rights, Lamar 

had hoped the federal investigation into the 

riots would vindicate Democrats and display 

that the true issue rested on the continued 

presence of federal troops in the South. 

Further, he hoped that the investigation would 

hold Black citizens, rather than white people, 

responsible for the violence. He displayed 

such hopes in a letter to his partner Clark, 

where Lamar downplayed white violence by 

arguing that “ the number of negroes killed 

and wounded by negroes far exceeds that of 

negroes killed and wounded by white men.” 25 

Further, Lamar labeled federal occupation of 

the South a “ terrible ordeal of plunder and 

oppression” for white Southerners.26 This 

dodging of white violence against Black 

voters displayed a stark antagonism of Black 

citizens. Such posed a challenge to the rights 

gained by freedpeople under the Reconstruc­

tion Amendments.

The “ Redemption” of Mississippi 

achieved its goal. Democrats retook the Mis­

sissippi state government in the 1876 Elec­

tions, and the new Democratic state legisla­

ture elected Lamar to the United States Sen­

ate. Lamar not only failed to condemn white 

violence, but he also denied its existence 

and benefited from it. Thus, while Lamar 

appeared a celebrated proponent of burying
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the post-war hatchet in the House and Senate, 

he used this guise to conceal the killing  of 

Black Americans in Mississippi. Traces of 

this anti-Reconstruction Lamar appeared in 

his Senate service as well, as even his most 

recent biographer admits that Lamar opposed 

any measure to support federal enforcement 

of  Black rights.27 Such actions paint a picture 

of a bitter secessionist who sought to revive 

the antebellum social order, where Black 

Americans enjoyed none of the rights con­

ferred by the Reconstruction Amendments.

T h e  E d m u n d s  R e s o lu t io n

As Lamar entered his third year in the 

Senate in 1879, he faced a crucial juncture in 

the post-war enforcement of Black suffrage. 

By that time, Lamar and his Southern Demo­

cratic collogues appeared to have defeated 

federal enforcement efforts. State govern­

ments throughout the South had returned 

to white Democratic rule, while Northern 

Republicans had bargained away the presence 

of federal troops in that region in exchange 

for Rutherford B. Hayes taking the pres­

idency. Lamar himself had supported this 

“ Compromise of 1877.” 28 With occupying 

troops returned to their barracks, the 1878 

midterm elections saw much violence and 

voter suppression, resulting in Republicans 

losing their Senate majority.29 Republicans 

did not, however, bow to these victories 

for Lamar and his southern allies. Surely 

understanding that come March 1879 their 

38-36 majority would be replaced by a nine- 

vote deficit and likely anticipating Demo­

cratic attempts to “ nullify the legislation 

based on the last amendments to the Con­

stitution,”  Republicans proposed a resolution 

to affirm the federal government’s role in 

protecting Black rights under the Reconstruc­

tion Amendments.30 This resolution afforded 

Lamar an opportunity to declare his position 

on these issues publicly.

Chairman of the Senate Judiciary Com­

mittee George Edmunds of Vermont took the

floor to propose this resolution on January 

7, 1879, as the Senate reconvened after the 

holiday recess. Entering his thirteenth year 

in the Senate, Edmunds had taken an active 

role in Andrew Johnson’s impeachment and 

played a key role in establishing the Electoral 

Commission of 1877, on which he served.31 

He began, “ Mr. President...I think [it]  is the 

best time possible to offer [the] resolutions 

that I hold in my hand.”  He next expressed 

high hopes for acceptance, saying “ if  they be 

unanimously adopted,”  his resolution might 

“ cement more perfectly the good-will and 

concord and unity of sentiment that are 

supposed to exist all over the country.” 32 He 

then announced the text of his resolution: WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
“ R eso lved as the judgem en t o f the Sena te , 

That the thirteenth, fourteenth, and fifteenth 

amendments to the Constitution of  the United 

States have been legally ratified and are as 

valid and of the same paramount authority 

as any other part of the Constitution” ; that 

each state bore common interest in enforcing 

the Constitution, the Reconstruction Amend­

ments, and the rights secured by such; and 

that the executive branch was obligated to 

carry out the laws with “ impartial execution.”  

Further, with the violence of “ Redemption”  

and the subsequent 1878 elections surely on 

his mind, Edmunds included in his resolution 

a charge of Congressional duty “ to provide 

by law for the full and impartial protection 

of all citizens of the United States, legally 

qualified, in the right to vote for Repre­

sentatives in Congress.” 33 Thus, Edmunds 

offered an affirmation of three issues: that 

the Reconstruction Amendments were indeed 

legally ratified, that they remained valid, and 

that they empowered Congress to protect 

voting rights.

Viewed in any context, the Edmunds 

Resolution did not attempt to expand the 

reach of the Reconstruction Amendments. 

Edmunds did not seek to affirm the ability 

of the federal government to punish private 

wrongs or directly prosecute state-level rights 

violations under the Fourteenth Amendment,
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as this p o we r re m aine d large ly u nclar ifie d 

u nde r the am bigu o u s and inde cis ive ru lings 

in the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASlaugh terhouse C ases (1873), U .S . 

v. C ru ikshank (1876), and U .S . v. R eese 

(1876).34 Rather, he proposed a firmer back­

ing to the legislation passed under the Recon­

struction Amendments. With a thin Republi­

can majority and only two months remaining 

before Democrats took over, such a seem­

ingly minimalist resolution stood fair chance 

of passing. However, these issues did bear 

a history of contention in the Reconstruc­

tion era. While the Thirteenth Amendment 

and emancipation were broadly accepted as 

valid, some viewed the Fourteenth and Fif­

teenth Amendments as nothing more than by­

products of vindictive Radical Republicans’ 

forcing the Amendments onto the South 

through military Reconstruction. However, 

this opposition primarily came from southern 

whites, such as Confederate leaders Jefferson 

Davis and Alexander Stephens.35 Though 

at one time these secessionists represented 

the breadth of the argument, by the time 

of the proposal of the Edmunds Resolu­

tion, the Democratic Party had “ proclaimed 

as part of its political faith that the Con­

stitutional amendments and reconstruction 

acts were unconstitutional, revolutionary, and 

void.” 36 Further, the federal government’s 

power to enforce voting rights under the 

Reconstruction Amendments was disputed 

during this era, although the Supreme Court 

held in C ru ikshank and R eese that the Fif­

teenth Amendment afforded Congress ple­

nary power to enforce voting rights.37 De­

spite such precedent, Senate Democrats—  

including L.Q.C. Lamar—would oppose the 

Edmunds Resolution.

Following a caucus, Senate Democrats 

announced a substitute resolution for the Ed­

munds one on January 20. Proposed by John 

Morgan of Alabama, the Democratic substi­

tute denied the federal government’s power to 

enforce the Fifteenth Amendment and punish 

any voting rights violations, holding instead 

that only individual states could prevent such

crimes. Like the Edmunds Resolution, the 

substitute upheld the Reconstruction Amend­

ments as binding, but it did not concede that 

they had been properly ratified.38 These duel­

ing resolutions sparked two weeks of Senate 

debate, with Edmunds opposing Morgan’s 

resolution and refuting Democratic claims. 

Edmunds specifically referenced Supreme 

Court opinions to make his case, relying 

on C ru ikshank and R eese to affirm Con­

gressional power to enforce the Fifteenth 

Amendment.39 Morgan himself made sev­

eral speeches in defense of the Democratic 

substitute, while Democratic senators such 

as Thomas Bayard of Delaware and William  

Whythe of Maryland decried the Edmunds 

Resolution as an unnecessary centralization 

of power, a revival of sectionalism, and an 

invalid declaration of Congressional ability 

to protect voting rights.40

The high volume of Republican press 

coverage surrounding the dueling resolu­

tions squarely supported Edmunds. The N ew 

Y ork T im es published several articles criti­

cizing Democratic senators who supported 

Morgan’s resolution, calling the substitute 

“ dangerous”  and labeling reasons to oppose 

the Edmunds Resolution “ pure twaddle.” 41 

This coverage joined with numerous articles 

from other Republican newspapers such as 

the N ew Y ork T ribune and C h icago T ribune, 

while press support for the Senate Democrats 

was found in Democratic newspapers such 

as the M em ph is D a ily A ppea l. Black news­

papers also contributed their views, with the 

New Orleans W eekly L ou is ianan noting that 

the resolutions “ have excited considerable 

comment in the newspapers as well as lively  

and interesting discussions on the floor of 

the Senate.” The paper also recognized im­

plications for federal enforcement, opposing 

Morgan’s resolution as a “ re-assertion of 

State rights in the old Calhoun style.” 42 Thus, 

the resolutions emerged as a widely covered 

and hotly debated topic nationwide.

The peak of the Senate debate occurred 

on February 5, when Edmunds clashed with
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his De m o cratic adve rs ar ie s fo r o ve r te n 

ho u rs . Lam ar did s p e ak du r ing the de bate , 

atte m p ting to inte r ru p t Edm u nds while the 

latte r de r ide d Se nate De m o crats fo r o p p o s ing 

e nfo rce m e nt e ffo r ts . Yet Lamar could only 

utter “ Mr. President” before Edmunds cut 

him off  and refused to cede the floor.43

When Morgan’s Resolution came to a 

vote, the Senate rejected it by a margin of 

thirteen. The votes in favor of the Demo­

cratic substitute mainly came from Southern 

Democrats, including L.Q.C. Lamar.44 At  

around 11 P.M., the Edmunds Resolution 

finally came to a vote. It passed by a slim 

margin, with twenty-three senators in favor, 

sixteen against, and thirty-seven “ absent.”  

Twenty-eight abstentions came from “ pairs,”  

or agreements to abstain in conjunction with 

a member of the opposition, so to preserve 

the margin of the vote. Fourteen members 

from each of the two parties were “ paired,”  

while nine senators truly abstained (that is, 

without pairing; thus, the vote might also be

read as thirty-seven in favor, thirty against, 

and nine abstained, as those “ paired”  might 

otherwise have voted with their party, al­

though this cannot be known for sure).45

One of the “ Nay” votes came from 

L.Q.C. Lamar, who joined fifteen Democratic 

senators in denying the legitimacy of the 

Reconstruction Amendments. While three 

of the opposing Democrats came from 

northern states, showing Northern wariness 

toward rights enforcement, the remaining 

thirteen negative votes came from Southern 

Democrats, with senators from Deep South 

states such as Georgia, Mississippi, and 

Alabama opposing the Resolution. Only 

Republicans voted in favor of the Edmunds 

Resolution, including the sole Black member 

of the Senate, Republican Blanche Bruce of 

Mississippi.46

Lamar sent a clear message with his 

votes on the Edmunds Resolution and its 

Democratic substitute. Given the reign of vi­

olence and voter suppression throughout the
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Party Yea Nay
Paired

Affirm ative
Paired

Negative AbstainsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

De m o crat - 16 - 14 6
Republican 22 - 14 - 2
Independent 1 - - - 1
Total 23 16 14 14 9

. — -----------------------------------
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South, it would take a true enemy of federal 

enforcement of Black rights to go beyond ab­

staining and vote “ no”  on an 1879 resolution 

supporting the Reconstruction Amendments. 

Lamar demonstrated that he was such an 

enemy, standing against the power of the 

federal government to enforce suffrage by 

voting for the Morgan Resolution and against 

the Edmunds Resolution, and discrediting the 

Amendments as illegally ratified with the 

same votes. He did so a mere five years 

after his eulogy of Sumner, providing a stark 

example of the anti-Reconstruction Lamar, 

who now joined his resistance to federal en­

forcement with a vote denying the legitimacy 

of the Reconstruction Amendments.

Only Lamar’s stance on the single is­

sue of the validity of the Reconstruction 

Amendments remains hard to discern. He 

first seemed to admit their binding nature 

by voting for Morgan’s resolution, which 

stipulated them as valid, without addressing 

them as legally ratified, but he then seemed 

to recant this by voting against the Edmunds 

Resolution. He shared such votes with his 

southern white allies, however, who also 

denied the legality of the Thirteenth, Four­

teenth, and Fifteenth Amendments while ap­

pearing mixed on the Amendments’ binding 

nature.47 While this vote remained obscure 

in the annals of Senate history, it would 

reemerge in the debate over Lamar’s nomina­

tion to the Supreme Court.48

S u p r e m e  C o u r t  N o m in a t io n

Lamar’s nomination to the Supreme 

Court came in late 1887, eight years after the 

Edmunds Resolution, and proved a widely 

covered and debated topic in the national 

press. This debate had constitutional impli­

cations, as many opposed Lamar for his vote 

discrediting the Reconstruction Amendments 

and voter suppression during “ Redemption.”  

These positions epitomized the nomination’s 

place as the culmination of Lamar’s career 

of opposition to the Reconstruction Amend­

ments.

The country had changed a great 

deal between the Edmunds Resolution and 

the Lamar nomination. The Republican- 

dominated Supreme Court’s ruling in the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
C iv il R igh ts C ases (1883) had denied 

Congress’s authority under the Fourteenth 

Amendment to punish private acts of dis­

crimination, yet the Court had affirmed 

one of the core points of the Edmunds 

Resolution— federal authority to directly en­

force suffrage—a mere one year later with E x 

parte Y arb rough (1884) 49 Continued attacks 

on voting rights left no Black congressmen 

in the House of Representatives for the first 

time since 1869, while no Black Americans 

had served in the Senate since Blanche 

Bruce’s departure in 1881.50 The country 

seemed to move away from sectionalism
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with the 1884 election of Grover Cleveland 

to the presidency, making Cleveland the 

first Democrat elected to that office since 

James Buchanan in 1856. Through all this 

shifting, however, Lamar remained a consis­

tent opponent to Black Americans and the 

Reconstruction Amendments. Cleveland had 

nominated Lamar to the position of Secretary 

of the Interior in 1884, and in need of an 

Assistant Secretary, Lamar encouraged his 

partner Clark to join him in Washington in 

this role. To make the decision easier for 

the Vicksburg-based Clark, Lamar added that 

“ Vicksburg is cut off and the negroes are 

threatening Miss, with an inundation more 

terrible than floods.” 51 Such language, com­

paring an influx  of Black citizens to a natural 

disaster, placed Lamar’s white supremacy on 

full  display.

The death of Republican-nominated Jus­

tice William  Burnham Woods gave a Demo­

cratic president the opportunity to nominate 

a Supreme Court justice for the first time 

since James Buchanan nominated Nathan 

Clifford in 1857. Historian Charles Calhoun 

argues that Cleveland chose Lamar because 

of Lamar’s southern origins, hoping to invig­

orate the former’s southern base.52 Having 

squeaked into the White House with margin 

of victory that amounted to less than forty 

electoral votes, and with neither Cleveland 

nor Republican James G. Blaine having 

commanded a majority of popular votes in 

1884, Cleveland certainly needed to affirm  

the states he carried come 1888, especially 

in the South.53 Thus, with a Southerner 

within Cleveland’s own cabinet regarded as 

a leader of national reconciliation, Lamar 

likely seemed a natural pick. Although no 

evidence exists to show that Cleveland ac­

tively supported Lamar’s constitutional views 

or white supremacy, secessionists still held 

great popularity throughout the South, and 

the belief that the Reconstruction Amend­

ments were invalid remained pervasive in that 

region after the war. Cleveland surely rea­

soned that placing a former Confederate on

an otherwise entirely Republican-nominated 

Supreme Court could help him secure re- 

election. Cleveland went forward with this 

nomination, submitting it to the Republican- 

majority Senate on December 6, 1887.

Lamar’s resistance to the Reconstruc­

tion Amendments entered the nomination 

debate on December 15, 1887, when after 

a week of coverage dealing mostly with 

issues of sectionalism, the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew Y ork T ri ­

bune revealed Lamar’s vote on the Edmunds 

Resolution, publishing an article with the 

ominous subhead: “ [Lamar] holds the Con­

stitutional Amendments invalid. His votes 

on Mr. Edmund’s Resolutions in the Senate 

in 1879 recalled.”  The T ribune summarized 

the Edmunds Resolution and levied fierce 

attacks against Lamar, claiming that his vote 

revealed his opinion that “ the last three 

amendments to the Constitution are not valid 

and binding in the sense that the remainder of 

that instrument is.”  The T ribune considered 

the consequences of such views, querying, 

“ If  the amendments are not valid in the 

opinion of Mr. Lamar, what of laws enacted 

under them?” 54 This alluded to the distinct 

possibility that Lamar, if  confirmed, would 

likely have to rule on such legislation. Thus, 

the T ribune criticized Lamar for adopting “ as 

part of his political faith”  the denial of the 

legality and validity of the Reconstruction 

Amendments, displaying the centrality of  this 

issue in the nomination.55

The T ribune also discussed Lamar’s 

voter suppression, writing that the nominee 

“ owes all the prominence he has had for ten 

years to this crime, to which he is a knowing 

accessory.”  Expanding upon this accusation, 

the paper discussed the “ Redemption” of 

Mississippi and the rewards the nominee 

reaped from it, recognizing that “ Mr. Lamar 

was made United States Senator by the 

midnight whipping of  negroes, and assassina­

tions both of whites and blacks, by astound­

ing frauds upon the ballot box.”  “ Men were 

lashed and butchered, and ballot-boxes were 

stuffed to make Mississippi a Democratic
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State ,”  the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT ribune wrote, and “ No one dares 

say that Mr. Lamar did not know of these 

outrages.”  After all, given Lamar’s status as 

Mississippi’s most prominent politician, “ are 

we to believe that the leader of the Demo­

cratic party in that state...was the only intel­

ligent citizen in the United States who did not 

understand the situation?” Summing up its 

arguments, the newspaper “ urged Republican 

Senators to maintain Republican principles 

by voting against a man who represents the 

wickedest crimes ever known in American 

politics.” 56 That the T ribune—previously the 

voice of the pro-reunion Liberal Republican 

movement—attacked Lamar so vigorously 

indicates how egregious it considered the 

nomination.

As throughout Reconstruction, Black 

Americans deployed the practices of Black 

constitutionalism to oppose Lamar’s confir­

mation actively, as seen in the Chattanooga- 

based Black newspaper Justice .5 '1 It pub­

lished a letter from editor Edwin F. Horn on 

December 24 that made clear that Lamar’s 

nomination was “ one of great importance to 

colored people”  and addressed many reasons 

to oppose it.58 These included Lamar’s re­

gard for Jefferson Davis and his efforts “ by 

force of arms to destroy the government and 

the constitution.”  However, Horn seemingly 

pardoned the nominee for such offenses, 

stating his intention to “ forget” and “ pass 

over”  them. This proved a tactic to magnify 

the issue of Lamar’s vote on the Edmunds 

Resolution, for in addressing this offense, 

Horn forgave Lamar no further. He drew the 

line by writing “ a man who voted ‘no’ to the 

validity of the [Reconstruction] amendments 

is not the man to sit on the bench of the 

Supreme Court.”  In this vein, Horn addressed 

the implications of Lamar’s “ nay” vote for 

Black people, recognizing that “ the rights of 

7,000,000 people are peculiarly bound up in 

the three amendments.” Horn captured the 

essence of Blacks’ argument against Lamar 

by asking, “ If  you were a colored man, would 

you not doubt Mr. Lamar’s friendliness?” 59

Given that the nominee cast a vote opposing 

the legality and enforcement power of the 

amendments that ended slavery and estab­

lished their citizenship, Black Americans 

doubted the nominee’s ability to uphold their 

rights.

Indeed, Lamar’s stance on the Recon­

struction Amendments emerged as a central 

issue for Black Americans, which they com­

bined with the nominee’s secessionist roots 

to oppose confirmation. “ The Senate should 

never confirm Secretary Lamar as a mem­

ber of the Supreme Court,” the C leve land 

G azette declared on January 7, as he was an 

“ an unrepentant secessionist.”  The paper em­

phasized constitutional issues by harkening 

to Lamar’s vote on the Edmunds Resolution, 

which for the G azette amounted to a decla­

ration that the Reconstruction Amendments 

“ were not a part of the Constitution of the 

United States.” As with the T ribune and 

Justice , the G azette addressed the practical 

implications of this constitutional stance, 

asking, “ Is he a safe man to decide in regard 

to the principles underlying those amend­

ments?”  With such implications in mind, the 

G azette brilliantly  captured the frustrations of 

the Black community by asking, “ Is the war 

to be fought over again, and shall everything 

already accomplished go for naught? Shall 

the rebels come to the front and take the 

government again?” Though the resolution 

of the Civil War saw Black Americans gain 

rights and keep secessionists out of govern­

ment, an individual who represented all they 

opposed stood poised to gain a seat on the 

nation’s highest court, a position he could use 

to rule against them. Black Americans had 

themselves fought for their abolition and suf­

frage, recognized by the G azette in writing, 

“ Is it that we wish blood of the hundreds and 

thousands who fell in the war to destroy the 

Southern Confederacy, to rise up against us 

to condemn us?” 60 Black Americans wanted 

to ensure those who fell had not done so in 

vain. Keeping Lamar off  the Supreme Court, 

they believed, accomplished this purpose.
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President Grover Cleveland (center) appointed Lamar (far right) as his Secretary of the Interior in 1885 to gain 

Southern support for his Democratic administration. Cleveland would nominate him to the Supreme Court two years 

later. 

For Democrats, resistance to Lamar con­

stituted a prime example of "waving the 

bloody shirt," or rehashing the memory of 

the Civil War to keep issues of racism and 

sectionalism alive. The Democratic Memphis 
Appeal joined this camp, specifically target­

ing the Tribune and writing on December 

17 that the New York newspaper "is wasting 

a great deal of time" attempting to oppose 

Lamar.61 They criticized the continued refer­

ences to the War while praising Senators who 

"do not believe in the bloody shirt as a fitting 

political issue in these days." According to 

the Appeal, attacks on Lamar proved unfair, 

especially given the Democratic claim that 

the South "is as loyal and as true to the 

Union as any other section of the country."62 

The Appeal further discounted criticism of 

the nominee, labeling it nothing more than 

an opportunity to create a partisan fight.63 

This encapsulated the Democratic counter­

attack against Radicals. Democrats saw the 

opposition as an unnecessary partisan effort 

to punish the South further for their rebellion, 

which they saw as behind them. That the 

nominee had voted against the validity of 

the Reconstruction Amendments made no 

difference to them. 

Strikingly, many moderate Republicans 

joined Democrats in their support of the 

nominee, showing a Republican retreat from 

the Reconstruction Amendments. The New

York Times displayed such by shifting from 

its 1879 position on the Edmunds Resolution. 

At that time, the Times bad called opposition 

to the Resolution "pure twaddle" and the 

Democratic substitute "dangerous."64 Yet on 

December 23, 1887, the paper wrote that 

Lamar's Senate service "made him familiar 

with constitutional questions and the legis­

lation with which the Supreme Court has 

to deal."65 Such praise seems rather ironic,

as Lamar's Senate tenure did grant him 

exposure to a constitutional question: the 
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validity and le gality o f the Re co ns tru ctio n 

Am e ndm e nts and the fe de ral go ve rnm e nt’s 

power to enforce voting rights. Though then- 

Senator Lamar had voted for the Demo­

cratic substitute and against the Edmunds 

Resolution, the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT im es in 1888 displayed no 

qualms with praising Lamar’s time in the 

Senate. This displayed an indifference to the 

Amendments and a stark moderate Republi­

can reversal, further evidenced by a glowing 

endorsement issued in the same T im es article, 

which praised Lamar as “ an able, studious, 

and scholarly man, of sufficient dignity, fair- 

minded and upright beyond question.” The 

paper also joined the Democratic A ppea l in 

discounting opposition to the nomination as 

“ based solely on the fact that Mr. Lamar 

is an ex-Confederate.” 66 If anything, this 

minimization of Lamar’s Confederate ser­

vice and Senate tenure revealed that many 

moderate Republicans joined the Democrats 

in criticizing Radicals for “ waving the 

bloody shirt,”  without actually saying those 

words.

The T im es went on to confront the Ed­

munds Resolution itself, which further dis­

played its move away from the Reconstruc­

tion Amendments. “ One of the grave causes 

of opposition to Mr. Lamar,”  the T im es wrote 

on January 4, “ is his vote against declar­

ing the thirteenth, fourteenth, and fifteenth 

amendments to the Constitution valid.”  The 

paper proceeded to downplay this issue, call­

ing Lamar “ a fully ‘ reconstructed’ citizen”  

before voting on the Edmunds Resolution, 

and refuting that any senator “ has any honest 

doubt about either his honesty or his loyalty.”  

This attempt to justify an individual who
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had vo te d agains t the Edm u nds Re s o lu tio n—  

a position it in 1879 called “ dangerous” —  

further displayed moderate reversal on the 

issue, as did the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT im es’ accusing Repub­

licans of holding a double standard with 

regard to the validity of the Reconstruction 

Amendments. This led the paper to raise the 

issue of the Democratic substitute to the Ed­

munds Resolution. Given that the substitute 

also held the Reconstruction Amendments 

as valid yet Edmunds and other Republicans 

voted against it, the T im es pondered why 

Radicals would deride Lamar for voting 

the same way on the same issue.67 When 

confined to the version of events presented 

by the T im es, this seems explicit evidence 

of a double standard. However, the T im es 

did not remotely tell the full story. While 

the Edmunds Resolution and the Democratic 

substitute indeed shared a common thread 

of holding the Reconstruction Amendments 

as valid, the substitute held them as not 

empowering the federal government to en­

force voting rights and remained silent on the 

issue of the Amendments’ legality.68 Thus, 

the Republicans voting against the substitute 

supported the legitimacy of  the Amendments, 

while Lamar’s vote against the Edmunds 

Resolutions displayed opposition to these 

stances. This distorting the past in order 

to minimize Lamar’s vote on the Edmunds 

Resolution further displays moderate indif­

ference to the Reconstruction Amendments.

Of course, not all moderate Republi­

cans consented to and supported Lamar. 

Indeed, the Ind ianapo lis Jou rna l, native to 

Indiana—a state that notably voted for Cleve­

land in 1884—published at least thirty arti­

cles opposing the Lamar nomination. Like 

the T ribune, this opposition included many 

anti-Lamar editorials, with one even call­

ing Lamar “ extremely absent minded.” 69 

Further, the Jou rna l engaged with issues 

of constitutional interpretation, with several 

pieces discussing the Edmunds Resolution.70 

Such coverage displays that not all mod­

erate Republicans were primed to retreat

from Reconstruction, further evidenced by 

the Jou rna l noting the anti-Lamar stance of 

the Indiana-based Shelbyv ille R epub lican .7 I 

Unlike the T ribune, however, the Jou rna l kept 

coverage of the Lamar nomination mostly in 

the paper’s later pages while reserving the 

front page for issues such as economics and 

the tariff  question, demonstrating that issues 

of racism no longer remained central for 

many Republicans. Additionally, the Jou rna l 

referenced other moderate publications that 

supported the Lamar nomination, including 

H arper’s W eekly , which declared that “ nei­

ther the [Republican] party nor the Senate 

can properly object to [Lamar’s] proposed 

elevation to the bench.” 72 Thus, though some 

moderate Republicans remained committed 

to the Reconstruction Amendments and ac­

cordingly opposed Lamar, these dissenters 

likely  constituted a vocal minority.

The dueling of newspapers such as the 

T ribune and A ppea l turned the confirma­

tion battle into a symbolic referendum, as 

the issue of whether a longtime opponent 

of the Reconstruction Amendments would 

join the nation’s highest court teased at 

much larger issues. Perhaps the largest of 

these was whether the public accepted the 

work of the Supreme Court in interpreting 

the Reconstruction Amendments, and sup­

ported enforcement of Black suffrage under 

the Amendments. These interpretations had 

grown stricter as Reconstruction passed, and 

if  the Republicans truly cared to see this 

trend reversed, one would expect them un­

flinchingly to deny a seat to an individual 

who voted against the legality, validity, and 

federal enforcement power of the Amend­

ments. They did not, and the largely favorable 

response to Lamar from the national press 

indicates a hastening retreat from the Recon­

struction Amendments.

Of course, the issue of Lamar’s confir­

mation still remained, and as January 1888 

came, the nomination hung in limbo. The 

Republican-majority Senate Judiciary Com­

mittee, still chaired by George Edmunds, 

reinforced this limbo with a majority report
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advis ing agains t co nfirm atio n o n Janu ary 9.73 

The WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT im es gave little thought to the report, 

labeling it “ the petty policy of the Republi­

cans”  while calling a pro-Lamar letter written 

by conservative Republican Senator William  

M. Stewart of Nevada “ a hard blow” to 

continued opposition.74 Though Stewart had 

supported the Fifteenth Amendment in 1870, 

his letter downplayed Lamar’s vote on the 

Edmunds Resolution, which made Stewart’s 

support of the nominee further evidence of 

the moderate Republican shift away from 

the Reconstruction Amendments.75 After all, 

Stewart, once an advocate for the Recon­

struction Amendments, now minimized the 

vote that saw Lamar deny the legitimacy of 

his efforts.

With Stewart’s defection, Senate 

Democrats had thirty-eight votes in 

favor of confirmation, while Republicans 

counted thirty-seven against. Therefore, 

any Republican hope of deadlocking 

confirmation depended on convincing the 

lone independent—Readjuster Harrison Rid- 

dleberger of Virginia, himself a Confederate 

veteran— to vote against confirmation.

Following a dramatic statement from 

Riddleberger on January 12, confirmation 

finally occurred on January 16, 1888.76 Ac­

cording to the T im es, several senators spoke 

in favor of  Lamar during a three-hour session, 

including Riddleberger and Democrats James 

Z. George of Mississippi, Richard Coke of 

Texas, and Henry B. Payne of Ohio.77 Ac­

cording to the T ribune, Republicans speaking 

against Lamar included George F. Hoar of 

Massachusetts and William  M. Evarts of  New 

York. Hoar spoke on voter suppression, em­

phasizing Lamar’s silencing of Black voters 

during “ Redemption,” while Evarts mainly 

discussed Lamar’s vote on the Edmunds Res­

olution, asking his colleagues how “ a man 

declaring certain amendments not to have 

been ratified legally could logistically give 

them his support.” Edmunds, being Chair 

of the Senate Judiciary Committee, spoke

for over thirty minutes against Lamar and 

attacked the nominee’s lack of “ industry, 

application, and perseverance.” 78 The oppo­

sition largely used episodes from Lamar’s se­

cessionist roots and his vote on the Edmunds 

Resolution against him, further evidencing 

the nomination’s place as the culmination of 

his career of  opposition to the Reconstruction 

Amendments. However, this did not prevent 

confirmation.

In the final vote, thirty-two “ yeas”  

trumped twenty-eight “ nays.” Twenty-nine 

Democrats voted for confirmation and eight 

abstained in pairs with Republicans, while 

none voted against confirmation or abstained 

without pairing. Most of these Democrats 

largely represented Deep South states such 

as Georgia, South Carolina, Mississippi, and 

Alabama, with each senator from these states 

voting in favor of Lamar. Only Republi­

cans opposed Lamar, with twenty-eight vot­

ing against confirmation, including President 

Pro-Tempore John Ingalls, Senator Hoar, and 

Edmunds. Unlike the Republicans at the 

N ew Y ork T im es, these Republicans demon­

strated a commitment to the Reconstruction 

Amendments. However, this did not prevent 

confirmation, as two Republicans joined Rid­

dleberger in voting in favor of Lamar. As 

expected, Stewart voted to confirm Lamar, 

while an unexpected defection came from 

Leland Stanford of California. He, Stewart, 

and Riddleberger added three affirmative 

votes to the twenty-nine Democrats support­

ing Lamar, giving the nomination thirty-two 

“ Yeas,”  enough for the Senate to confirm the 

nominee.79

Press responses mostly accorded with 

pre-confirmation stances. Democrats cele­

brated confirmation, holding Lamar’s eleva­

tion to the Supreme Court as a “ triumph 

of reason over rancor.” The A ppea l lauded 

Lamar himself, celebrating his ascension to 

“ the bench made illustrious by Marshall, 

Taney, and Campbell.” 80 Aside from re­

ferring to Roger B. Taney—author of the 

infamous opinion in D red Sco tt v. San fo rd 

(1857)— the A ppea l here also referred to
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T a b l e  2: Senate Vote on the Confirm ation  of L .Q .C . Lam ar  to the Suprem e Court

Party Yea Nay
Paired

Affirm ative
Paired

NegativesrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

De m o crats 29 8
Republicans 2 28 - 8
Independent 1 - - -
Total 32 28 8 8

John Archibald Campbell, the last Southerner 

to have served on the Supreme Court, a 

member of the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Sco tt majority who 

had resigned from the Court to fight for 

the Confederacy and later returned to ar­

gue against federal enforcement power un­

der the Reconstruction Amendments.81 This 

epitomized what Democrats expected from 

Lamar as a justice. Meanwhile, both ends 

of the Republican Party— the more Radical 

and the moderate— responded with minimal 

commentary. In a page four editorial, the 

T ribune derided Lamar’s confirmation as a 

“ mistake” that Riddleberger, Stewart, and 

Stanford would “ live to see.” In speaking 

of these defecting Republicans, the T ribune 

stated that they “ have virtually allowed the 

Democrats to dictate the Republican party.” 82 

Such a statement captures the Republican 

shift that Lamar’s nomination symbolized. 

The T im es surprisingly also wrote relatively 

little, including only some details of the 

Senate debate and not the final vote. The only 

substantial difference between the two news­

papers appeared in the emphasis the T im es 

placed on speeches supporting confirmation, 

on which the T ribune did not report.83 How­

ever, based on the T im es ’ stances during the 

debate, its ultimate satisfaction with confir­

mation should not be doubted.

Lamar’s judicial career can best be de­

scribed as unremarkable. He served on the 

Court for five years and rarely deviated 

from its holdings, issuing a mere thirteen 

dissents. His opinions did not carry as much 

controversy as those written by justices such 

as Joseph P. Bradley or Samuel F. Miller,

evidenced by Lamar’s ninety-six opinions 

only generating four dissents.84 Only once 

did Lamar address issues of race while on 

the Court and then only tangentially. This 

occurred in L ogan v. U n ited Sta tes (1892), 

which saw the Court affirm the right of an 

American citizen held in federal custody to 

“ be protected by the United States against 

unlawful violence,” a right that the major­

ity found stemmed from a federal statute 

that forbade conspiracy against civil  rights.85 

Lamar dissented alone, writing a single 

sentence that cited lack of jurisdiction of 

federal courts over attacks against federal 

prisoners.86 Given that Lamar wrote so little  

in this case, his exact motivations for dis­

senting remain unclear. Whether this dissent 

symbolized Lamar’s laying the groundwork 

for removing federal purview over civil  rights 

remains purely speculative. However, the 

Court essentially did that just four years after 

L ogan , ruling in P lessy v. F erguson (1896) 

that state statutes providing for “ separate but 

equal” accommodations for Black citizens 

did not violate the Equal Protection Clause 

of the Fourteenth Amendment.87 Though 

Lamar, who died on January 23, 1893, at age 

67, did not live to see that case, his dissent in 

L ogan and his pre-judicial record support a 

case that he would have joined his colleagues 

in placing segregation and disfranchisement 

beyond the purview of federal courts.

History has remembered L.Q.C. Lamar 

as a man who helped rebuild the United 

States after the Civil  War, calling for reunion 

while eulogizing Charles Sumner and 

seeing his confirmation onto a Republican-
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do m inate d Su p re m e Co u r t by a Republican- 

majority Senate. He has been remembered 

as a personification of a reunited nation, 

as he appeared a “ reconstructed” former 

rebel who threw his loyalty to the United 

States. However, whether through his actions 

or the approval of those actions by other 

parties, Lamar truly represents a double­

dealing enemy to Black Americans and 

their rights during the Reconstruction 

era. As a secessionist and opponent of 

Reconstruction, he showed blatant disregard 

for the Reconstruction Amendments by 

suppressing the Black vote in Mississippi. 

Such incidents led to the proposal of  the 1879 

Edmunds Resolution, which saw Lamar deny 

the legality and validity of  the Reconstruction 

Amendments, as well as the authority of 

the federal government to enforce Black 

suffrage. This vote, along with Lamar’s prior 

offenses against Black Americans, was the 

central point of opposition when Grover 

Cleveland nominated him to the Supreme 

Court. Much Republican press still supported 

this nomination, however, displaying a 

growing indifference to the Reconstruction 

Amendments and Black rights. In sum, 

rather than the “ pragmatic patriot” that his 

biographers point to, Lamar was central in 

the retreat from Reconstruction.WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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As the Su p re m e Co u r t e nte re d the twe n­

tieth century, it had not established a consis­

tent institutional practice or even guidelines 

for its members to decide when to recuse 

themselves from a case when there may be 

a conflict of interest with one of the parties 

involved. In the nineteenth century, it had 

been left up to the individual justice to choose 

whether to opt out when a relative, friend, or 

business ally brought a case before the high 

bench, and justices nearly always chose to opt 

in. When William R. Day took his seat on 

the Court in 1903, his benchmates still lacked 

a uniform protocol for disqualifying them­

selves when a family member was involved 

in a case. Justice Day thus had to chart his 

own path when his four sons—William  Louis 

Day (1876-1936), Luther Day (1879-1965), 

Stephen Albion Day (1882-1950), and Rufus 

Spalding Day (1884-1963)—developed ro­

bust appellate practices and presented cases 

to the Supreme Court by written brief and 

oral argument. As a devoted father who 

wanted his sons to enjoy successful legal 

careers but who also sought to protect the

integrity of the institution he served for 19 

Terms, Justice Day often faced the difficult  

decision of whether to disqualify himself in a 

case. A  close examination of the legal prac­

tices of the four Day sons is thus warranted 

to shed light on their father’s sense of  judicial 

propriety and on the evolving conventions of 

kinship recusal practice at the Supreme Court 

during his tenure.

H is t o r y  o f  K in s h ip  R e c u s a l P r a c t ic e  a t  t h e  

S u p r e m e  C o u r t

Congress passed its first recusal statute 

in 1792, but it only applied to lower federal 

courts.1 The statute was amended many times 

over the next century and a judge’s relative 

appearing as a party became grounds for a 

judge to disqualify himself,2 but it would not 

be until 1948 that federal disqualification law 

was amended to include the Supreme Court.3 

Of course, the justices were familiar with 

both the compulsory terms and the practices 

of lower court judges, many previously hav­

ing served on appellate courts.WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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To u nde rs tand the co nve ntio ns re garding 

kins hip re cu s al at the Su p re m e Co u r t whe n 

Day ar r ive d at the Co u r t, a co m p re he ns ive 

acco u nting o f fam ily m e m be rs who p ractice d 

be fo re the justices during its first century 

would be useful. Unfortunately, no such 

work exists. Based on anecdotal evidence, 

however, a few generalities emerge. In the 

nineteenth century, the elite legal world was 

tight-knit and it was not unusual for relatives 

of  the justices—brothers, uncles, brothers-in- 

law, nephews— to appear before the Supreme 

Court. The only example found of a WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAson 

is Charles L. Woodbury, who argued an 

admiralty jurisdiction case before his father 

in 1847: Justice Levi Woodbury ruled against 

him on circuit in Boston.4

The standards for judicial behavior re­

garding conflict of interest in that era were, 

by today’s standards, lax and the presence 

of a relative rarely triggered a recusal. For 

example, although Chief Justice Roger B. 

Taney’s brother-in-law, Baltimore attorney 

Francis Scott Key, appeared frequently be­

fore the Court, Taney almost never recused 

himself.5 Likewise, when George Ticknor 

Curtis, a Boston attorney, argued for Dred 

Scott’s freedom before the high court in 

1857, his brother, Justice Benjamin Curtis, 

did not disqualify himself and cast one of 

two dissenting votes in favor of George’s 

client.6 The justices raised no questions about 

Justice Curtis’s possible bias and praised his 

brother’s performance.7

The most notable examples of non­

recusal in the nineteenth-century occurred 

when Justice Stephen J. Field participated 

in several cases that his brother, preeminent 

oral advocate David Dudley Field, argued in 

the wake of the Civil War. David appeared 

before the Supreme Court bench in several 

constitutionally significant cases about the 

imposition of national power over the de­

feated Confederacy.8 Not only did Justice 

Field consistently choose to sit, he even wrote 

the five-to-four decision in C um m ings v. M is­

sou r i ruling in favor of his brother’s client, a

priest who refused to take a loyalty oath to the 

Union.9 While “ Field had ample precedent 

for retaining his seat while his brother argued 

a case,” 10 his choice to participate in these 

cases looked very different 60 years later 

when judicial practices and recusal norms 

had changed. When the Supreme Court made 

its first pronouncement on the connection 

between kinship and recusal in T um ey v. O hio 

(1927), which held that it was appropriate to 

permit state courts and legislatures to develop 

rules regarding recusal and disqualification, 

Chief Justice William H. Taft intentionally 

omitted examples of previous justices not 

recusing themselves in his majority opinion 

so as not to impugn their reputations.11 Taft 

was particularly discomfited by the example 

of Justice Field, whose non-recusal vis-a-vis 

his brother now seemed improper.12

T h e  C o n f l ic t in g  E x a m p le s  o f  J u s t ic e s  

P e c k h a m  a n d  H a r la n

When Day took his seat about midway 

between C um m ings v. M issou r i (1867) and 

T um ey v. O hio (1927), the practice of kinship 

recusals had evolved at the Supreme Court. 

There was still no institutional norm, but 

individual justices had begun to opt out 

when a family member successfully brought 

a case to the Court. Notably, Justice Rufus 

W. Peckham, who served from 1896 to 1909, 

recused himself in five cases argued by his 

older brother, New York attorney Wheeler 

H. Peckham.13 That Justice Peckham had 

previously served as a lower court judge on 

the New York Court of Appeals may have 

influenced his thinking on recusal practices. 

(Lacking a recorded explanation by Justice 

Peckham as to why he opted out in these 

cases, we can only assume his recusal was 

based on the brotherly kinship connection 

and not some other explanation.) Rufus 

Peckham did, however, participate in two 

other cases brought by Wheeler Peckham, 

and it would be interesting to know why 

they passed muster. Justice Peckham joined
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the majority opinion in a 1902 New York 

inheritance tax law case, which his brother 

co-argued on behalf of a Spanish national 

against the I.R.S.14 The other decision in 

which he participated was an original juris­

diction case between South Dakota, the com­

plainant, who was represented by Wheeler, 

and North Carolina.15 Peckham joined Jus­

tice David Brewer’s majority opinion, which 

ruled against his brother’s client, South 

Dakota, which may be why he did not feel 

the need to disqualify himself. The vote was 

five to four, so Peckham may also have opted 

to participate because his recusal would have 

caused a stalemate. All  the cases Wheeler 

Peckham argued took place prior to Justice 

Day’s arrival on the Court (Wheeler died 

in 1905), so Day would not have benefited 

from observing his colleague Rufus Peckham 

wrestle with decisions about kinship recusal.

Justice Day did witness the decisions 

made by another bench-mate, Justice John 

Marshall Harlan, whose service was 1877— 

1911. Harlan took an old-fashioned tack, 

perhaps because, unlike Peckham, he had 

not sat on a lower court subject to recusal 

guidelines. Harlan consistently approached 

the kinship recusal question in the same 

way as had Field, with whom he served on 

the Court from 1877 to 1897. Justice Day 

may have been more influenced by Harlan 

than by the more modern Peckham, however, 

for two reasons. First, he enjoyed a strong 

friendship with Harlan, who lived around 

the corner from him. Indeed, Day considered 

Harlan “ a friend without limits,”  calling their 

relationship “ close and cordial” when the 

Kentucky justice died in 1911.'6 Second, 

Harlan’s example may have seemed more 

pertinent because Day and Harlan both had WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
sons practicing before them, a closer kinship 

bond than that of a brother. Indeed, Day 

would arrange for three of  his sons to be hired 

as Supreme Court clerks, just as Harlan had 

done for two of his sons.17

Justice Harlan’s second son, John May­

nard Harlan, clerked for his father in the

1878 Term; his younger brother James S. 

Harlan apprenticed at Melville W. Fuller’s 

law firm  in Chicago before becoming Fuller’s 

first Supreme Court clerk in 1888 when 

he was appointed chief justice. The Harlan 

brothers went on to develop successful law 

practices in Chicago with James admitted to 

the Supreme Court bar in 1889 and John 

Maynard admitted in 1891.18 They regularly 

appealed cases to the Supreme Court, sepa­

rately or together, arguing nine before their 

father and writing briefs in three others.19 

Justice Harlan never recused himself in the 

cases his sons briefed or argued. In one 

case, he even dissented when the Court ruled 

against the plaintiff whom James and John 

Maynard were representing and for whom 

the older son argued the case in an appeal 

from the State Supreme Court of Illinois.20 

Harlan’s biographer concludes that the justice 

“ appears to have been careless about the ju­

diciary’s reputation for fairness. He regularly 

sat and voted in cases argued before the Court 

by close associates, specifically his intimate 

friend and former partner Gus Willson, and 

by close relatives, such as his nephew Harlan 

Cleveland and even his sons.” 21

Indeed, Justice Harlan’s reluctance to 

recuse himself went hand-in-hand with his 

unabashed nepotism. He tirelessly used his 

political influence to try to secure James 

a federal judgeship, although he was un­

successful. Harlan did manage to get him 

appointed attorney general of Puerto Rico, 

where he served ably from 1901 to 1903, 

an experience James leveraged once he re­

turned to Chicago and began representing 

clients on appeals from the district court in 

Puerto Rico to the Supreme Court.22 But 

Justice Harlan kept pushing for a judgeship 

and President Theodore Roosevelt finally  

appointed James to the Interstate Commerce 

Commission in 1906, where he served with 

distinction until his retirement in 1918. In 

considering appointing James, however, Roo­

sevelt had voiced reservations about the 

propriety of cases coming from that body
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be fo re his fathe r’s tribunal. To clinch his son’s 

appointment, Harlan had threatened Presi­

dent Roosevelt with stepping down from the 

Court and had defiantly argued that there 

was no potential conflict of interest. He 

reasoned that each justice “ in deference to 

his conscience will  do his duty fearlessly, 

without fear or favor, and regardless of the 

personnel of  the tribunal whose official action 

comes under his examination.” 23 In other 

words, Harlan was not concerned about the 

poor optics of  nepotism or conflict of interest 

because he had a profound faith in judges’ 

integrity.

Justice Day was also no stranger to the 

practice of nepotism, hiring three of his 

sons—Luther, Stephen, and Rufus— to clerk 

for him during fourteen out of his nineteen 

years of service on the Court. He also man­

aged to persuade Chief Justice Melville W. 

Fuller to take Stephen on as a clerk for a

term. However, in 1905 Justice Day nonethe­

less made queries and voiced qualms about 

violating nepotism rules before engaging 

Stephen to succeed Luther as his clerk. He 

wrote to both his bench-mate David J. Brewer 

and Attorney General William  Moody asking 

for clarification on nepotism rules.24 More­

over, when Day’s four sons, including his 

eldest, William, represented parties before 

the Court, he showed more concern for the 

reputation of the Court than had Harlan, 

and he recused himself in most instances. 

With an eye to propriety, Justice Day often 

chose to disqualify himself when one of his 

sons argued a case or was on a brief, but 

not in every instance. This tendency toward 

recusal was perhaps due to the fact that, 

like Peckham, Day had been a lower court 

judge—serving on the Court of Appeals for 

the Sixth Circuit from 1899 to 1903—and 

had been subject to disqualification rules
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the re . Unfortunately, Day never expressed 

his thoughts in writing on the capacity for 

a justice to maintain impartiality when a 

relative was acting as counsel. Accordingly, 

to try to determine Day’s views on kinship 

bias and recusal, we are left to scrutinize his 

actions every time his sons presented cases to 

the Supreme Court.

S t e p h e n  A .  D a y :  F i r s t  S o n  t o  P e t i t i o n  t h e  

S u p r e m e  C o u r t ,  1 9 1 0

After Stephen A. Day completed his 

clerkships with Justice Day (1905 Term) and 

Chief Justice Fuller (1906 Term), he moved 

to Chicago and developed a legal practice at 

the corporate law firm  of Pam &  Hurd.25 He 

was admitted to the Supreme Court bar on 

November 16, 1911,26 but had been on the 

brief in a case that was heard by the justices 

the previous term, making him the first Day 

son to petition the Supreme Court. Stephen 

and Max Pam, the founder of his firm, repre­

sented a Chicago postmaster who was being 

compelled to redeliver mail to a corporation 

whose address had been incomplete.27 Justice 

Day did not recuse himself in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC en tra l T rust 

C o. v. C en tra l T rust C o. o f I l l ino is (nor did 

Fuller, Stephen’s former employer) and voted 

to affirm the ruling of the Seventh Circuit 

refusing to interfere with post office busi­

ness. In the 1912 Term, Stephen represented 

police officers against the City of Chicago 

in two companion cases asking whether the 

Supreme Court had jurisdiction to review 

judgments of the Illinois Supreme Court on 

writs of error.28 Both were dismissed in a 

memorandum opinion as there was no federal 

question involved: Justice Day again did not 

recuse.29 After those three cases, Stephen 

never practiced again before the Supreme 

Court, but he did revise a legal textbook in 

1917, Federal Appellate Jurisd iction  and 

Procedure, which included instruction on 

practicing before the high bench.30

In 1914, Stephen entered into a law 

partnership with Peter S. Grosscup, a former

I n  1 9 1 1  S t e p h e n  A . D a y  w a s  t h e  f i r s t  o f  J u s t i c e  D a y ’ s  

s o n s  t o  b r in g  a  c a s e  t o  t h e  S u p r e m e  C o u r t .  H e  w a s  o n  

t h e  b r ie f  i n  a  c a s e  f r o m  t h e  S e v e n t h  C i r c u i t  i n  w h ic h  

h is  C h ic a g o  f i r m ,  P a m  &  H u r d ,  r e p r e s e n t e d  a  l o c a l  

p o s t m a s t e r .

appeals court judge for the Seventh Circuit 

who had stepped down from the bench amid 

controversy three years earlier.31 Grosscup 

had been appointed to be a circuit court 

judge in 1899 by his friend William  McKin ­

ley, who was also a close friend of Jus­

tice Day. Stephen’s younger brother, Rufus, 

served as their Chicago firm ’s “ Washington 

Representative,” 32 although when Grosscup 

brought a case to the Supreme Court in 1918 

neither of the Day brothers’ names were at­

tached to it.33 Justice Day did not recuse him­

self; in that era a son’s law partner being on a 

brief was not considered a reason for recusal.

W i l l i a m  L . D a y ’ s  S u p r e m e  C o u r t  A p p e l la t e  

P r a c t i c e

Unlike his three younger brothers, 

William L. Day did not clerk for his father 

and had gone straight from Michigan Law 

School in 1900 to practicing law in Canton, 

Ohio. He was admitted to the Supreme Court 

bar on December 21, 1908,34 but his nascent
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ap p e llate p ractice was inte r ru p te d whe n Pre s­

ident Roosevelt appointed him district attor­

ney for the Northern District of Ohio. Three 

years later, President Taft appointed him 

district court judge for the Northern District 

of Ohio at the impressively young age of 

thirty-five. In May 1914, his $6,000 judicial 

salary no longer adequate to support his 

wife, Estelle, and their two children, William  

joined the Cleveland firm  of Squire, Sanders 

&  Dempsey.35 His seat on the district court 

was filled  by John H. Clarke, whom Woodrow 

Wilson would appoint to the Supreme Court 

in July 1916. When William did business 

before the Supreme Court, he thus had ties to 

both Ohio justices, although Clarke had been 

a politically active Democrat and William, 

like his father, was prominent in Repub­

lican circles, so their link may have been 

weak.

William  made his first oral argument in 

December 1916, at age forty, four years after 

Stephen’s last appearance before the Supreme 

Court. Known as “ Big Will ”  in college, when 

William  stood before the high bench, Oliver 

Wendell Holmes Jr. reportedly marveled at 

the discrepancy between the athletic son who 

was over six feet,36 and his slight father, 

who was about five feet six inches and 

weighed 125 pounds. Holmes passed a note 

down to his bench-mate: “ My the boy’s a 

block WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAo ff the o ld chip, isn’ t he Day?” 37 

William ’s client was a Chicago meat-packer 

against a railway that had rented the company 

warehouse space next to its track.38 At issue 

in the case was whether the meat-packers’ 

private cars should be subject to public tariffs 

as they were on railway property. As with 

Stephen, Justice Day did not recuse himself 

and William argued before him. The Court 

split six to three, with Day signing on to 

Justice Louis D. Brandeis’ majority opinion 

upholding the Ohio State Supreme Court’s 

judgment, which had ruled against William ’s 

client.39

By the time William  co-argued his sec­

ond case, in March 1918, Justice Day had re­

cused himself in cases argued by his younger 

brothers Luther and Rufus. Accordingly, Jus­

tice Day took “ no part in the consideration or 

decision of the case,”  T o ledo N ew spaper C o. 

v. U n ited Sta tes.4^ William ’s appeal from the 

Sixth Circuit challenged a contempt citation 

that Judge John M. Killits  had issued to the 

editor of the T o ledo N ew s-B ee for publishing 

articles and cartoons critical of court rulings 

during a six-month dispute, in which the 

judge was involved, between the city and a 

railroad company. William  had served on the 

District Court for the Northern District of 

Ohio with Judge Killits, his client. So had 

Justice Clarke, who recused along with Day, 

his fellow Ohioan. The Court’s decision to 

affirm the Sixth Circuit’s holding was five to 

two in favor of  William ’s client, with Justices 

Holmes and Brandeis dissenting.41

In 1919, William  and his new law partner 

Wilbur Wilkin  were appointed special assis­

tants to the Ohio attorney general to inves­

tigate crime in Cleveland. Conducting thou­

sands of interviews with people involved in 

gambling, vice, and other criminal activities, 

the firm  of Day &  Wilkin  was instrumental in 

uncovering bail-bond scandals and securing 

an indictment for the murder of a Cleveland 

police patrolman. They were too busy to 

take cases on appeal, but in the 1920 Term, 

William found time to submit two separate 

petitions to the Supreme Court from Ohio. 

Justice Day recused in both cases and the 

Court found in favor of his son’s clients. 

In the first case, which William co-argued, 

he represented the Rock Island Railway in 

asking for a writ of prohibition or of man­

damus to prevent the District Court for the 

Northern District of Ohio from proceeding 

further against the railway on the ground that 

the court did not have jurisdiction.42 In the 

second, appealed from the Northern Ohio 

district court, he represented a sugar dealer 

charged with criminal proceedings under the 

Lever Act, which was enacted during World 

War I to prevent “ unjust or unreasonable rate 

or charge in handling or dealing in or with”
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any ne ce s s ar ie s , inclu ding fo o d.43 The case 

was decided under the authority of WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU n ited 

Sta tes v. L . C ohen G rocery C o.,  ̂which 

held the act unconstitutional as it set up 

“ no ascertainable standard of guilt.” 45 Day 

recused himself in the C ohen case as well.

F i r s t  R e c u s a l  b y  J u s t i c e  D a y  i n  a  S o n ’ s  

C a s e :  L u t h e r  D a y , 1 9 1 7

Second son, Luther, served as his father’s 

first clerk in the 1903-4 Supreme Court 

Terms, having clerked for Judge Day on the 

court of appeals. He returned to practice law 

in Canton, Ohio, where the Day boys had 

spent their childhoods. Luther left Canton 

for greener pastures in 1911 and established 

himself in Cleveland as a trial and appellate 

lawyer at the firm  of Goulder, Day, White &  

Garry. William  joined him in Cleveland in 

1914, working for the large and distinguished 

firm of Squire, Sanders &  Dempsey before 

the two Day brothers formed their own firm  in 

1919. Ohio clients hired them to take appeals 

to the Supreme Court, and they sometimes 

used Rufus to file the motions, as he was 

based in Washington and filled the logistical 

role of local counsel.46 That their father was 

sitting on the Supreme Court and they had in­

sider knowledge of how the justices operated 

likely factored into the decision of attorneys 

and litigants to hire them to bring matters 

before the Court, yet they were also able 

lawyers who were increasingly prominent in 

the Ohio bar and would likely have been 

engaged on their own merit.

At age 37, Luther joined the Supreme 

Court bar on October 16, 1916,47 to appeal 

a case from the Sixth Circuit on behalf of 

his client, the Zenith Steamship Company.48 

On January 11, 1917, Luther stood at the 

podium and in his “ clear and penetrating” 49 

voice argued that an injured deck hand’s 

accusation of negligence under the Ohio 

Employers’ Liability  Act was invalid because 

the steamship company he worked for was 

engaged in interstate commerce.50 He did

J u s t i c e  D a y  d id  n o t  r e c u s e  h im s e l f  w h e n  h is  e ld e s t  s o n ,  

W i l l i a m  L . D a y , a r g u e d  b e f o r e  t h e  S u p r e m e  C o u r t  i n  

D e c e m b e r  1 9 1 6 , t h e  f i r s t  t im e  o n e  o f  h is  f o u r  s o n s  

p a r t i c ip a t e d  i n  o r a l  a r g u m e n t .  W i l l i a m  ( p ic t u r e d  in  

1 9 2 1 ) w a s  w it h  t h e  f i r m  S q u i r e , S a n d e r s  &  D e m p s e y  

in  C le v e la n d  a n d  t h e  c a s e  w a s  a n  a p p e a l  f r o m  t h e  S ix t h  

C ir c u i t .

not face his father while declaiming in the 

Courtroom, however, because Justice Day 

was not sitting on the bench. In what appears 

to be the first time Day recused himself 

because a son participated in a case, the 

Court Reporter noted that “ Mr. Justice Day 

took no part in the consideration or decision 

of this case.”  In a per cu r iam decision, the 

Court ruled for Luther’s client and the case 

was remanded to the District Court for the 

Northern District of Ohio.51 Two terms later, 

Justice Day again recused, this time in a 

copyright infringement case from the Court 

of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit that Luther 

argued on behalf of a Columbus newspaper 

being sued by an illustrator. The Court, minus 

Day, ruled against Luther’s client, holding 

that penalties awarded by the newspaper “ in 

lieu of actual damages and profits” cannot 

be less than $250 for each case of copyright 

infringement.52
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Young Rufus’s appellate practice before 

his father’s Court was highly unusual and 

more problematic in that he also served as his 

father’s law clerk while representing clients. 

Following in his brothers’ footsteps, Rufus 

had first clerked for Justice Day in the 1907— 

10 Terms, and then returned to Canton to 

practice law. When his mother, Mary S. Day, 

died tragically in December 1911, Rufus 

returned to Washington to keep his father 

company. He brought his new bride, Madge, 

who served as social hostess when they 

moved into Justice Day’s Victorian home at 

1301 Clifton Street. Rufus was admitted to 

the D.C. bar in May 1912 and set to work 

building up a legal practice, joining a six- 

person firm.53 A  son, Rufus Jr., was born in 

1913 and a daughter, Madge, in 1916. Their 

father developed a practice before the D.C. 

courts and became a member of the Supreme 

Court bar on January 26, 1914.54 With his 

law partner Samuel Herrick and two other 

attorneys, Rufus filed his first motion before 

the Supreme Court on October 18, 1915, rep­

resenting an Indiana railroad employee seek­

ing to recover damages for personal injuries 

under the Employers’ Liability Act, which 

the railroad challenged on the ground that 

the employee was not engaged in interstate 

commerce when the accident occurred.55 The 

motion to affirm the judgment below was 

granted in a memorandum opinion by Justice 

James C. McReynolds by direction of the 

Court because the case was “ so frivolous 

as not to need further argument.”  The case 

had not been argued and Justice Day did not 

recuse himself.56

As Justice Day was suffering from a 

bout of pneumonia from January 3, 1916, 

through the end of the Term, he was absent 

from the bench when Rufus presented his 

next two cases to the Court and was thus 

not confronted with decisions about whether 

to partuicipate.57 In the first, Rufus and his

two co-counsel challenged the jurisdiction of 

the Supreme Court of the Philippines in de­

termining the provisions of a divorce decree 

affecting conjugal property.58 In the second, 

Rufus and his three co-counsel successfully 

represented the plaintiff, a Texas railroad 

brakeman who claimed personal injury. The 

Court held that a violation of the Safety 

Appliance Act gave an injured employee the 

right to be compensated under the Employ­

ers’ Liability  Act even if  he was not engaged 

in interstate commerce at the time of the 

injury.59 It is possible, of course, that Justice 

Day, while convalescing, was still reviewing 

materials at home and could have cast a 

vote to review the petitions or sent his vote 

on the argued cases to the Conference, but 

that scenario is unlikely, as suggested by 

Day’s letter written in May to his friend and 

colleague Mahlon Pitney: “ I keep tab on the 

court proceedings and read its decisions, for 

I am trying to keep up with the procession. 

You certainly are turning out the work and I 

am glad for all your sakes that the hard term 

is mostly gone.” 60

When his father returned to the bench 

for the 1916 Term after a restorative summer, 

Rufus filed three petitions for certiorari: two 

were “ dismissed by counsel”  and might never 

have been seen by Justice Day, and the 

third was denied.61 As the justices’ votes 

in Conference to grant cert were not made 

public and there are no docket books avail­

able for these terms, it remains unknown 

whether Justice Day recused himself from 

cert discussions in cases in which one of 

his sons was involved or if  he informed his 

brethren that a son represented a party in the 

case.62 The ratio of cert petitions filed by 

the Day brothers that were accepted to those 

denied does not generally seem to indicate 

any preferential treatment.

When Justice Day’s law clerk resigned 

abruptly in September 1917 and left him in 

the lurch, Rufus, still living  with his wife and 

children under his father’s roof, was asked to 

clerk again for his father.63 With the United
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State s no w at war with Ge rm any , Ju s tice Day 

wo r r ie d abo u t finding go o d candidate s fo r the 

job. At age thirty-three, Rufus dutifully vol­

unteered but apparently on condition that he 

not give up his lucrative legal practice. At  this 

point in his career, a Supreme Court clerkship 

as a launchpad no longer applied; he was 

being a loyal son. Yet Rufus may also have 

hoped the clerkship would be good for his 

business. While clerking for Justice Day, he 

continued unabashedly to advertise himself 

in law directories: “ Rufus S. Day: Practices 

before the Federal Courts, Executive Depart­

ments, and the Federal Commissions.” 64

This double career raises many ques­

tions. Were potential clients— litigants and 

out-of-town attorneys—more likely to hire 

him because from his service WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAas a c lerk he 

had valuable insider knowledge of  the Court’s 

workings and of his father’s jurisprudence? 

This scenario seems unlikely because Rufus 

made no mention of his clerkship in these

advertisements, probably because in that era 

it was a clerical position that did not con­

fer status. Surely, however, potential clients 

would have expected that as a son , he would 

know how to write appeals in such a way that 

his father would view their petition favorably 

and vote to take up their case for review. 

Yet did clients always know who his father 

was? And if  so, were they at all concerned 

that Justice Day might recuse himself? Did 

Rufus discuss his private appellate work with 

his father? It is difficult  to imagine that they 

did not chat about his clients with while they 

lived and worked together in their Clifton 

Street home.

When Rufus argued his first Supreme 

Court case on November 19, 1917, it trig­

gered Justice Day’s second recusal in a son’s 

case, following his opting out of Luther’s case 

ten months earlier.65 In B o ld t v. P ennsy lvan ia 

R . C o. (1918), Rufus represented the widow 

of a conductor against the owner of a freight 

train yard accused of negligence under the 

Employers’ Liability  Act.66 The propriety of 

a current clerk also the son of a sitting justice 

arguing a case went unremarked, although 

the press wa keeping close tabs on the Day 

family ’s social life, reporting that Justice Day, 

Rufus, and Madge hosted a dinner at their 

home for 22 in honor of  Chief Justice Edward 

D. White, and another one two weeks later for 

Justice Willis  Van Devanter, who shared an 

April 17 birthday with Justice Day.67 How­

ever, Justice Day himself was evidently con­

cerned about propriety and “ took no part in 

the consideration and decision of  this case.” 68

How did Rufus manage to serve as a 

satisfactory clerk while also preparing a case 

for oral argument? After all, Justice Day was 

not slacking in his work, and Rufus would, 

for example, have helped with his father’s 

majority opinion in H am m er v. D agenhart 

(1918), which invalidated a congressional 

enactment that prohibited the interstate ship­

ment of goods produced by child labor.69 

The key to Rufus’s juggling act may lie in 

the fact that as a Washington lawyer he was
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p r ize d fo r his ge o grap hical de s irability . In 

Ju s tice Day’s era, admission to the Supreme 

Court bar required being physically present 

in the Courtroom to take the oath of office. 

Further, the Court’s practice was only to 

notify WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAloca l counsel about the scheduling of 

an argument because they could be counted 

on to know the procedures and customs of 

practicing before the Court and were not 

subject to travel snafus.70 Rufus therefore 

may not always have been expected to spend 

time writing briefs for clients, but may have 

been hired only (or primarily) to file mo­

tions at the Supreme Court and to serve on 

the ground as local counsel by out-of-town 

attorneys (including his brothers in Ohio). 

Indeed, the Reporter of  Decisions who served 

from 1902 to 1916 noted, “ [ujntil 1925 the 

petitions were presented by a member of the 

Bar, who was usually a Washingtonian acting 

on behalf of out-of-town counsel.” 71

Rufus’s dual role as law clerk and 

appellate lawyer continued for the rest of 

his father’s tenure. In the 1917 and 1918 

Terms, Rufus filed two petitions on behalf 

of clients from the Sixth Circuit—one with 

his brother Luther—and another from the 

Court of Appeals of the District of Columbia 

(with Samuel Herrick), all of which were 

denied.72 When Rufus and Herrick appealed 

a patent case from the Court of Claims 

in March 1919, Justice Day did not recuse 

himself, perhaps because Herrick argued and 

Rufus had minimal involvement.73 In the 

1919 Term, Rufus brought up another case 

from the Sixth Circuit that was denied.74 In 

a second petition filed the same day, from the 

Eighth Circuit, Rufus was one of several at­

torneys representing three insurance compa­

nies against multiple claims from a plaintiff 

whose husband had committed suicide. The 

Court heard the case and handed down its 

decision in the 1920 Term: this time Justice 

Day recused himself even though Rufus only 

filed the petition and neither argued the case 

nor was on the brief.75

When Congress appropriated funding in

1919 for the justices each to hire a “ law 

clerk” in addition to their current “ steno­

graphic clerk,” Day, instead of adding a 

second clerk, simply promoted Rufus to the 

new, more remunerative, position, the same 

action taken by most other justices with their 

clerks. Thus, Rufus’s salary climbed from 

$2,000 to $3,600. Despite this added income, 

Rufus continued his robust legal practice, 

representing clients in D.C. courts and in the 

Supreme Court. He parted ways with Herrick 

and became “ a lawyer in solo practice,” 76 

billing himself as “ Formerly of the Ohio 

Bar. General Practice. War Claims.” 77 In the

1920 Term, Justice Day recused himself in 

two cases his law clerk son appealed to the 

Supreme Court. The first was a high-profile 

case from the Southern District of New 

York in which Rufus represented professional 

gambler and con artist Jules W. Arndstein, 

the husband of comedian Fanny Brice.78 Ac­

cused of $500,000 theft and sale of  securities, 

“ Nicky”  Arndstein refused to answer ques­

tions during bankruptcy proceedings in New 

York courts on self-incrimination grounds 

and had been jailed for contempt.79 Rufus 

co-argued the case and the Court allowed 

his client to be released.80 The second case 

involved an appeal from the Court of Claims 

to review a judgment against the United 

States involving extra work generated by a 

government engineer at the expense of an 

Ohio construction company in excavating 

a ship channel in the Detroit River.81 The 

Supreme Court ruled for Rufus’s clients, who 

were seeking compensation for their con­

struction firm ’s overtime. He was on the brief 

with two lawyers from Cleveland but did not 

argue the case. Justice Day nonetheless “ took 

no part in the decision.”  Of course, as with 

all Justice Day’s recusals in cases involving 

his sons, there may have been reasons other 

than kinship for him to sit out, especially in 

cases coming from Ohio where he had many 

connections.
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R u f u s  D a y  l i v e d  i n  h is  f a t h e r ’ s  h o m e  o n  C l i f t o n  S t r e e t  

w i t h  h is  w i f e  a n d  t w o  c h i ld r e n  ( p ic t u r e d  i s  J u s t ic e  D a y  

w it h  h is  g r a n d s o n , R u f u s  J r . )  w h i le  d e v e lo p in g  a  r o b u s t  

l e g a l p r a c t ic e  in  W a s h in g t o n .

The las t bu s ine s s any o f the Day bro the rs 

bro u ght be fo re the Su p re m e Co u r t p r io r to 

the ir fathe r s te p p ing do wn in No ve m be r 1922 

were two unsuccessful petitions from the 

Second and Fourth Circuits Rufus and his co­

counsel had filed in March and October of

that year.82 At  this juncture, Rufus was billing  

his services in M artindale ’ s Am erican Law  

Directory  as “ general practice, federal tax 

matters,” 83 but not touting himself as a 

specialist in Supreme Court practice or even 

appellate law. A third petition, which had 

been dismissed in June 1922, is notable be­

cause Rufus’s opponent was his future boss, 

Solicitor General James M. Beck, a Warren 

Harding appointee.84 Rufus had campaigned 

in Ohio for Senator Harding during his 1920 

presidential campaign85 and was rewarded 

by an appointment as special assistant to 

the attorney general on February 28, 1923.86 

Rufus worked directly for Solicitor General 

Beck, preparing the petitions and briefs filed 

by the government in the Supreme Court. 

He also argued three cases in the spring 

of 1923.87 It must have been strange to 

look up at the bench and see his father 

absent and Pierce Butler as the new justice. 

Sadly, Justice Day was again stricken with 

pneumonia and chronic bronchitis and had to 

resign from the Mixed Claims Commission 

on May 21. He died on Mackinac Island on 

July 9, 1923, at age seventy-three.

B a c k  in  C le v e la n d  a f t e r  J u s t ic e  D a y ’s  

D e a t h

In 1924 Rufus returned to Ohio for 

good. He joined William  and Luther in their 

Cleveland firm of Day & Day, and the 

three brothers went on to represent clients 

before the Supreme Court more than 50 

times. Occasionally all three were on the 

briefs: “ Messrs. Rufus S. Day, Wm. L. Day, 

and Luther Day, all of Cleveland, Ohio, for 

plaintiffs in error.” 88 William  died of a heart 

attack at age fifty-nine in 1936, the same year 

the brothers’ litigation-focused firm  became 

Day, Young, Veach &  LeFever.89 It merged 

in 1939 with a corporate-oriented firm to 

become Jones, Day, Reavis &  Pogue (now 

called Jones Day).90 Luther and Rufus retired 

together in 1957 at ages seventy-eight and 

seventy-two.91 In tribute, a district judge
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wrote in a bench opinion that Luther was 

“ considered, I believe, by our leading lawyers 

as possibly the greatest trial lawyer in Ohio 

history.” 92

C o n f l ic t  o f  In t e r e s t  a n d  R e c u s a l

Filing cert petitions, submitting written 

briefs, sitting at counsel table, and espe­

cially arguing cases all raise the specter 

of impartiality and impropriety when it is 

the child of a justice appealing the case. 

Recusal is thus the logical “ out” for the 

parent justice to avoid even a hint of personal 

bias or its appearance. The aim of recusal 

is both to protect appellants by helping to 

ensure an impartial decision-maker for their 

claims and “ to preserve the legitimacy of the 

judicial system as a whole.” 93 Accordingly, 

Justice Day duly disqualified himself in nine 

instances when one of his sons litigated a 

case, an action clearly printed in the opinion 

released to the public. Yet we do not know 

on what basis Day made these decisions to 

opt out or why he chose to participate in 

six of their other cases. Was he influenced 

by the kinship recusal actions of Peckham 

or Harlan? When he decided not to recuse, 

was it because the Court was going to issue 

a memorandum opinion or the case lacked 

significance? By the time the Court decided 

on its disposition or outcome, it would have

been too late in the process to recuse so it is 

unlikely that he decided to participate when 

the ruling went against his son’s client and 

no bias could be construed. As the justices 

cannot call on other judges to replace them, 

as is true in some state high courts, Day 

may have felt a strong duty to try to sit if  

possible to provide a full  bench, even if  doing 

so gave the appearance of impropriety.94 Fur­

thermore, recusing himself may have WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAlooked 

unbiased, but by leaving only eight justices 

participating in a decision his action could 

have introduced the possibility of a four-to- 

four split and a non-precedential affirmation 

of the lower court decision. In practice, 

however, Justice Day’s recusals did not result 

in any evenly divided Courts.

The selection of cert petitions for review 

raises another set of questions in terms of 

kinship and personal bias. In decisions where 

the Court reported that Justice Day “ took 

no part in the consideration or decision of 

this case,”  he probably did not participate in 

cert review (if  the case was indeed granted 

review through a cert petition as the justices’ 

discretion in selecting cases was weaker prior 

to 1925). What about reviewing petitions for 

his sons’ cases that were not chosen to be 

argued? Did he cast a vote in Conference 

to accept or deny any of those, or did 

he refrain systematically? And even if  Day 

disqualified himself in all cert discussions, he 

may have unintentionally disfavored his sons’ 

clients if  they were the petitioners. Indeed, 

as Steven Lubet argues, at the certiorari 

stage the disqualification of a Supreme Court 

justice actually may harm the very party 

it was intended to protect. Lubet’s research 

indicates that when a justice appears biased 

aga inst the party petitioning for review, “ the 

right of  the petitioner to apparen t im partia lity 

may be secured [by recusal], but only at the 

cost of actua l d isadvan tage when it comes to 

obtaining Supreme Court review”  as recusals 

leave fewer justices from whom to secure the 

necessary four votes.95 Thus, Justice Day’s 

decisions over whether to recuse when his



74ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJ O U R N A L  O F  S U P R E M E  C O U R T  H IS T O R Y srqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

s o ns bro u ght a cas e to the Co u r t dis to r te d the 

p ro ce s s in favo r o f the re s p o nde nt.

Ethical co ns ide ratio ns are a two-way 

street, and one could argue that the onus 

should have been on Justice Day’s sons not 

to practice before the Supreme Court. As kin, 

they put their father in the position of having 

to make recusal decisions regularly to pro­

tect judicial integrity. As attorneys, the Day 

brothers were subject to the American Bar 

Association’s 1908 Canon of Ethics, which 

31 state bar associations, including D.C., 

Ohio, and Illinois, had adopted by 1914.96 

The code enumerated ethical guidelines for 

attorneys and included a section on conflict 

of interest:

It is the duty of a lawyer at the time 

of retainer to disclose to the client 

all the circumstances of  his relations 

to the parties, and any interest in 

or connection with the controversy, 

which might influence the client in 

the selection of counsel. It is un­

professional to represent conflicting 

interests, except by express consent 

of all concerned given after a full  

disclosure of the facts.97

Did Stephen, William, Luther, and Ruftis 

disclose their connection to Justice Day to 

their clients because it was ethical or because 

it gave them an advantage in being hired, or 

both? Or was their father so well known that 

there was no need to mention the relation­

ship? Ohio clients would have surely been 

aware their father sat on the Supreme Court, 

but the postal worker and police officers 

Stephen represented in Chicago may not have 

known and thus needed to be told.

The Day brothers do not appear to have 

received any sanctions from bar associations. 

To the contrary, Luther was greatly respected 

by his peers for both his legal acumen 

and his probity. Praised the Cleveland Bar 

Association in 1930, “ He doesn’ t get clients 

through political connections or win verdicts

in that way; he doesn’ t negotiate retainers at 

his club or through memberships on Boards 

of Directors; he wins his cases because of his 

ability.” 98 Moreover, in his words of advice 

to his fellow attorneys, Luther demonstrated 

a keen ethical mind:

Be a constructive lawyer first and a 

case lawyer second. When you get a 

case don’ t run straight to the library, 

to look up the law to support your 

side. Decide in your own mind first 

what you think the law ought to be 

on the basis of right and wrong and 

then try to find the law to support
QQ

your view.

As a law clerk whose job was to support 

his father in selecting which cases to vote 

to take up for review and then in how to 

decide them, Rufus faced an added ethical 

challenge. Because he also represented the 

litigant in several of these same cases he 

was helping his father decide on the merits, 

he clearly violated the Canon of Ethics. 

Moreover, as Rufus shared a home with his 

father, it  is unlikely that he was able to refrain 

from discussing his client work, particularly 

if  it overlapped with Court business. This 

would have violated Section 3 of the Canon, 

which recommends attorneys maintain their 

“ independence”  from a judge:

A lawyer should not communicate 

or argue privately with the Judge as 

to the merits of a pending cause, 

and he deserves rebuke and denun­

ciation for any device or attempt 

to gain from a Judge special per­

sonal consideration or favor. A self- 

respecting independence in the dis­

charge of professional duty, without 

denial or diminution of the courtesy 

and respect due the Judge’s station, 

is the only proper foundation for 

cordial personal and official rela­

tions between Bench and Bar.100
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The e thical cho ice fo r Ru fu s wo u ld have 

be e n to tu rn do wn the s e co nd cle rks hip 

and m o ve o u t o f the ho u s e if he wante d 

to co ntinu e his p r ivate p ractice . Like wis e , 

Ju s tice Day s ho u ld have as ke d him to give 

u p his o u ts ide clie nts whe n Ru fu s s igne d o n 

to cle rk fo r him . Mu ch o f his e thical lap s e 

o f judgment can be attributed to the fact that 

even though Rufus was on the government 

payroll, Justice Day did not see him as a 

Supreme Court employee but as a “ private 

secretary” who worked directly for him in 

his home and performed mundane clerical 

duties.101 It is this misperception that likely  

contributed to Justice Day’s tolerance for 

having his law clerk litigate cases before his 

tribunal. Day was not alone in this attitude; 

his colleague David Brewer had assured him 

in 1905 that it was ethical to hire his son 

Stephen because a Supreme Court law clerk

did not take an oath of office, worked directly 

for the justice in his home and not for the 

“ public,” and was “ simply a typewriter, a 

fountain pen”  performing stenography.102

Moreover, it had long been the prac­

tice of Justice Department lawyers to accept 

working for modest government salaries on 

the understanding that they would simulta­

neously bolster their income by continuing 

their private practice. Rufus’s double income 

as law clerk receiving a government salary 

and private attorney billing clients should be 

considered in this larger context. In 1924 At­

torney General Harry M. Daugherty success­

fully  advocated for increasing the salaries of 

government lawyers, not to avoid conflicts 

of interest, but on the ground that their 

jobs had become so demanding that they 

no longer had time to practice law on the 

side:



76ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJ O U R N A L  O F  S U P R E M E  C O U R T  H IS T O R Y srqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The o ld ar range m e nt u nde r which

United States attorneys and their as­

sistants received small salaries and 

devoted the greater part of their 

time to their private practice can 

no longer continue as the volume 

of public business in the majority 

of the districts requires their entire 

time.103

Framed in this context, it is possible 

that Justice Day thought it would be unfair 

to curtail his son’s lucrative legal practice 

simply because his father was inconveniently 

sitting on the high bench.

A f t e r m a t h

Three years after Justice Day stepped 

down from the Court, the appearance of the 

child of a sitting justice before the Supreme 

Court drew the attention of the mainstream 

press. In 1925 Justice Louis D. Brandeis’ 

daughter, Susan Brandeis, argued WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM argo lin 

v. U n ited Sta tes, a case from the Second 

Circuit involving a lawyer’s handling of a 

veteran’s insurance claim.104 Unlike the Day 

or Harlan sons, the episode made news—  

albeit mostly because of the novelty of being 

the first daugh ter of a justice to argue a 

case.105 Press accounts consistently noted, 

however, that “ out of official delicacy,”  Jus­

tice Brandeis was not present on the bench 

and took no part in the decision, which went 

against his daughter’s client.106 The norms 

regarding judicial propriety and the offspring 

of members of the Court practicing before 

their parents had clearly evolved.

By 1933 Justice Willis Van Devanter, 

who had served on the Court since 1911 and 

had sat with Day for ten Terms, advised Chief 

Justice Charles Evans Hughes that justices 

“ seldom if  ever”  participated in cases involv­

ing their kin. He explained the evolution of 

the recusal practice:

Formerly it was the general practice 

of members of the Court to sit

in such cases, but the practice has 

gradually undergone a change so 

that now a member of the Court 

seldom if  ever sits in a case where 

a near kinsman such as a brother or 

son participates in the presentation 

of the case either by oral argument 

or printed brief.... The change here 

mentioned was brought about not 

by any action of the Court but by 

the individual action of the Justice 

particularly concerned.107

Van Devanter gave as an example the 

actions of Hughes’ predecessor as chief jus­

tice, William  H. Taft, who served from 1921 

to 1930 and had virtually no overlap with 

Justice Day. He reported that Taft “ always 

refrained from sitting in a case where his 

brother or either of his sons appeared as 

counsel.”  Van Devanter, however, was incor­

rect: Taft had participated in a few cases 

where his brother, New York lawyer Henry 

W. Taft, represented a party.108 The fact that 

Van Devanter misremembered the recusal 

actions of his Court colleague may indicate 

that the justices were not closely keeping 

track of one another’s recusal choices. It also 

shows that Taft, like Day and Peckham, did 

not have a completely consistent recusal pol­

icy regarding his kin. The institutional norm 

for recusal had gradually evolved toward a 

greater effort to sit out in the interest of 

judicial propriety, but still remained ad hoc 

several years after Day’s tenure on the bench 

had concluded.
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Craig  A lan  Sm ith

In t r o d u c t io n srqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

In the m ids t o f the Gre at De p re s s io n, 

film m ake r Le o McCare y re le as e d WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM ake W ay 

fo r T om orrow (1937), considered by Orson 

Welles “ the saddest movie ever made.”  The 

film  depicts the hardships and sacrifices fam­

ilies faced and features an elderly couple who 

lost their home to a bank foreclosure, forc­

ing them to depend on their adult children. 

Without adequate space for both parents, 

their children place them into two separate 

households, where their presence becomes 

a constant source of friction. In the end, 

plans are made to move the family matriarch 

to an elderly care facility, but the patriarch 

will be shipped west to live with distant 

relatives. On one level, the film portrays 

the parents’ serene dignity as they endure 

their children’s benign neglect. During their 

final, tragic goodbye, the parents realize they

might never again see each other. Ultimately, 

they sacrificed their own happiness for their 

children’s sakes.1

The same year that McCarey released his 

poignant film, a Dallas-based lawyer, Tom 

Clark, got a job at the Justice Department 

in the Bureau of War Risk Litigation, and a 

freshman congressman, Lyndon B. Johnson, 

began his first term in the U.S. House. The 

private lives and public careers of these two 

Texans became intertwined over the ensuing 

three decades. Clark advanced through the 

Justice Department, serving as an assistant 

attorney general and later as President Harry 

S. Truman’s attorney general before Truman 

appointed him to the Supreme Court, and 

Johnson advanced to the U.S. Senate, the vice 

presidency, and, with the death of President 

John Kennedy, the presidency. No doubt, 

their Texas roots gave them an affinity for 

one another, and due to their long government
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care e rs , the ir attachm e nt incre as e d o ve r tim e . 

In s p r ing 1967, their mutual devotion was 

displayed when Johnson nominated Clark’s 

son, Ramsey, to become attorney general, and 

nearly simultaneously Clark announced that 

he would leave the Supreme Court.

Like the film that debuted when he 

arrived in Washington, D.C., Clark willingly  

sacrificed his professional achievements to 

make way for his son’s. However, in this 

instance, it was not Ramsey who proved 

insensitive to his father’s position, but rather 

Clark’s longtime friend, Lyndon B. Johnson, 

who demonstrated callous disregard in order 

to advance his own selfish political aims. 

Johnson did this first by forcing Clark off  the 

Court; eighteen months later he contrived—  

unsuccessfully, as it turned out— to force 

Ramsey out of the Cabinet in order to return 

Clark to the Court.

This is a tale about relationships, those 

between Johnson and Clark and between 

father and son, as well as the president’s 

relationship with the Court and how Johnson 

sought to manipulate it. Of course, Johnson’s 

dissembling methods have been widely rec­

ognized, including his calculation that Clark 

would vacate the Court if  Ramsey became 

the attorney general. However, taped White 

House phone calls have revealed the extent 

of the president’s involvement and the real 

potential for failure. Therefore, this is also 

a tale of contingencies. Nothing was certain 

in Johnson’s calculations until it actually 

happened, and there were plenty of “ near 

misses”  in the process. In addition, the tapes 

reveal that a crucial phone call between 

Johnson and his acting attorney general was 

less concerned with convincing Tom Clark 

to make a decision than with persuading 

Ramsey to accept that decision. Ramsey was, 

after all, the only person who could have 

foiled the president’s plans.

The seeming inevitability of what hap­

pened should not detract from the potential 

of it coming unraveled. Johnson did not have 

to elevate Ramsey Clark to be the attorney

general, but he did, and his reasons appear 

obvious in retrospect. With Clark off the 

Court, Johnson could propel his civil rights 

agenda by naming the first African-American 

justice, Thurgood Marshall. This was not the 

first, nor would it  be the last time that Johnson 

tried to orchestrate the selection of justices. 

In fact, his final effort, elevating Abe Fortas 

to chief justice, ended in colossal failure, and 

he considered—however briefly— turning to 

the Clarks to salvage the situation. Moreover, 

Clark did not have to retire from the Court, 

and for a while it looked as though he 

might not. Neither did he have to signal his 

intentions to the White House, but when he 

did, Johnson had what he needed to fulfill  his 

designs for the Court. Finally, Ramsey Clark, 

a man of high principles with intense family 

loyalties, did not have to accept Johnson’s 

nomination, which became the president’s 

gravest concern.

H is t o r i c a l  B a c k g r o u n d

Tom Clark served on the Supreme Court 

for eighteen years, during which eight of his 

brethren departed from the bench. The first 

two to leave, Chief Justice Fred Vinson in 

1953 and Robert H. Jackson the following 

year, died while in office, but most of  the oth­

ers retired from active service when illness 

compelled it. Those who cited poor health in­

cluded Sherman Minton (1956), Harold Bur­

ton (1958), Charles Whittaker (1962), and 

Felix Frankfurter (1962). One justice, Stanley 

Reed (1957), cited his age, although his biog­

rapher believed it had as much to do with an­

ticipated disappointment in case outcomes.2 

Federal law since 1869 had permitted justices 

to retire and receive their full salary if  they 

were at least 70 years of  age and had spent ten 

years on the federal bench. In 1937, as a re­

sult of Roosevelt’s failed Court-packing plan, 

Congress amended the law so retired justices 

could serve on lower federal courts in senior 

status, a provision that Clark took full  advan­

tage of in retirement; and in 1954 lawmakers
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fu r the r re vis e d the s tatu te by adjusting the 

age and length of service requirements, mak­

ing it  possible for Clark to retire when he did. 

He became eligible for a lifetime pension at 

his present salary in September 1964, having 

reached the age of 65 and having served on 

the Court for fifteen years.3

Unlike so many of his brethren, Clark 

was still relatively young at age sixty-seven 

and in moderately good health when he 

announced his retirement. For the past few 

years, he had suffered from recurring bouts 

of vertigo, which was no secret among the 

bench and bar, but with medication he had 

managed to control it.4 The one exception 

to Supreme Court departures prior to Clark’s 

was when Arthur Goldberg resigned after 

three years to become the U.S. Ambassador 

to the United Nations. Unsurprisingly, it was 

Lyndon B. Johnson who, having recently 

won the presidency in his own right, became 

the driving force behind Goldberg’s stepping 

down.

The Goldberg episode presaged some of 

the same shenanigans that Johnson used to 

drive Clark off  the Court, leading to some of 

the same conclusions about why Johnson had 

done it—namely, to appoint his own nomi­

nees. In the case of Goldberg, the president 

wanted his longtime friend and legal advisor, 

Abe Fortas, on the Court. After attempts at 

enticing Goldberg to return to the Cabinet 

failed, Johnson found his opportunity when 

U.N. Ambassador Adlai Stevenson died 

unexpectedly. Supposedly using the strong- 

arm tactics that typified his negotiating skills, 

the president convinced Goldberg that the 

country needed him, and Goldberg probably 

believed he could bring peace to Vietnam. 

Truthfully, though, according to one White 

House top advisor, the arm-twisting and 

call to service were more of a “ charade”  for 

the public’s benefit. Goldberg was not that 

reluctant to leave the Court, and Johnson did 

not have to work that hard to get him to go.5

The same was true for Goldberg’s re­

placement, Abe Fortas, who feigned reluc­

tance to leave his lucrative law practice, 

leading Johnson to give him “ the treatment.”  

Their performances were just as convincing.6 

The public perception of the president bend­

ing others to his will was the image that 

Johnson fostered, but, behind the scenes, in 

his private telephone conversations, he could 

appear as unsure and equivocating as he was 

conniving and duplicitous. As we will  see, 

getting Clark to leave the Court in order to 

replace him with Thurgood Marshall was not 

as foregone a conclusion as it appeared, nor 

was it entirely farfetched that Johnson might 

consider bringing Clark back to the Court.

T h e  R e la t io n s h ip  b e t w e e n  C la r k  a n d  

J o h n s o n

Clark and Johnson first met at the na­

tion’s capital prior to the outbreak of World 

War II. Clark had thought he was going to 

D.C. to become an assistant attorney general, 

but he ended up serving in a backwater bu­

reau of the Justice Department trying insur­

ance cases involving World War I veterans. A  

few years later, he was put in charge of the 

Antitrust Division’s west coast regional of­

fices, where he served as civilian coordinator 

of Japanese-American evacuations following 

the attack on Pearl Harbor. Johnson, who 

was Clark’s junior by nine years, had arrived 

in Congress as a strong supporter of the 

New Deal and President Roosevelt’s Court­

packing plan. At the outbreak of war, he 

became the first congressman to enlist in the 

armed forces, and Clark recalled fondly a 

San Francisco send-off party when “ Lyndon 

took off  for the South Pacific as Lieutenant 

Commander.” 7

The ties that bound Clark and Johnson 

were personal as well as professional. When 

Clark sought Justice Department advance­

ment, Congressman Johnson became one of 

his most ardent supporters. His endorse­

ment of Clark to become assistant to the 

attorney general— today the deputy attorney 

general— so impressed Clark that the latter
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p ro m is e d to as s is t Jo hns o n in any e nde avo r , 

“ whe the r it be p o litical o r o the rwis e , night o r 

day , all y o u have to do is whis tle and I am the 

bo y that will  be the re , and I m e an as fas t as 

the p lane s will  co m e .” 8 Although Clark did 

not receive the appointment, within another 

sixteen months he became an assistant attor­

ney general, and he credited Johnson as much 

as anyone for that success.9 Soon thereafter, 

Clark’s older brother, Bill  (William Henry, 

Jr.), died in a plane crash along with nine 

other passengers, and Clark recalled how 

“ Lyndon went to Tennessee with me to the 

fallen airliner.” 10

While Johnson served in the U.S. House, 

he and Clark frequently met at what was 

known throughout Washington as the “ Board 

of Education,” a small room on the first 

floor of the Capitol downstairs from the 

House Chamber made famous by Speaker 

Sam Rayburn (D-TX) as a place to socialize 

and plot strategy. Before he became attorney 

general, Clark recalled getting invited to 

“ the little  room,”  Rayburn’s preferred epithet, 

about twice a week on average. As the years 

passed, their professional courtesies extended 

to personal and familial closeness, leading 

Clark to reflect long afterward, “ I have a 

warm affection for the Johnson family. Our 

family has been thrown together.... There’s a 

thread of affection and of admiration that has 

been all through our lives.” 11

After Johnson entered the U.S. Senate 

and Clark joined the Supreme Court, the two 

men continued to see a great deal of each 

other. They conferred on legislative matters, 

such as a pension for justices’ widows, and 

they genuinely enjoyed each other’s company. 

As one of Clark’s law clerks, Larry Temple 

(1959-60), who also had served as spe­

cial counsel to Johnson (1967-69), recalled, 

“ I know they were very fast and famous 

friends.” “ I had not realized until later the 

fondness with which Lyndon Johnson held 

Tom Clark,”  Temple continued, “ I know that 

Tom Clark was totally devoted to Lyndon 

Johnson ... and liked him. Lyndon Johnson

was one of the half-dozen people of whom 

Tom Clark was most fond.” 12

R a m s e y ’ s  R is e

As a result of their two decades of 

friendship, Clark had no misgivings about 

calling on Vice President-elect Johnson to 

secure a government job for his thirty-three- 

year-old son, Ramsey. The oldest of Clark’s 

surviving children, Ramsey had served 

briefly in the Marines at the end of  World War 

II  before following in his father’s footsteps as 

an undergraduate at the University of Texas. 

After earning his law degree at the University 

of Chicago, Ramsey joined his family ’s 

Dallas law firm, now managed by his uncle, 

Robert, where he served for nearly a decade. 

Inspired in part by the youthful energy of the 

Kennedy campaign, Ramsey decided in 1960 

that he wanted to enter government service. 

Like his father, he wanted to work at the 

Justice Department, and his preference was 

to become the assistant attorney general of 

the Antitrust Division. However, President­

elect John F. Kennedy and his brother, 

Robert, who would become the attorney 

general, already had someone in mind for that 

position.13

How Ramsey landed the top spot at the 

Lands Division depended on whose recollec­

tion to believe. Ramsey remembered acting 

independently, whereas his father recalled 

assisting him. According to Ramsey, his 

father was not involved with his appointment, 

because Ramsey had “ talked to some of 

the people I had known the best that had 

access and influence to the administration.”  

Instead of mentioning his father, Ramsey 

claimed that he “ talked personally” with 

House Speaker Sam Rayburn and Justice 

William O. Douglas, who “ probably put 

it over.” Johnson may have known of his 

interest, but Ramsey doubted “ whether he 

pushed it.” 14 Therefore, Ramsey wanted to 

be remembered as someone who did not 

have to rely on his father, even though his
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fathe r’s connections undoubtedly made his 

advancement possible.

Tom Clark, on the other hand, acknowl­

edged that Ramsey had spoken to him and 

that he had called upon Johnson to pressure 

Robert Kennedy. In fact, when all the as­

sistant attorneys general positions but Lands 

were taken, Clark was surprised that Ramsey 

even considered it. In order to secure the 

position for his son, Clark turned to Johnson, 

who reportedly said, “ If  you want me to do 

this, I ’ ll  level on it, but otherwise if  you don’ t 

think it ’s a good thing, I won’ t do it.”  Clark 

told Johnson to go ahead, and after Ramsey 

became an assistant attorney general, Clark 

claimed that he never again asked Johnson 

to intercede on his son’s behalf.15 Of course, 

that became unnecessary after Johnson suc­

ceeded to the presidency because he could

remake the Justice Department on his own 

terms.

Johnson’s opportunity arrived in 

September 1964 when Robert Kennedy 

resigned to campaign for the U.S. Senate. 

To replace Kennedy as attorney general, 

Johnson turned to the deputy attorney 

general, Nicholas Katzenbach, who had 

been serving as the acting attorney general 

for several months already. To replace 

Katzenbach as deputy attorney general, the 

number two position, Johnson nominated 

Ramsey, who had served admirably as head 

of the Lands Division for four years.

In mid-February 1965, Ramsey and 

Katzenbach were sworn in together. 

According to newspapers reports, “ President 

Johnson gave an affectionate and witty  

salute,” and with obvious pleasure he
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“ p re s ide d o ve r and do m inate d”  the ceremony. 

After Katzenbach recited the oath for Justice 

Byron White, Ramsey recited it for his 

father, who “ seemed more nervous than his 

son and occasionally stumbled slightly.” 16 As 

reported, it  was “ a highly emotional moment”  

for Tom and Ramsey Clark, but it portended 

something more consequential than a 

father’s pride in his son’s accomplishment. 

Fundamentally, it raised a conflict-of-interest 

question as pronounced as if  Ramsey had 

become the attorney general. Intriguingly, 

the widespread consensus at the time and 

afterward was that no conflict existed, 

making Clark’s decision to retire two years 

later all the more perplexing.

T h e  A p p e a r a n c e  o f  J u s t i c e

Citing “ any possible conflicts in cases 

that may arise,”  on the last day of February 

1967, Tom Clark announced his intention 

to retire shortly after Johnson nominated 

Ramsey as attorney general. Ten days later, 

with the president, vice president, solicitor 

general, and every Court member present, 

Clark again administered the oath of office to 

Ramsey in “ a brief, sentimental ceremony.” 17 

During his final term, while Ramsey served 

as deputy attorney general or acting attorney 

general, Clark participated in all but four 

cases decided by written opinions. He volun­

tarily disqualified himself from a case where 

Ramsey was a named party, having been 

substituted for Katzenbach and Kennedy, 

and he recused himself from three antitrust 

cases where his former law clerk, Donald 

Turner, the assistant attorney general, was 

involved.18 Otherwise, Ramsey’s promotion 

to attorney general had little impact on 

Clark’s participation in argued cases. By 

comparison, in his first four terms, Clark had 

disqualified himself from more than twice as 

many cases with written opinions (53) than 

all the remaining 14 terms combined (25).

Considering that Ramsey had worked at 

the Justice Department for six years prior to

becoming attorney general, was it necessary 

for Clark to retire when he did? Certainly, 

there was no statutory requirement for him 

to retire, just as there was no legal obligation 

for him to disqualify himself from cases. 

At the time, the law on federal judicial 

recusal with few exceptions left it entirely 

to the justice’s own discretion whether to 

participate in a case.19 For example, the only 

other time that Clark had disqualified him­

self because of Ramsey’s involvement was 

when Ramsey represented Safeway Stores 

before the Court.20 Although Ramsey did 

not prevail, Clark recalled how Justice Felix 

Frankfurter shared a note on the day of 

Ramsey’s argument, reading, “ Your lad did 

very well. He may not win his case, but he 

got everything possible out of it.” 21 Clark 

himself had represented Safeway in private 

practice, but he later admitted his views on 

disqualification had relaxed. “ Indeed, I sat in 

cases involving Safeway stores even though 

I represented them in 1937,” he said, “ I 

think you can go to ridiculous lengths in 

abstention.” 22

Indeed, when Ramsey became the acting 

attorney general, a position he held for five 

months, speculation immediately focused on 

whether there was a conflict of interest. The 

consensus among lawyers and laymen alike 

was that no conflict existed. In fact, the 

outgoing attorney general, Nicholas Katzen­

bach, was the first to advise the president that 

there was no conflict. “ Nick says the solicitor 

general is the one before the Court, not the 

attorney general,” Johnson explained in a 

private phone call, “ And he didn’t think the 

justice would have to disqualify himself.” 23 

One week later, Johnson learned that past and 

current presidents of  the American Bar Asso­

ciation, most of the justices on the Court, and 

Solicitor General Thurgood Marshall saw 

“ no incompatibility” with Clark remaining 

on the bench.24 Furthermore, immediately 

after Clark announced his intention to retire, 

there was a “ flurry  of protest”  in legal circles 

led by former Republican Attorney General
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William Ro ge rs , who o ffe re d to o btain s tate­

ments from former Attorneys General Her­

bert Brownell and Francis Biddle supporting 

his contention that no conflict existed. As 

one analysis of the episode concluded, “ With 

such bipartisan and professional support, 

Johnson could easily have refused to accept 

the senior Clark’s resignation without much 

overt damage to the administration.” 25

Legal experts were not alone in their 

assessment that no conflict existed. As spec­

ulation mounted over whether Ramsey would 

become the attorney general, ordinary citi­

zens voiced their objections to Clark’s poten­

tial retirement. The constitutional principle of 

separation of powers and the legal intricacies 

of who actually represented the government 

before the Court may have been lost on most 

people, but they still could not fathom why 

Clark should retire. As one concerned writer 

put it, “ If  it was all right for the President’s 

brother to be Attorney General, then there 

is nothing wrong for a Supreme Court 

Justice having a son as Attorney General.” 26 

Remarkably, the diverse range of opinions 

from judges, lawyers, politicians, and laymen 

was matched by the sheer volume of letters 

Clark received urging him to remain on the
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Co u r t. Se ve ral o f his archival file s are fille d 

to bu rs ting with s u ch s e ntim e nts , inclu ding 

this o ne fro m a fe de ral judge in Wisconsin: “ I 

have been worried because of  the speculation 

in some magazines that you were going to 

resign on account of your son’s position, but 

recently have been most pleased to read the 

speculation that you will  not resign. There 

is no reason why you should.... I sincerely 

hope and trust that you will  not resign.” 27

Setting aside all other considerations, 

there was one fundamentally compelling rea­

son why Clark could stay on the Court, if  

he chose. His son had worked at the Justice 

Department for six years. As one astute Court 

observer remarked shortly afterward, “ There 

was, in fact, no functional difference between 

the son’s relationship to the Supreme Court 

as Deputy Attorney General or, certainly, 

as Acting Attorney General, a post he held 

for a long time, and his final position as 

Attorney General.” Of course, this was in 

reference to Clark’s disqualifying himself 

from cases, and on that he “ could have 

made his decision either way.” The same 

held true for his decision to retire. “ When 

the son was Assistant Attorney General for 

the Lands Division,”  the observer continued, 

“ and even when he was Deputy Attorney 

General and thus the number two man in 

the Department, the father did not disqualify 

himself.” 28 In other words, as Clark had 

participated in cases while Ramsey was an 

assistant attorney general, he could continue 

to do so when Ramsey advanced through 

the Justice Department because Ramsey’s 

relationship to cases before the Court actually 

had WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAd im in ished .

Moreover, Ramsey realized there was no 

conflict, and he told an interviewer, “ The 

cases came to the Supreme Court that I 

had participated in in the lower courts, and 

had actually been involved in formulating 

the position taken by the government. Dad 

always sat on the cases; he never, as far as 

I know, disqualified himself in any cases, 

because I happen to have been in it.” 29 In

fact, during the four years Ramsey headed 

the Lands Division, the question of a conflict 

of interest never arose. “ I don’ t know why it 

didn’ t,”  Ramsey recalled,

In fact, your proximity to actual 

cases in the Supreme Court is 

much greater as Assistant Attorney 

General than as Attorney General, 

because they are much closer to 

specifics and to individual cases.... 

Actually, as Deputy I was much 

further away from the work of the 

Supreme Court than I had been as 

Assistant Attorney General in the 

Lands Division where we would 

have six or eight cases before the 

Court in a single term.30

Therefore, Ramsey believed if he 

became the attorney general his father 

could remain on the Court. At the news 

conference following his nomination, he 

was asked whether his appointment posed a 

barrier to his father’s service, and he replied, 

“ from my standpoint, it won’ t.” 31 Eighteen 

months later, disappointed over his father’s 

retirement, Ramsey recalled, “ I felt that 

his career, my dad’s career, had been the 

great pride of our family and that it was 

un th inkab le that he would resign. I told him 

that, and that was the extent of  the discussion. 

It was a little comment that was made several 

times, but I thought it was un th inkab le that 

he would resign.” 32

Why, then, did Clark retire? Certainly, 

as he frankly admitted, he did it for his 

son, not wanting to “ interfere with Ramsey’s 

future.” 33 However, there was more to his 

decision than paternal affection. Because an 

actual conflict of interest was spurious at 

best—no one seriously accepted it—Clark 

justified his decision by advancing a novel 

proposition. Like Caesar’s wife, he wanted 

his relationship with Ramsey to be beyond 

reproach. “ While there is no actual conflict,”  

he wrote, “ the potential is there, and the 

appearance of justice is as important and
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e ffe ctive as the re al thing.” 34 The WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAappear­

ance of justice, which he considered “ more 

important than justice itself,”  became Clark’s 

defensive lodestar. Whenever questioned, he 

fell back on public percep tion , or the poten­

tial for bias even if  none existed. He also 

wanted to serve as a role model for other 

judges, many of whom likely had sons prac­

ticing law who might appear before them. 

He did not want to become “ an example or 

excuse for them,”  because “ judges through­

out the country would be influenced by my 

action.” 35 To some extent, this reflected a 

new standard for judicial disqualification, 

one that Congress waited another half-dozen 

years after Clark retired to impose on federal 

judges.36

Such lofty  ideals, however, belied a more 

banal consideration—one not lost on contem­

porary commentators. As N ew Y ork T im es 

editor James “ Scotty” Reston perceptively 

asked, “ If  there was no conflict of interest

between the Texas Clarks when Ramsey was 

deputy attorney general, it is not quite clear 

why there should be a conflict with young 

Clark in the top Justice Department job.”  

Whether Clark shou ld retire was no longer 

a valid question. If  he did retire, as Reston 

believed he would, then Johnson faced a cred­

ibility  problem, because the unmistakable 

conclusion was that collusion had occurred.37

A l l t h e  P r e s id e n t ’s  M e n

Despite Clark’s professed self- 

sacrificing motives, his apparent selflessness 

had more calculating origins. As many 

have supposed—correctly, as it turned 

out—Johnson used Ramsey as a pawn 

to force Clark from the Court for one 

principal purpose, to make history by 

appointing Thurgood Marshall as the first 

African-American justice.38 White House 

phone recordings reveal the president’s
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invo lve m e nt, who be cam e his e m is s ar ie s , 

and ho w he co nvince d fathe r and s o n to s e rve 

his inte re s ts . The tap e s dis clo s e Jo hns o n’s 

deceptions, yet they also show him grappling 

for answers and feeling frustrated with turns 

of events. The “ master political strategist,”  as 

one Marshall biographer called the president, 

was not as unfailing as he appeared, nor 

was his scheme to create a Court vacancy 

inexorable. Moreover, one of the most 

oft-cited conversations that Johnson had 

with Ramsey about becoming the attorney 

general has been largely misunderstood.39 

In that conversation, held four months 

into Ramsey’s service as acting attorney 

general, the president was not trying to 

pressure Ramsey’s father to retire. As will  

be explained, that was no longer necessary. 

Instead, Johnson was lining up Ramsey to 

accept the inevitable.

The circumstances leading to Clark’s 

departure from the Court began, surprisingly 

enough, with undersecretary George Ball 

leaving the State Department. For the past 

five years, Ball had been an opponent of 

continued American involvement in Vietnam 

because he viewed southeast Asia as periph­

eral to America’s interests. Following the U.S. 

commitment in 1965 to substantially increase 

ground forces, by the time Ball resigned 

in September 1966 there were over 350,000 

American soldiers in Vietnam, where upward 

of 36,000 had been killed or wounded. In 

order to replace Ball, the president sought 

counsel from several Cabinet members, in­

cluding Attorney General Katzenbach, who 

had himself become dissatisfied at the Jus­

tice Department, in part because of a long­

standing internal squabble with the FBI over 

wiretapping.

Apparently, the FBI had installed an 

illegal eavesdropping device in the hotel 

room of Fred Black, an influential Washing­

ton lobbyist. Although no evidence used to 

convict Black of tax evasion was obtained 

from the wiretap, Solicitor General Marshall 

revealed its existence to the Supreme Court.

Therefore, the Court wanted to know who 

was responsible, and thus began a public 

smear campaign between FBI director J. 

Edgar Hoover and former Attorney General 

Robert Kennedy, each blaming the other. 

Katzenbach came to Kennedy’s defense but 

earned Hoover’s “ obvious resentment” for 

demonstrating that the FBI director had 

authorized illegal surveillance. As a result, 

Katzenbach volunteered to step down from 

his Cabinet-level post, which many saw as a 

demotion, to move into Ball’s position at the 

State Department.40 Now the path was clear.

From there, events proceeded rapidly. 

There were less than two weeks before the 

Court’s term began, when, coincidentally, the 

justices would reconsider Fred Black’s ap­

peal. In an ironic twist, Justice Clark, whose 

son was now on the hot seat to review the ex­

tent of FBI secret surveillance, composed the 

Court’s WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAper cu r iam opinion ordering a new 

trial.41 During the news announcement of 

Ball’s departure from State and Katzenbach’s 

from Justice, reporters asked the president 

whether Ramsey was precluded from becom­

ing attorney general because of his father’s 

position on the Court. “ I haven’ t made any 

decision on that,”  he answered.42

Privately, however, Johnson resorted to 

his usual tactic of misdirection, one that 

he had employed previously when naming 

Thurgood Marshall as solicitor general. In 

that instance, the president repeatedly and 

persistently had reminded Marshall that he 

should not expect to go on the Supreme 

Court.43 This time, Johnson told Ramsey not 

to expect to become attorney general. When 

asked shortly afterward, “ Did he give you 

any special reason?”  Ramsey answered, “ He 

felt that my father would have to resign, 

and he didn’ t think that would be right.... 

I told him that suited me fine. I never had 

figured on being attorney general.”  In fact, 

Johnson announced at a news conference 

the day after telling reporters he had not 

made a decision that speculation over Ram­

sey becoming attorney general was “ totally
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u nre liable and u ninfo rm e d.” He said, “ The 

very fact that [Ramsey’s name] is there is 

the best indication that it ’s not going to 

happen.” 44

Of course, this misdirection was part of 

the familiar Johnson “ treatment.”  One of the 

president’s top aides who recalled him telling 

Ramsey not to expect to become attorney 

general explained how the ploy worked. “ LBJ 

made that same point to a number of others, 

assuming what he had said would get back to 

Tom Clark and would lead him to step down 

from the Court.” 45 From the day he decided 

to send Katzenbach to the State Department, 

Johnson realized he had an opportunity to 

change the Court; he just had to figure out 

how to do it. Undoubtedly, he would need 

Senate approval, so one of the first people he 

contacted was his close friend and political 

ally, Senate minority leader Everett Dirksen 

(R-IL), who frequently advised Johnson on 

pending appointments. Katzenbach had rec­

ommended Ramsey as his replacement, and 

Johnson wanted to know how much support 

to expect from Senate Republicans. He also 

wanted Dirksen’s opinion on whether Justice 

Clark should retire as a result, a course that 

Katzenbach opposed but that the president 

favored. Dirksen cautioned Johnson about 

making any final decision and promised to 

find out how much support he could muster 

for Ramsey.46

Senate support probably came second 

nature to a president who had spent 12 years 

in the upper house. Johnson also needed 

assurances, which would be extraordinarily 

problematic given the impropriety of his 

scheme. He had no way of knowing whether 

Clark would retire or how Ramsey might 

react. Fortunately, he had men “ on the 

inside” who could pass information on 

to the principals and report back to the 

president. Of course, all of this was done 

with Johnson’s explicit direction, “ Don’ t 

commit WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAm e." Therefore, he could orchestrate 

the exchange of information while appearing 

to be uninvolved. One of his inside men

was Katzenbach, who up until his term at 

Justice officially ended dutifully carried 

out the president’s directives to discover 

how Clark and Ramsey might behave. In 

addition, Johnson’s inside man at the Court, 

Abe Fortas, proved more consequential 

because he was unscrupulous about sharing 

privileged information with the president.

As already mentioned, Fortas had been 

Johnson’s first Court appointment, and the 

two men shared decades of history. Fortas 

was so trusted that when Johnson assumed 

the presidency, Fortas became an unofficial 

presidential advisor on all matters foreign 

and domestic. So ubiquitous was Fortas’ 

influence that, as one Fortas biographer ob­

served, “ only the White House aides knew the 

astonishing range and extent of the contacts 

between the justice and the president.” 47 

Moreover, one of Johnson’s principal reasons 

for wanting Fortas on the Court was so that 

he could serve as a “ mole”  for the president, 

keeping Johnson informed of potential case 

outcomes. “ There was apparently nothing 

Fortas wouldn’ t do for Johnson,” observed 

one Johnson biographer, “ including crossing 

ethical lines.... Fortas knew that revealing 

private discussions among the Court’s mem­

bers was a violation of judicial ethics.” 48 In 

this instance, Fortas became indispensable, 

because he had ready access to internal Court 

deliberations, and he had no compunction 

about sharing them with the president.

Fortas immediately had a conversation 

with Clark to gauge his reaction to Ramsey 

becoming attorney general, because, as For­

tas put it, Clark “ ought to be now getting 

down to the short strokes”  of what he would 

do. “ His own position was very clear,”  Fortas 

confidentially informed the president, “ that 

he certainly was not going to stand in Ram­

sey’s way.” 49 As Clark was eligible for a full  

pension, he was prepared to retire “ if  that 

would be helpful to Ramsey.” Since Clark 

appeared committed to leaving the Court, 

Johnson turned his attention to his primary 

objective of naming Clark’s replacement.
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The p re s ide nt as ke d Fo r tas ho w Thu rgo o d 

Mars hall m ight change the dire ctio n o f the 

Co u r t, and Fo r tas had a re ady re s p o ns e . “ That 

wo u ld give u s a s o lid majority,”  he said. “ I 

mean that it would firm up the liberal side 

of the Court in all probability.”  Looking at 

the upcoming term, Johnson even asked how 

Marshall might “ mess up your wiretapping 

thing.”  Again, Fortas breached the better part 

of discretion, telling the president, “ We’ ll  

certainly lose a vote on that, but the other 

side won’ t gain one,”  referring to Marshall’s 

likely recusal in the Fred Black appeal. 

Clearly, Johnson trusted Fortas and depended 

on his opinion. The two discussed potential 

nominees for solicitor general and the public 

reaction to nominating Marshall. Hungering 

for reassurance, Johnson wondered how the 

country might react to Clark’s retirement and 

whether Clark believed he would nominate 

Ramsey.50

The same day he spoke to Fortas, 

September 22, Johnson was on the phone 

with Katzenbach, who gave him the prover­

bial “ good news/bad news.”  In discussing the 

situation with other justices, namely, Hugo 

Black, who alone thought that Clark should 

retire, Katzenbach learned that Clark had, in­

deed, expressed that commitment. However, 

in conversations with Ramsey, he discovered 

that Ramsey was just as determined for his 

father to remain on the Court. “ Both of 

them sit in a slightly stiff-necked position,”  

Katzenbach reported, “ it ’s going to be diffi ­

cult to do WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAanyth ing .”  This was a possibility 

that could stymie the president’s plans. Even 

with a commitment from Clark, Ramsey 

might refuse to accept the nomination.

Johnson needed certainty amid so many 

variables. He told Katzenbach what he had 

heard from Fortas, that Chief Justice Earl 

Warren was adamant for Clark to remain on 

the Court, and Everett Dirksen had said he 

“ wouldn’ t give a damn”  if  Clark did. There­

fore, Johnson wanted Katzenbach to speak 

directly with Clark, so long as it was clear 

that it was not coming from the president. In 

sounding out Clark, Katzenbach was to play
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u p Clark’s loyalty and service, reassuring him 

that he could continue to judge all over the 

country on lower federal courts. “ He could do 

a good many things,”  Johnson directed, “ and 

he could probably be as much service there 

[riding circuit] and more than he could where 

he is.” 51

Two days later, Johnson again conferred 

with his operatives, who shared similar 

reports, namely, that Clark was prepared to 

retire but the president could face criticism 

if  it appeared “ forced.” “ You ought not be 

in a position of having official knowledge 

of what the father’s going to do,” Fortas 

observed ironically, because that was WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAexactly 

what Johnson was trying to do. Katzenbach 

repeated how “ stiff-necked”  both men were 

being, and he brought up how difficult it 

would be to advance any nomination that 

fall because the Senate Judiciary chairman, 

James Eastland (D-MS), was facing a reelec­

tion campaign back home. Reportedly, the 

Clarks had plans to visit each other over the 

weekend, but Johnson was not content to bide 

his time, so he directed Fortas and Katzen­

bach to find out where each man stood.52

In a follow-up call to Fortas the same 

day, Johnson expressed his frustration with 

the conundrum he faced, that he wanted a 

solid commitment from Clark without mak­

ing one of his own. As Johnson was in 

no hurry to find another attorney general, 

he thought he could leave Ramsey in an 

acting role because it  posed the same conflict 

of interest for Clark, resulting in the same 

outcome. Fortas, on the other hand, rec­

ommended nominating Ramsey outright so 

that Clark had a clearer basis for retirement. 

“ Well, wouldn’ t that then put it on we?”  

Johnson asked, “ If  he’s gonna resign, why 

didn’ t he resign befo re the appointment?”

“ Because that would indicate fore­

knowledge,” Fortas answered, “ It 

would indicate that he knew that you 

were going to appoint his son.”

“ Well, shouldn’ t I know before I put

[Ramsey] in that position - that he’s

[Tom] not gonna be there?”

“ No, Mr. President,” Fortas cau­

tioned, “ You ought not to know 

officially.... I think unofficially you 

don’ t want to put him on the spot 

unless he agrees, but officially  you 

ought not to know.” 53

Thus the first hurdle appeared, of how to 

deliver to the president a solid commitment 

from Clark “ unofficially.”

With one week remaining before the 

Court’s term began, time was running out, 

and Tom Clark appeared to be having second 

thoughts. Presumably, he had discussed the 

situation with Ramsey, who was adamant that 

his father remain on the Court. “ I think I ’ve 

gone about as far as I can go,”  Katzenbach 

reported. Clark still wanted Ramsey to be­

come attorney general, but perhaps he did 

not have to retire after all. This development 

threatened to derail Johnson’s plans, so he au­

thorized Katzenbach to speak surreptitiously 

to the chief justice to “ get a reaction out of 

him.” 54 Two days later, Johnson received his 

answer, but not the one he expected. In a note 

marked “ private,”  Clark wrote directly to the 

president, “ I understand that you wish me 

to stay on the Court.”  Incredulous, Johnson 

spluttered at Katzenbach, “ We haven’ t given 

him any impression we want him to stay on 

the Court a t a ll, have we?” Fumbling for 

an answer, Katzenbach said meekly, “ No sir, 

unless I did it by any inadvertence.”

Judged against future events, this may 

have been a trial balloon; Clark wanted to see 

if  he could keep his Court seat after Ramsey 

became attorney general. In his note to the 

president, Clark had presented a lineup of 

legal professionals—members of the Amer­

ican Bar Association, his brethren, even 

Katzenbach—who thought he could continue 

serving. Distraught over this development, 

Johnson was at a loss how to control the
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s itu atio n. He be cam e s u s p icio u s o f ce r tain 

justices who may have convinced Clark to 

stay, and he directed Katzenbach to speak 

to the others. The real problem, though, as 

Katzenbach reminded Johnson, was not the 

legal community but the general public, or 

who he called the “ less sophisticated people.”  

They would perceive an ethical problem, 

Katzenbach said, “ when a father’s sitting on 

his son’s cases.” That was the key, what 

ordinary people thought, and Johnson wanted 

both Tom and Ramsey Clark to realize it. 

“ This is a very serious problem,”  he said, “ I 

cannot in my judgment, as I see it, go this 

another round with him on the Court.”  There 

had to be a WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAqu id pro quo , but it had to be 

discreet and entirely deniable. “ I don’ t know 

how to get him word,”  Johnson groused, “ I 

don’ t know w ho to get him word.” 55

T he W aiting G am e

Predictably, Washington gossip, whether 

inadvertent or intentionally leaked, filled the 

nation’s newspapers. Nothing was concealed, 

no possibility or prognostication, making it 

impossible to ignore. For example, before 

the Court term opened, seasoned Washington 

correspondents Robert Allen and Paul Scott 

predicted if  Ramsey became attorney general 

then “ the retirement of his father from the 

Supreme Court would be certain to follow.” 56 

All  through October, press speculation fo­

cused on the likelihood of Ramsey’s becom­

ing attorney general and Tom Clark’s leaving 

the Court. The only exceptions were astute 

Washington insiders Drew Pearson and Jack 

Anderson, who questioned the impropriety of 

playing such games when there were other, 

arguably better-qualified candidates for attor­

ney general.57 Otherwise, a steady drumbeat 

of conjecture filled  news reports.

The struggle to open up a Court seat 

kept Johnson and Clark in the headlines, 

leading distinguished journalist Ruth Mont­

gomery to speculate accurately that the pres­

ident wanted to promote Ramsey, “ but only

if  Ramsey’s father resigns from the high­

est bench in the land.” For five months 

the nation waited, looking for any outward 

signs, including Tom Clark’s behavior on the 

bench.58 Reporters Allen and Scott saw a 

number of “ significant straws in the wind”  

indicating Ramsey would be nominated at­

torney general, including his Texas roots, 

which some saw as a liability. Reflecting the 

porousness of Washington secrecy, Allen and 

Scott reported on Tom Clark’s “ indifferent”  

health and that he had confided to “ intimates”  

his willingness to retire for Ramsey’s sake. 

Perhaps the most prescient prediction came 

from David Lawrence, founder of U .S . N ew s 

and W orld R eport, who expected Ramsey to 

become attorney general, his father to retire 

from the Court, and for Thurgood Marshall 

to replace him. But even Lawrence wondered 

about the question “ being asked frequently in 

Washington these days,”  because none of the 

principals had commented publicly.59

Needless to say, as the Court opened its 

term, public comment became unnecessary 

because Clark had privately but formally 

declared his intention to retire. This was 

the break Johnson needed, and it set in 

motion all that came afterward. Katzenbach 

and Fortas had been meeting with Clark to 

help him formulate his plans, and on the 

Court’s opening day, October 3, Fortas called 

to give the president the news. “ He wants 

you to know that if  and when it happens,”  

Fortas reported, “ that he will  feel it necessary 

to forthwith exercise his retirement rights.”  

Ramsey had just become the acting attorney 

general, and the president’s gambit had paid 

off.

Moreover, Clark intended to write a 

letter to Chief Justice Warren stating his 

intentions, which he did a few days later. 

Imagine the president’s gratification as Fortas 

read to him portions of Clark’s letter to 

the chief justice. “ In the event that Ramsey 

becomes Attorney General that it is my 

intention to retire from the Court.”  Reacting 

with intense relief, Johnson exclaimed, “ Well
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that’s it! WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT ha t’s it! ”  The first hurdle was 

overcome, making the next challenge Ram­

sey’s reaction. Reportedly, Clark intended to 

tell Ramsey about his letter to the chief 

justice at an upcoming World Series game, 

but that offered no assurance Ramsey would 

cooperate.60 A Court vacancy depended on 

Ramsey’s becom ing the attorney general, and 

Johnson was taking no chances.

Nearly four months elapsed between 

Ramsey’s becoming acting attorney general 

and Johnson’s first conversation with him 

about becoming the attorney general. In the 

meantime, there was foreboding that the 

Court’s term would become the most frac­

tious in half a decade. In fact, by the time the 

president had his conversation with Ramsey 

in late January 1967, the Court had already 

issued five decisions that split along ideo­

logical lines, including K eyish ian v. B oard 

o f  R egen ts, which involved university profes­

sors who had lost their jobs for refusing to 

attest to membership in “ subversive”  organi­

zations. Clark wrote an impassioned dissent 

for four conservative justices, accusing the 

majority of discarding 15 years of judicial 

precedents.61

Moreover, the Court remained under 

sustained attacks for its perceived liberal 

activism, particularly in the areas of deseg­

regation, school prayer, apportionment, ob­

scenity, and criminal procedure. Even though 

Clark had supported, even defended, some 

of the purported excesses of the Warren 

Court, he was still regarded as more a cen­

trist or conservative justice. Therefore, the 

prospect of his retirement posed potential 

political challenges for the president, who 

had recently vetoed an omnibus crime bill  

for D.C., leading to charges that he was lax 

on crime. Against this backdrop of increasing 

civil  unrest— rising crime, anti-war protests, 

urban riots—many Americans were wary 

about Clark leaving the Court. In fact, on 

the day Ramsey was nominated, he received 

a disgruntled note imploring him to turn it 

down. “ The country needs your father on the

Supreme Court a hell of a lot more than it 

needs you as Attorney General,” the writer 

declared. Content to agree, Ramsey sent the 

note to his father, remarking, “ This fellow ’s 

right!” 62

As Katzenbach had warned, Ramsey was 

as determined for his father to remain on 

the Court as Clark was to advance his son’s 

career. Now it was time for Johnson to 

make sure that Ramsey understood what was 

at stake. During an ordinary conversation 

about Justice Department matters, such as 

nominees for deputy attorney general, out 

of the blue the president asked, “ What are 

your thoughts about solicitor [general]?”  At  

first, Ramsey was stumped, admitting that 

he had not thought about it because there 

was no vacancy.63 Johnson was being coy, 

as though his interest was hypothetical, and 

he wondered if  the current solicitor general, 

Thurgood Marshall, would change the Court 

balance. “ Won’ t he just be in the liberal’s 

pocket up there 100 percent of the time?”  

he asked. Somewhat naively, Ramsey an­

swered that it depended on whom Marshall 

replaced: he was more liberal than Justice 

John M. Harlan but less liberal than Justice 

Hugo L. Black, save for civil rights. Of 

course, Johnson was not considering replac­

ing Harlan or Black, so he got straight to 

the point, asking, “ Do you think you can 

be attorney general with your daddy on the 

Court?”

At  first, Ramsey misunderstood the pres­

ident, thinking he wanted to know whether 

Ramsey could fulfill  his duties with his father 

on the Court. After fumbling for an answer, 

he finally said, “ I think other people ought 

to judge that really. I know as far as I ’m 

personally concerned, that that would not 

affect my judgment.”  Undoubtedly, Johnson 

meant something different, and as that re­

alization dawned on Ramsey, he continued 

to flounder. “ I ’d hate to see dad get off  the 

Court,”  he said, “ I think he’s at the height 

of his judicial power.”  This must have been 

the moment Ramsey had dreaded, defying
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the p re s ide nt, s o he tr ie d to p re s e nt it as 

p o litically advantage o u s .

[Clark] m o re than any o the r m e m be r 

o f the Co u r t s tands fo r a lo t o f things 

that the Am e r ican p u blic is p re tty 

s tro ng fo r r ight no w— tough law 

enforcement, things where I really 

don’ t agree with him, but I think 

from the standpoint of  your business 

that you’d hate to lose that. I think 

the police community and that some 

other conservative areas, why, dad 

ranks awfully high with people. For 

you to replace him with a liberal 

would hurt you.64

This was not what Johnson wanted to 

hear. He was not seeking a recommendation, 

because his mind was made up. Furthermore, 

he was not about to reveal how well he under­

stood Tom Clark’s intentions, which Fortas 

had conveniently shared months earlier. So he 

put it bluntly to Ramsey. “ In my judgment, 

if  you were, if  you became attorney general, 

he’d WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAhave to leave the Court, if  for no other 

reason than the public appearance of the old 

man sitting on his boy’s case. Every taxi 

driver in the country would tell me that the 

old man isn’ t judging fairly, and his own boy’s 

sending them up.” 65 Public appearance had 

been the key all along; a guileful politician 

such as Johnson understood that, and now 

he wanted Ramsey to accept it. To press 

his point, Johnson expressed regret at losing 

Clark, saying, “ I think you lose the best friend 

we got on the Court, I think the best philo­

sophically speaking.... I think he believes 

about what I believe.” 66 Of course, Johnson’s 

professed regret was transparently insincere, 

considering how he then discussed Marshall’s 

views with Ramsey and how liberal justices 

would have “ a field day.”  It must have been 

discomforting for Ramsey to listen to the 

president plot a course to which he objected. 

His only recourse was to decline, but Johnson 

had a plan for that as well.67

T h e  A n n o u n c e m e n t

On Tuesday, February 28, 1967, Johnson 

spent part of his morning lining up support 

for the nomination he planned to make later 

that day. Justice Clark, too, had been making 

arrangements, preparing a press statement 

that he intended to release shortly after 

the president’s announcement. First, Johnson 

called James Eastland, the Senate Judiciary 

Committee chairman, to gain his support 

for Ramsey’s nomination and to gauge his 

reaction to Clark’s retirement. Like other 

politicians and jurists, Eastland saw no con­

flict  of interest. “ Of  course, your average man 

will  not discern the difference,” he told the 

president, “ and won’ t accept the explanation 

that it ’s the solicitor general [before the 

Court].” Trotting out the same excuse he 

had used before, Johnson painted the public 

reaction. “ I would imagine they’d say, ‘ Well, 

the old man’s gonna be for his boy.’ That’s 

what they’d say in Johnson City. They’d say, 

‘God damn, don’ t you tell me the old man 

ain’ t gonna be for his boy.’ ” Undoubtedly, 

the public reaction was less consequential 

than Ramsey’s, and Eastland reminded the 

president of  the likely  outcome. “ I understand 

Ramsey says he won’t take it,” Eastland 

warned, “ Peyton Ford tells me Ramsey won’ t 

take it at all if  it means his father would 

have to retire.”  Johnson merely brushed this 

aside; he had already anticipated as much and 

had made preparation. Not that he disclosed 

it to Eastland, any more than he disclosed 

knowing exactly what Tom Clark intended 

to do. “ I would imagine he will  resign from 

the Court,”  Johnson speculated, adding, “ he’s 

never told me that.” 68

Once Johnson had Eastland’s assent, he 

called Everett Dirksen to shore up Republi­

can support. Unaware that the announcement 

was planned for later that day, initially  Dirk ­

sen hesitated to back Ramsey. After seeing 

him in action, Dirksen confessed, “ I couldn’ t 

quite make up my mind whether he had that 

legal robustness that you’d like to have in
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an atto rne y ge ne ral.” Again, Johnson was 

not seeking recommendations; he planned to 

nominate Ramsey and he needed Dirksen on 

board.69 After Dirksen came around, the table 

was set and all that remained was to serve up 

Ramsey as quickly as possible.

Later that afternoon, Ramsey received a 

call to go to the White House. As he recalled, 

while sitting with the president in the Oval 

Office, the press corps entered suddenly. 

Undeniably, it  had been pre-arranged to catch 

him off-guard. Without warning, Johnson 

announced, “ I want you to observe as I sign 

the nominating papers for Ramsey Clark to 

be Attorney General.”  After the papers were 

signed and a few remarks, Johnson dismissed 

the newsmen, telling them, “ If  you have any 

questions, Mr. Clark will  be outside to answer 

them in just a couple of minutes.” 70 It was a 

masterstroke of timing, designed to prevent 

Ramsey from declining. While he stood by 

watching Johnson sign his nomination pa­

pers, he had no time to process, let alone 

consider how to respond before being pushed 

in front of a news conference. Clearly by 

design, the only person unprepared for the 

announcement was Ramsey.

The WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAcoup de grace arrived shortly after 

Ramsey’s nomination when Justice Clark 

released his press statement. “ Mrs. Clark 

and I are filled with both pride and joy 

over Ramsey’s nomination by the President 

to become the Attorney General,”  it began. 

Clark was not yet prepared to indicate when 

his retirement became effective, whether at 

the end of the Court’s term or immediately 

upon Ramsey’s confirmation. He intended to 

review the Court’s remaining docket to see 

if  there would be “ any possible conflicts.”  

However, he did reveal— for the first time 

publicly— that he had conveyed his decision 

to the chief justice at the start of the term to 

step aside for his son as soon as the president 

acted.71
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Eve n tho u gh the y had ne ve r s p o ke n to 

e ach o the r dire ctly , Jo hns o n and Clark bo th 

kne w the ine vitable o u tco m e . At the ne ws o f 

Clark’s retirement, the president innocently 

told reporters that he had not discussed any 

potential conflicts with either of the Clarks, 

leaving Ramsey somewhat at a loss. He 

had been unaware of his father’s decision 

beforehand, even though he continued to 

maintain publicly it was unnecessary.72 At  

that point, it was too late. As one Marshall 

biographer correctly surmised, “ The timing 

of  the announcements seemed to indicate that 

a deal had been cut.”  If  there was such a deal, 

Ramsey never knew about it.73

Following Ramsey’s nomination, Tom 

Clark considered and composed his retire­

ment letter to the president. In his earliest 

draft, he explicated the cases remaining on 

the Court’s docket as justification for his 

decision to continue serving until the end 

of the term. By the time he presented his 

letter in mid-March, however, none of  that re­

mained. Instead, Clark simply expressed his 

gratitude to Presidents Roosevelt and Truman 

for advancing his Justice Department and 

Supreme Court careers. At the urging of the 

Clerk of the Court, John Davis, who assisted 

Clark with his letter, he also lauded Johnson, 

who had “ served with higher distinction and 

for longer tenure”  than his own 30 years of 

government service.74 On Clark’s last day, 

Monday, June 12, he delivered his final opin­

ion for the Court, WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB erger v. N ew Y ork .15 Later 

that evening, he attended a retirement party in 

his honor, where the guests included Ramsey, 

the president, and Thurgood Marshall, who 

Johnson planned to nominate the next day. 

This time, Ramsey was in on the secret, so 

when he informed Marshall to report to the 

White House, he knew what the president had 

planned.76

B r in g in g  C la r k  B a c k ?

Johnson’s machinations to change the 

Court’s composition had succeeded twice. He

had convinced Goldberg to leave in order 

to turn his seat over to Fortas, and he had 

arranged Clark’s departure in order to make 

the historic Marshall appointment. Therefore, 

the first time a Court vacancy presented 

itself that Johnson had no t designed was in 

June 1968 when Chief Justice Earl Warren 

submitted his retirement. Warren, who had 

been eligible for retirement at full salary 

for nearly five years, had decided to step 

aside in order to allow Johnson to choose 

his successor. Although he cited his age at 

77 as his principal reason, Warren did not 

want a potential Republican—especially the 

presidential frontrunner Richard Nixon— to 

make the choice. However, the president’s 

decision not to seek reelection complicated 

both Warren’s plans and Johnson’s options.

Anti-war sentiment had increased amid 

widespread civil unrest, due in part to the 

recent assassination of Martin Luther King, 

Jr., and Democratic Party divisions had been 

riven further by the assassination of Senator 

Robert Kennedy. This gave Nixon’s “ law 

and order” campaign a good chance of 

succeeding. Accordingly, Warren gave the 

president the greatest possible latitude, indi­

cating that his retirement became “ effective 

at your pleasure.” In other words, Warren 

remained available and continued as chief 

justice throughout the Court’s summer recess 

possibly into the next term, depending upon 

when a successor was confirmed. If  Johnson 

failed to secure an appointment during the re­

maining seven months of his presidency, his 

Republican rivals most likely would choose 

the next chief justice.

That was the situation Johnson faced in 

June 1968 when he called Senate Judiciary 

chairman James Eastland to discuss potential 

nominees. Warren’s replacement was never 

in doubt, as Johnson immediately thought of 

Fortas, who had always aspired to the center 

chair. The dilemma facing the president—  

beyond obvious lame duck considerations—  

was choosing someone to fill  Fortas’ vacated 

seat. A balanced pair of nominees stood a
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be tte r chance o f Se nate ap p ro val than did 

Fo r tas o n his o wn. Jo hns o n had garne re d 

wave r ing s u p p o r t fo r Fo r tas fro m o the r ke y 

s e nato rs , no tably m ino r ity le ade r Eve re tt 

Dirks e n and chair o f the p o we r fu l Se nate 

Arm e d Se rvice s Co m m itte e , Richard Ru s s e ll 

(D-GA), who led southern Democrats. Their 

support was essential to stave off  a potential 

filibuster.77 Now the president wanted East- 

land to review options with him to find the 

best possible “ package,”  one that, as Johnson 

put it, “ would be satisfactory to all of them, 

that wouldn’ t make the Democrats too mad 

but would be satisfactory to the Republicans. 

That’s a key vote, and it ’s got to be a key 

man.” 78

During the course of their conversation, 

Johnson’s mind meandered from one pos­

sibility to another, and it was difficult to 

discern whether he was genuinely exploring 

options or sounding out Eastland to see if  

their preferences matched. One idea that 

repeatedly crept into the president’s discourse 

was to refuse to accept Warren’s resigna­

tion, sparing Johnson the turmoil of making 

a nomination. “ If  [Vice President Hubert] 

Humphrey’s elected,” he said at one point, 

“ why he could name him, and if  Nixon’s 

elected, why, Warren could go on and serve it 

out.”  Undoubtedly, Johnson was not seriously 

passing up the chance to name the next 

chief justice, but his status as a lame duck 

probably weighed on him. He told Eastland 

about a recent editorial recounting how, just 

before leaving office, President John Adams 

had named John Marshall chief justice, and 

Johnson was determined to see this through. 

At times, he toyed with the idea of returning 

Arthur Goldberg to the Court, but he knew 

two liberal-minded justices would not pass 

Senate muster, and he did not want to have to 

“ bull it through.”  As enticing as it sounded, 

Goldberg was out of the question. “ I just 

think that the Republicans would raise hell, 

and the southern democrats would raise hell,”  

the president grouched. “ Of  course, Goldberg 

[would] raise hell if  I don’ t do it! ” 79

Another possibility bandied about was 

returning Tom Clark to the Court, which was 

Eastland’s preferred option initially. Johnson 

approached it as an “ outrageous”  idea, but he 

said, “ There would be a lot of strange things 

these days.”  Obviously, returning Clark to the 

Court presented another perceived conflict 

with Ramsey serving as attorney general, 

meaning that Ramsey would be forced to 

resign this time. That was not nearly as 

preposterous as it sounded, and Johnson and 

Eastland considered it from several angles. 

Clearly, forcing Ramsey to resign to assure 

Fortas’ confirmation as chief justice was no 

different, in Johnson’s mind, from forcing 

Clark to resign to appoint Thurgood Mar­

shall. Manipulating the Clarks had become 

habit forming. “ I  don’ t know what the liberals 

would say about throwing Ramsey out and 

putting his daddy back in,”  Johnson reflected, 

“ and I don’t know whether he would do it or 

not. I don’t know, but I believe Tom’s pretty 

noncontroversial among the Republicans and 

among the Southerners.”  Eastland agreed, but 

he wondered, “ Would that be treating Ramsey 

right?”

As far as Eastland was concerned, Ram­

sey could continue as attorney general with­

out creating a conflict, but Johnson balked 

at the idea. “ No, they won’ t allow that at 

all, neither one of them would do it on that 

basis.” Advancing Tom Clark’s prospects, 

Eastland suggested he might not need Senate 

confirmation, an especially attractive option, 

considering it applied to Fortas as well. That 

was out of the question. “ The country might 

look upon it as kind of a Texas trick or 

something,” Johnson protested, “ Man leave 

the Court and then come back on the Court. 

That might be bad.”  As a final appeal for Tom 

Clark’s return, Eastland reminded Johnson of 

his reported dissatisfaction with his attorney 

general, saying, “ There have been many 

rumors to get rid of Ramsey.” 80

It was no secret that Johnson had been 

at odds with his attorney general over ev­

erything from wiretapping to the war in
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Vie tnam . The p re s ide nt had be e n dis m ay e d 

whe n Ram s e y re fu s e d to p ro s e cu te civil 

r ights activis t Sto ke ly Carm ichae l fo llo wing 

r io ting du r ing the lo ng ho t s u m m e r o f 1967, 

and the following year Johnson had lost 

patience with Ramsey’s tolerance of the poor 

people’s campaign and the presence of  Resur­

rection City on the National Mall. Originally 

conceived by Martin Luther King, Jr., the 

poor people’s campaign had brought upward 

of five thousand protestors to Washington, 

D.C., where they camped for six weeks in 

ramshackle shelters. Resurrection City, as it 

was called, appalled the president. He told 

Eastland, “ I ’ve wanted [Ramsey] to be a little  

tougher on the law and order stuff, and these 

damn Resurrection City, and I wanted him 

to be a little tougher on the subversives than 

he is.” 81 However, creating a vacancy for 

attorney general proved too much, and Tom 

Clark’s return to the Court stalled.

Eventually, Johnson returned to the op­

tion he personally favored, although he pre­

ferred “ to go somewhere else”  besides Texas, 

if  he could. Judge Homer Thornberry ap­

peared the most attractive alternative, given 

that he had legislative and judicial experi­

ence, was a progressive southern Democrat, 

and provided a good balance to Fortas’ more 

controversial nomination. Besides, Thorn- 

berry and Johnson had been good friends 

for decades, so despite potential charges of 

cronyism the president knew where he stood. 

“ I know that Homer would be very much 

like Tom Clark,”  Johnson said, “ I don’ t think 

he’d be brilliant, I don’ t think he’d be ex­

ceptionally outstanding, but they tell me that 

lawyers like him on the court.”  Even though 

Eastland preferred Clark for the Court, John­

son went in a different direction. “ If  I had 

my druthers,” he said, “ and didn’ t have to 

bother with you and Dirksen and [Senate 

majority leader Mike] Mansfield and all the 

newspapers, I ’d name Homer Thornberry.”  

With the president’s mind made up, Eastland 

promised to find out how Senators might 

react to Fortas and Thornberry.

A  few days later, as soon as the president 

had announced the nominations, Tom Clark 

congratulated Thornberry. “ It is good to have 

a Texan there again,”  he wrote, “ and it could 

not have happened to a better person.” 82 

Needless to say, Clark’s enthusiasm was 

misplaced, as was Johnson’s confidence 

that Fortas could overcome an embittered 

Senate fight. The Fortas fiasco, as it has been 

remembered, faced sustained opposition, 

led in part by Senator Robert Griffin (R- 

MI), who stood firm  against any lame duck 

appointment. Just as significant, the Fortas 

nomination evoked intense hostility. As 

Eastland later observed, he “ had never seen 

so much feeling against a man as against 

Fortas.” There was plenty of resentment to 

go around, stemming from anti-Semitism to 

the Court’s recent liberal activism.

Of course, Fortas made the situation 

worse by agreeing to testify before the Senate 

Judiciary Committee, where he lied under 

oath about his intimate relationship advising 

the president. Russell then accused the presi­

dent of holding hostage one of Russell’s can­

didates for a federal judgeship, even though it 

had been Ramsey Clark who objected to the 

nominee, and Johnson lost Russell’s support 

with the votes to block a filibuster. Once 

Russell joined Griffin in bipartisan opposi­

tion, Fortas’ nomination was doomed. When 

the Judiciary Committee returned for more 

hearings later in the fall following campaign 

delays, it learned that Fortas had engaged in 

questionable dealings by accepting payments 

to teach summer seminars at American Uni­

versity. Although the Judiciary Committee 

reported his nomination favorably, a filibuster 

ensued, effectively ending Fortas’ chances.83

With slightly less than a week remaining 

before the Court term opened, Fortas’ fate 

was certain. The Senate vote to invoke cloture 

passed by a bare majority (45 to 43), far short 

of the two-thirds needed to end debate. As a 

result, Fortas asked Johnson to withdraw his 

nomination. Fortas would retain his seat, but 

who would become the next chief justice was
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s till u nre s o lve d. Dis co nte nte d with s o u the rn 

De m o crats and co ns e rvative Re p u blicans fo r 

de ny ing Fo r tas the chie f justiceship, Johnson 

briefly countenanced making another nomi­

nation. Time was quickly running out, and he 

needed to find someone who could satisfy the 

broadest political spectrum. On the same day 

as the cloture vote, the president told Dirksen 

his bold idea. “ I don’ t want you to mention 

this to another human,”  Johnson said, “ What 

if  we sent Tom Clark up there to act as 

chief justice?”  The idea had merit, Dirksen 

answered. “ Well, he’s served before,”  he said, 

“ and the fact that he’s off  [the Court] doesn’ t 

make any difference, he just goes right back 

on.” 84

Johnson seemed to be grasping at straws 

after failing to appreciate Republican tenacity 

to have the next president name the chief 

justice. Hoping to placate his erstwhile ally, 

he offered Dirksen the prospect of several 

Court nominations in the near future on 

the probability of Nixon winning the elec­

tion. “ You’re going to get [Hugo] Black,”  

he said, “ He’s eighty-four, and he can’ t go 

on.... You’ve got [William]  Douglas, who’s 

got a bad heart. You’ve got [John] Harlan, 

who’s got eye trouble.”  Johnson thought most 

southerners would support Clark for chief 

justice, as would most conservatives, and 

he appeared unconcerned about losing his 

attorney general. After all, two acting attor­

neys general already had served for longer 

than what remained of his term. “ Could you 

support Clark?”  he asked Dirksen. “ I could,”  

his friend answered.85

As soon as Johnson withdrew Fortas’ 

name from consideration, news reports in­

dicated that the White House was seeking 

Senate support for another nomination. That 

Johnson finally relented to the inevitable 

without submitting another name should not 

discount these efforts. Tom Clark in par­

ticular was mentioned by “ reliable Capital 

sources,”  because the Democratic controlled 

Senate “ would unite and confirm a nominee 

like [him].” 86 In addition, Johnson discussed

the possibility of submitting another nomina­

tion with several aides who were “ not usually 

close to the judicial selection process.”  One 

of those aides suggested Clark, as did one 

of the president’s oldest friends, Willard Dea­

son, who had known Johnson since their days 

at college. Deason could imagine a nation 

with a “ glow in its heart at the thought of the 

son now stepping down in deference to the 

Father.” 87

Whether Clark would accept the nomi­

nation was highly doubtful, particularly if  it 

meant forcing his son out as attorney general. 

However, Johnson was not going to let that 

stand in his way. Shortly after speaking with 

Dirksen, he called Ramsey to share the sub­

stance of his earlier conversation, including 

Dirksen’s support for returning Tom Clark to 

the Court. For nearly four minutes, Johnson 

spoke uninterruptedly, developing his ratio­

nale for bringing Clark back. “ I said [to 

Dirksen], ‘ Well, we made Tom Clark resign 

... when we named Ramsey attorney general. 

We just got two or three months left. What 

if  [Tom] went back up there and became 

chief?” ’ Ramsey undoubtedly understood his 

father’s sacrifice, and here he was listening to 

the president outline his own, potential sacri­

fice. “ I think the question we got to look at 

sixty-nine years of age,”  Johnson continued, 

“ Course, that helps him a little bit with the 

Republicans ... he might not want to go but 

two or three or four years, but he would be 

a bridge, he’d be kind of a mediator, he’d be 

pulled in to salve both sides, and be fair.” 88

Again, Johnson was grappling to find 

a way out of the Fortas fiasco, and he 

seemed unconcerned with—or oblivious to—  

how this might affect his attorney general. 

“ So why don’ t we just take one that’s really on 

the Court now?”  he asked. “ He just stepped 

off because his boy was attorney general. 

Let him go in there, and he’s familiar with 

it, he doesn’ t have to learn the ropes again, 

become familiar with how to be chief justice, 

and he can serve three, four years, whatever 

time he wants.” When the president finally
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finis he d, afte r te lling his be wilde re d atto rne y 

ge ne ral to think it o ve r , all Ram s e y co u ld 

o ffe r was that his fathe r’s relationship with 

the president, as well as his Texas roots, made 

the possibility problematic.89

A f t e r w a r d

Ultimately, Richard Nixon won the pres­

idency, and he chose Judge Warren E. Burger 

to replace Earl Warren, who continued as 

chief justice through one final term. Tom 

Clark remained in retirement, where he sat by 

designation on lower federal courts all over 

the country.90 Abe Fortas became embroiled 

in another ethical scandal that eventually led 

to his Court resignation, and Nixon twice 

attempted to fill  Fortas’ vacated seat, but 

each time Senate Democrats rebuffed him, in 

part due to partisan retaliation over Fortas’ 

failed nomination for chief justice. Ramsey 

Clark returned to private practice, where he 

found time to compose a book that reflected 

portions of his Justice Department career 

called aZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBACrim e  in  Am erica.

In his book, Ramsey took aim at the FBI 

and its director, J. Edgar Hoover, a stalwart 

of  Washington political intrigue after heading 

the Bureau for over 45 years. In one critical 

passage, Ramsey wrote, “ The FBI has so 

coveted personal credit that it will  sacrifice 

even effective crime control before it will  

share the glory of its exploits.”  According to 

Ramsey, “ This has been a petty and costly 

characteristic,” and Hoover, whose “ exces­

sive domination”  and “ self-centered concern 

for his [own] reputation,”  was to blame.91

In a scathing review of Crim e  in  Am er ­

ica, renowned political scientist James Q. 

Wilson, who considered it more partisan than 

political, dismissed Ramsey’s attack on the 

FBI as folly. “ Picking a public fight with J. 

Edgar Hoover,”  Wilson observed, “ not only 

makes it harder to secure Clark’s objective 

of Mr. Hoover’s resignation, it also puts 

Mr. Clark on the losing end of a popular­

ity contest.” 92 Iconic radio broadcaster Paul

Harvey had a similar reaction to Ramsey’s 

contretemps, writing, “ If  [Ramsey] Clark is, 

as some say, seeking a national following 

which might propel him to national political 

prominence in 1972, he should never have 

gone lion hunting with a pea-shooter.” 93 Of 

course, Harvey may have had other motives 

for defending Hoover, as he and Hoover 

had been friends for decades. As reported 

by the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ash ing ton P ost in 2010 after Har­

vey’s death, Harvey often submitted advance 

copies of his radio scripts to Hoover for 

comment and approval. Hoover unleashed 

his indignation in a rare public interview, 

calling Ramsey a “ jellyfish” and a “ softie”  

and adding that “ if  ever there was a worse 

attorney general [than Robert Kennedy, to 

whom Hoover had stopped speaking while 

still in office] it  was Ramsey Clark. You never 

knew which way he was going to flop on 

an issue.” 94 Although this public clash in 

fall 1970 had grabbed headlines, it hardly 

detracted from Ramsey’s earnestness or his 

idealism. As one trenchant critic of Crim e  

in Am erica conceded, “ It would be a pity 

if  his book were remembered only for his 

bitter controversy with the indomitable Mr. 

Hoover.” 95

Soon enough, Tom Clark was prepared 

to stick up for his son. Using notes he had 

prepared in advance and speaking by phone 

from San Francisco where he was assigned 

to judge a federal district court trial, he 

acknowledged that when he was attorney 

general, he had had some problems with 

Hoover, but he said, “ I never aired them 

publicly.”  Clark and Hoover had been friends 

for over thirty years, but he found Hoover’s 

squabble with Ramsey unbecoming. “ We’re 

both getting pretty old,”  he said, “ perhaps too 

old.” Reluctant to dwell on personalities or 

petty differences, Clark regarded the conflict 

“ like a hot cup of coffee. It ought to sit in a 

saucer for a while to cool off.”  Despite their 

differences, Tom and Ramsey Clark were 

devoted to each other, which had been clearly 

displayed earlier that year in an appearance
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to ge the r o n “ Me e t the Pre s s .” Clark was 

not going to tolerate Hoover’s disparagement, 

and he defended his son, saying, “ Ramsey is 

not any Mr. Milquetoast. He’s always spoken 

up. I ’ve never known him to dodge any 

issue.” 96 Ramsey may have served less than 

two years as attorney general, but he still had 

political aspirations. His father had sacrificed 

his Court seat to advance Ramsey’s career, 

and he was not going to let a little name­

calling stand in the way of  Ramsey’s future.97
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I n t r o d u c t io n WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

R osenberger v. R ecto r &  V isito rs o fsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

U n iv . o f V irg in ia (1995), decided by the 

Supreme Court a quarter-century ago,1 ad­

dressed a key tension in the religious liberties 

doctrine. The case represented the collision 

of two lines of cases. “ No Aid”  cases such 

as L em on v. K urtzm an (1971)2 stood for the 

premise that funding of religion is explic­

itly  prohibited. A  conflicting line of “ Equal 

Access” cases, beginning with W idm ar v. 

V incen t (1981),3 stood for the proposition 

that the government could not exclude re­

ligious groups from open forums. R osen­

berger, a challenge brought by a student at 

the University of Virginia, answered which 

line of cases would win out in this clash. Not 

only did R osenberger dictate that the Equal 

Access cases would trump the No Aid  cases, 

but it also extended the conclusions of the 

Equal Access cases. R osenberger, for the first 

time, announced that the neutrality principle 

of equal access to resources extended not 

only to facilities but also to public funding. 

This is a crucial allowance, and reflections 

of this expansion can be seen in recent 

cases.

R osenberger also represents an impor­

tant part of doctrinal trends in the religion 

context. As a whole, funding cases represent 

an area in which there has been a fair amount 

of doctrinal convergence, largely on the prin­

ciple of neutrality.4 R osenberger foreshad­

owed this rise of the principle of neutrality. 

R osenberger is also a turning point in the pre­

dominant doctrinal pivot from the position in 

early cases in which the key question was “ to 

what extent is the state forbidden from sup­

porting religion”  to a point in which the key 

question is now “ to what extent is the state 

required to support religion.” 5 R osenberger 

therefore represents an interesting inflection 

point as an early case asking essentially the 

latter question. The case is likewise a salient 

and early example of a trend toward a steady 

“ unraveling”  of limits on aid.6

O n  S h i f t i n g  G r o u n d :  T h e  L a n d s c a p e  

P r e - Rosenberger

The doctrinal framework and litiga­

tion strategy that led to R osenberger origi­

nated years earlier. The case beginning the 

Supreme Court’s Establishment Clause ju­

risprudence in earnest was announced in
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1947. WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAE verson v. B oard o f E duca tion in­

volved public funds being spent on reim­

bursement for busing children to parochial 

schools.7 Justice Hugo L. Black, writing for 

the Court, discussed the inherent tension at 

issue: first, the state is bound by a no-aid 

principle, but at the same time, religious in­

dividuals cannot be excluded from receiving 

general public benefits. The Court’s jurispru­

dence has developed considerably since then, 

but the concerns at stake in E verson inform 

questions still at issue today.8

While E verson marks the beginning of 

modern Establishment Clause jurisprudence, 

the specific line of cases leading up to R osen­

berger began with W idm ar v. V incen t. In W id­

m ar, the University of Missouri prevented 

a religious group from meeting in Univer­

sity buildings. The district court upheld the 

restriction, finding that it was required by 

non-establishment principles.9 The Supreme 

Court ruled against the University, holding 

that once it had created a forum that was 

“ generally open to student groups,”  exclud­

ing the religious group was impermissible 

content-based discrimination.10 W idm ar cre­

ated a model litigation strategy for plaintiffs, 

and this basic structure would be repeated 

in a line of cases christened the “ Equal 

Access” cases, including L am b’s C hapel v. 

C en ter M oriches U n ion F ree Schoo l D istr ic t, 

R osenberger, and G ood N ew s C lub v. M il ­

fo rd C en tra l Schoo l. The W idm ar formula 

involved challenging a public institution’s 

restriction on the use of its resources or 

facilities by raising a free speech challenge 

to exclusion from a public forum.

L am b’s C hapel, another installment in 

this line, followed blueprint. There, New York 

law allowed local districts to regulate after- 

hours use of schools but prohibited use for 

religious purposes.11 An evangelical church 

that was denied access challenged the regu­

lation. As in W idm ar, the district court up­

held the regulation on Establishment Clause 

grounds, and as in W idm ar, the Supreme 

Court held that the exclusion of the religious

group was an impermissible violation of free 

speech principles.12

However, the principles of this line of 

cases were in some tension with another 

constellation of cases expressly prohibiting 

government aid to religion, especially in the 

context of funding.13 Notable cases advanc­

ing this perspective included L em on v. K urtz- 

m an and C om m ittee fo r P ub lic E duca tion 

&  R elig ious L iberty v. N yqu ist.14 To some 

extent, these two lines of cases came to a 

head in R osenberger, as the Court was forced 

to confront whether equal access or no-aid 

principles would govern.15

T h e  P a t h  o f  t h e  C a s e

Like many other colleges and universi­

ties, the University of Virginia funds student 

activities through a Student Activities Fund 

(SAF).16 The process began in 1946 but 

was codified for the first time in 1968.17 

SAF funds are collected by a mandatory fee 

from students; at the time of the R osenberger 

case, this fee was $14 per semester.18 In 

order to receive funding, an organization 

must obtain Student Council approval as a 

Contracted Independent Organization (CIO). 

While students on the Student Council allo­

cate funding, the non-student Board of Vis­

itors (BOV) sets the guidelines for funding. 

CIO-classified organizations and groups are 

then eligible for reimbursement from the 

SAF.19 However, regardless of CIO status, 

the Board guidelines exclude certain activi­

ties from receiving SAF reimbursement. In 

1990-91, the funding guidelines excluded 

funding for a “ religious activity,” defined 

as an activity that “ primarily promotes or 

manifests a particular belie[f] in or about a 

deity or an ultimate reality.” 20

In 1990-91, there were 343 CIOs, 135 

of which applied for SAF funding,21 and 118 

received the funding. Notably, conflict over 

SAF subsidies predated the litigation. Just a 

few years prior to R osenberger, a separate 

funding issue embroiled the SAF, and by
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extension, the Student Council. In 1989, the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
V irg in ia A dvoca te , a political publication, 

was denied funding based on the guidelines’ 

ban on financing political activities.22 The 

A dvoca te appealed the funding decision and 

succeeded in a challenge that made national 

news.23 The Student Council reversed its 

decision to deny funding after it decided 

that “ publishing anything is an expression, 

not activity”  and that “ essentially any pub­

lication that wants to exist is eligible for 

funding.” 24

A  year later, in 1990, University of Vir ­

ginia student Ronald Rosenberger founded 

and became the publisher of W ide A w ake, 

a magazine “ of philosophical and religious 

expression.” 25 The magazine aimed to “ fa­

cilitate discussion which fosters an atmo­

sphere of sensitivity to and tolerance of 

Christian viewpoints”  and to “ provide a uni­

fying focus for Christians of multicultural 

[backgrounds].” 26 In January 1991, W ide 

A w ake applied for $5,862 in funding from the

SAF to finance the printing of  its magazine,27 

setting in motion the R osenberger case.

B e g in n in g s

The events that precipitated the filing  

of the R osenberger case occurred fairly  

rapidly, partially because individuals on both 

sides of the litigation understood the po­

tential stakes. When W ide A w ake applied 

for funding in early 1991, Student Council 

members quickly perceived potential prob­

lems and acted to involve the administration. 

After receiving W ide A w ake’s funding re­

quest, Cynthia Wilbricht, Vice President for 

Student Organizations, contacted the Office 

of the General Counsel of the University, 

sending a copy of the magazine and seeking 

guidance about whether or not W ide A w ake 

could be funded, both under the guidelines 

and according to constitutional law.28 The 

University’s General Counsel, James Mingle, 

was clear that W ide A w ake, as a producer of a
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“ pervasively religious pamphlet,”  was a “ re­

ligious activity”  that could not be funded.29 

Thirteen days later, Wilbricht sent official 

notification to Rosenberger that WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ide A w ake 

would not receive funding.30

W ide A w ake responded the very same 

day, by distributing a press release stating 

its intent to appeal.31 While some scholars 

have reported that lawyers did not begin 

assisting Rosenberger until months later at 

the district court,32 in fact, W ide A w ake 

quickly retained legal counsel while within 

the internal University processes. By March 

3, mere weeks after the denial of fund­

ing, Rosenberger and W ide A w ake submitted 

their appeal with Michael McDonald of the 

Center for Individual Rights (CIR) as their 

attorney.33 CIR, an advocacy group based 

in Washington, D.C., was founded in part 

to be a conservative counterweight to liberal 

litigation groups such as the ACLU.34 The 

appeal W ide A w ake submitted with McDon­

ald’s assistance specifically referenced the 

V irg in ia A dvoca te’s earlier appeal and cited 

the decision that “ publishing anything is an 

expression, not activity” as precedent that 

W ide A w ake should receive funding.35

On March 18, McDonald contacted the 

Student Council and the BOV on behalf 

of his clients, threatening litigation if  the 

funding was not approved.36 As a result, 

Mingle reported to the Board on March 22, 

discussing the possibility of “ potential litiga­

tion,”  but he expressed his opinion that the 

funding decision was legally appropriate.37 

Despite the prospect of litigation, on April  

16, Ronald Stump, the Associate Dean of 

Students, wrote Rosenberger to inform him 

officially  that his appeal was denied and that 

W ide A w ake would not be funded as a result 

of its status as a “ religious activity.” 38 W ide 

A w ake again took to the court of public 

opinion, openly accusing the Student Council 

of “ hypocrisy.” 39

McDonald wrote directly to the mem­

bers of the BOV, informing them of his 

clients’ intent to file suit if  the Board did not

overturn the funding decision.40 Mingle also 

contacted the Board, reiterating his stance 

from the March 22 meeting that the funding 

decision was appropriate and was anchored 

in the requirements of the Establishment 

Clause.41 He reached this conclusion af­

ter consulting with other lawyers, including 

University of Virginia law professor John 

Jeffries, who “ concurred”  that “ the funding 

denial is legally defensible.” 42 The Board 

ultimately affirmed the Student Council’s 

rejection of funding.

As a result, in May, McDonald wrote 

to Mingle, again discussing his plan to sue 

over the denial of funding to W ide A w ake 

but also writing that he hoped they could 

meet “ to avoid unnecessary litigation.” 43 Be­

fore that meeting, Mingle consulted with 

Robert O’Neil, a lawyer, constitutional law 

scholar, and former University of Virginia 

President, as well as (again) with Jeffries. 

After these consultations, Mingle reflected on 

the University’s position, noting that “ while 

I do not relish the prospect of the Univer­

sity becoming entangled in a constitutional 

dispute ... I believe that the Board’s guide­

lines on the Student Activity Fee ... are 

legally correct and defensible.” 44 Mingle and 

McDonald met in May in Charlottesville in 

a meeting which appears to have been the 

beginning of a strained relationship; years 

later, McDonald remained disgruntled that 

Mingle “ dug in his heels”  and made “ us drive 

to Charlottesville.” 45 After their conversation 

about the case, Mingle was not entirely 

certain W ide A w ake would continue with the 

litigation; he noted that the lawyers claimed 

that they would file a lawsuit, but he was 

not sure “ [wjhether this reflected posturing or 

serious resolve.” 46 Mingle would soon get his 

answer when W ide A w ake promptly filed suit 

in the federal district court.

A  few aspects of  the beginning of  the liti ­

gation are significant. First, this opening nar­

rative answers questions some scholars had 

raised about the authenticity of the Univer­

sity’s asserted justifications for the Board’s



T H E  U N E X P L O R E D  H IS T O R Y  O F  ROSENBERGER D E C IS IO N i l l srqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

funding guidelines.47 The record of private 

correspondence between Mingle, Stump, and 

the BOV suggests the reasons they officially  

asserted regarding the University’s educa­

tional mission and its interpretation of the 

Establishment Clause were genuine represen­

tations of their understandings.48 Correcting 

misconceptions that had identified Jeffries as 

actively litigating the case for the Univer­

sity, an accurate picture of the University 

legal team shows that at this stage Jeffries 

was only minimally involved as a “ sidelines 

consultant.” 49 The record also shows that 

McDonald and CIR were involved much 

earlier in the case than has been previously 

recognized by some. The record reveals that 

McDonald and CIR had an immediate and 

primary role in shaping the litigation.

An accurate understanding of CIR’s in­

fluential position at the case’s nascence is im­

portant both for understanding the trajectory 

of the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ide A w ake case and for the light it  

sheds on CIR, its strategies, and its role in 

the conservative legal movement.50 Indeed, 

CIR and the R osenberger case were part of a 

shifting perspective in the conservative legal 

community, as a new generation of conser­

vatives moved from “ insist[ing] on judicial 

restraint” to “ actively using the courts to 

establish new [rights] or [to] reinvigorate old 

ones.” 51 Part of this strategy involved finding 

and selecting “ cases with the potential to alter 

the nation’s constitutional debate”  and then 

litigating these cases in order to “ place sig­

nificant opportunities for legal change before 

the court.” 52

CIR appears to have understood early 

the possibility for W ide A w ake to become an 

influential case, as did the University. The 

latter can be seen both from the quick action 

and involvement of high-ranking University 

administrators and also from their private 

reflections. For example, President O’Neil 

wrote in 1992 that he had an “ early sense that 

this was likely  to be one of the most difficult  

and divisive of cases in the field.” 53

D is t r i c t  C o u r t  a n d  C o u r t  o f  A p p e a ls

As noted, McDonald, on behalf of his 

clients, filed a lawsuit in federal district court 

on July 11, 1991. The complaint alleged a 

variety of violations: of free speech; of free 

press and free association; of free exercise of 

religion; of equal protection of the laws; and 

of 42 USC § 1983.54

After receiving the complaint, Mingle 

reached out further to O’Neil and Jeffries, 

sending them the complaint and inviting 

their insights.55 Officially  joining Mingle on 

the side of the University were Mary Sue 

Terry, the Virginia Attorney General, as well 

as Caroline Lockerby and Paul Forch from 

the attorney general’s office.56 The attorney 

general’s office was connected to the school 

in that it appointed the general counsel to 

the University,57 but one notable dynamic 

at this stage of the litigation was the be­

ginning of ongoing friction between Mingle 

and the attorney general. The crux of the 

tension was the attorney general’s office’s, 

and specifically Paul Forch’s, opinion that 

Mingle was not sufficiently communicative 

with and responsive to the attorney general’s 

office.58 The disagreement would become 

more acute, but even at this early juncture, 

the fault lines were apparent.

With Mingle as counsel, on August 30 

the University moved to dismiss the case, 

relying on Eleventh Amendment immunity.59 

This motion was not granted. W ide A w ake 

then moved for summary judgement on 

November 12. With the assistance of the 

attorney general as well as consultation from 

O’Neil and Jeffries, the University cross- 

moved for summary judgement in January 

1992.60 The University argued that the SAF 

was a non-public forum, that exclusion of 

religious organizations was justified based on 

the limited SAF funds, and that the ineli­

gibility  was grounded in the Establishment 

Clause.61

At this point, one of the University’s 

main strategies was to show that its policy did
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not discriminate against Christians and that 

the bar on religious funding was applied equi­

tably. This argument was partially a response 

to WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ide A w ake 's claims that discrimination 

was afoot because the University funded 

other semi-religious organizations such as 

Black Voices and the Jewish Law Students 

Association (JLSA).62 Conversely, the Uni­

versity hoped to show that W ide A w ake was 

not denied funding because it was Christian 

but because it was pervasively sectarian in 

a manner that the noted organizations were 

not. As a result, the University dedicated 

much time to research about other CIOs, 

as by collecting their constitutions and ob­

taining affidavits from their presidents about 

the scope of their organizations’ activities, 

with the affidavits to aver that the organi­

zations had never received any complaints 

about the nature or extent of their religious 

activities.63

Mingle told Jeffries that his strategy 

would be to “ take the offensive” by also 

“ quickly noting the depositions of the plain­

tiffs, principally to pin down the conspicu­

ously sectarian character of the Wide Awake 

organization.” 64 This would support the argu­

ment that W ide A w ake was not denied fund­

ing because it was Christian. Indeed, the Uni­

versity sought to prove that “ the reason for 

denial of funding is not solely Wide Awake’s 

Christian content or Christian expression”  

and that the funding of Black Voices, the 

C.S. Lewis Society, and JLSA was “ not in­

consistent with Wide Awake’s denial. These 

groups have religious expression as inciden­

tal or part of their activities... . However 

they do not advocate a relationship with a 

religious deity.” 65 As will  be seen, Mingle’s 

strategy at the beginning of the litigation 

contrasts with the University’s later points 

of emphasis. The distinction between W ide 

A w ake and other organizations, which the 

University was to raise at the Supreme Court 

level,66 also shows a fundamental divergence 

between what the University thought were 

key litigation issues and what the Court

would see as determinative. Ultimately, none 

of  the Supreme Court opinions would discuss 

the distinction between W ide A w ake and other 

organizations.

On May 20, 1992, District Court Judge 

J. Harry Michael Jr., a graduate of the Uni­

versity of Virginia ’s college and law school, 

ruled in the University’s favor.67 Primarily, he 

held that the SAF was a non-public forum, 

that denying funding to W ide A w ake was not 

viewpoint discrimination, and that there were 

no Free Exercise or Equal Protection viola­

tions. Regarding the Free Exercise claims, the 

Judge explained that the court could not see 

any “ burden[s] of constitutional magnitude 

that ha[d] been imposed on the plaintiffs.”  As 

to the Establishment Clause, Judge Michael 

found that so “ long as the University’s Es­

tablishment Clause fears are reasonable, the 

Guideline restriction must stand.” Notably, 

Judge Michael cited and attempted to distin­

guish W idm ar. Specifically, he quoted Justice 

John Paul Stevens’ concurrence in that case, 

which stressed the number of discretionary 

decisions that a university routinely needs to 

make in the course of its operation.68 This 

would become one of the University’s key 

arguments as the litigation continued.69

In June 1992, W ide A w ake appealed the 

district court’s ruling. Oral argument took 

place in the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals 

on November 30, 1992,70 with Michael Mc­

Connell having McDonald on Rosenberger’s 

team to argue the case for W ide A w ake against 

Mingle, who was joined again by Forch and 

Lockerby from the attorney general’s office 

on the brief. Notably, Jeffries remained a con­

sultant and was not listed on the brief.71 On 

March 14, 1994, the Fourth Circuit delivered 

its decision, written by Chief Judge Samuel 

Ervin. The decision held that the University 

guidelines discriminated “ on the basis of 

[W ide A w ake’ s] content,”  but the University 

had a “ compelling interest in maintaining 

strict separation of church and state,” 72 and 

so the court affirmed the district court’s 

decision.
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Along with its litigation effort, the Uni­

versity engaged in public relations activity 

concerning the case. The extent of the in­

volvement of the general counsel’s office 

and the legal team in the public relations 

effort, and the degree to which it shaped 

the University’s strategy, is striking. Given 

that the University had its own separate 

Public Relations Department, the legal team’s 

high degree of commitment is specifically 

notable. For example, Mingle and the general 

counsel’s office closely monitored the news 

involving the case throughout the litigation.73 

Mingle himself became involved in outreach 

to various individuals to encourage good 

press coverage about the case. For example, 

he wrote a letter encouraging an author that: 

“ Your Op-Ed in the Times Dispatch was 

excellent... . [You have] said publicly what 

a lot of Virginians feel and have expressed 

privately. That’s a real public service.” 74

Other than the University’s status as an 

institution that needed to sustain its elite im­

age, donations, and applications by prospec­

tive students, another less obvious factor 

seemed to be driving the University’s sen­

sitivity toward public relations. Specifically, 

the University was still smarting from the 

recent sting of the publicity around the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAV ir ­

g in ia A dvoca te’s defunding. The University’s 

decisions during the W ide A w ake litigation 

should be considered in the context of the 

recent A dvoca te turmoil. For example, at 

the University of Virginia Appropriations 

Committee’s discussion and vote regarding 

W ide A w ake’s funding, the chair warned the 

other members about the importance of con­

fidentiality, in an apparent reference to the 

A dvoca te’s defunding: “ I know its going to 

be a big thing and its going to blow up ... 

I just don’t want anybody on the committee 

commenting on this, because we’re going 

to say as little as possible, because I just 

don’ t want it blown out like ... other issues 

have in the past.” 75 Likewise, Ronald Stump,

the Associate Dean of Students, wrote about 

his concern regarding the W ide A w ake case 

in light of the “ Virginia Advocate case of 

a few years ago,” which was “ generally 

misunderstood by the general public” and 

received “ much criticism for the apparent 

decision to not fund a specific viewpoint.” 76

It does appear that the University’s con­

cerns about negative public perception of 

the W ide A w ake litigation were justified. As 

the case began to appear in the national 

and local news, the University’s mailboxes 

became crowded with letters from angry, 

if  often misinformed, individuals. For ex­

ample, letters chastised the University for 

wrongs such as banning W ide A w ake from 

campus and barring Christians from attend­

ing the University.77 University employees 

responded to these letters to try to “ correct 

... any misinformation about the University’s 

policies.” The responses also attempted to 

seek out the origin of the misinformation 

in an effort to prevent erroneous rumors 

from spreading.78 Ultimately, consideration 

of which decisions would fare well in the 

court of public opinion affected a variety 

of University decisions, a thread running 

through the history of the litigation.

F i l i n g  f o r  C e r t

After losing in the Fourth Circuit, W ide 

A w ake filed a petition for certiorari in the 

Supreme Court. The University then drafted 

an opposition brief, with Mingle again con­

sulting both O’Neil and Jeffries.79 Their 

timeline was tight: Mingle wrote to Jeffries 

and O’Neil for assistance on September 6, 

with the response having to be filed by 

September 23 and printed even earlier.80

The drafting of the brief opposing cert 

exacerbated the tensions between the at­

torney general’s office and the University’s 

general counsel’s office. After the brief was 

finalized, Forch, in the attorney general’s 

office, sent a long and caustic note to Mingle, 

sharply criticizing “ the ‘ final’ draft”  that was
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sent to the printer. He wrote that the briefs 

design “ increases the prospect of grant of 

cert,”  and he thought the brief should have 

been substantially rewritten. He again com­

plained about the “ absence of time provided 

to the AG  to review”  the brief, noting that this 

“ concern”  had been raised before and saying 

he could not “ seem to get [the message] 

through” to Mingle. He upbraided Mingle, 

writing that his “ perennial reaction that the 

AG should defer to experienced counsel is 

... presumptuous when dealing with highly 

sensitive legal issues before the highest court 

of this land.” He closed by noting that 

these remarks were meant to be constructive 

commentary, but that Mingle needed to “ do 

a better job at building confidence” at the 

attorney general’s office.81

The ongoing tension with the attorney 

general’s office is notable in several respects. 

In addition to providing important informa­

tion about the way the University conducted 

its legal defense and its tendency toward 

insularity, it underscores the broader con­

tention that particular personalities and rela­

tionships were important in the litigation. In­

deed, Forch’s letter begs the question of what

might have occurred if, instead of Mingle, 

a lawyer with a more collegial, collaborative 

relationship with the attorney general’s office 

was in Mingle’s position and had taken the 

advice of the office to completely rewrite the 

cert brief.

P r e lu d e  t o  t h e  S u p r e m e  C o u r t

On October 31,1994, the Supreme Court 

granted cert.82 This began a critical debate 

within the BOV regarding how to move 

forward with the case, as the “ course of 

action”  was “ absolutely up to”  the Board.83 

The Board seriously considered decisions 

that would dodge the prospect of a loss at 

the Supreme Court, including attempting to 

either settle or moot the case.

On November 12, the Board members 

met to consider their potential options.84 

They met with Virginia Attorney General 

James Gilmore, and then met to vote. Be­

tween the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAR osenberger case itself and the 

conflict with the attorney general, the stakes 

were high. The behavior of the Board mem­

bers indicates their perception of the risks; 

“ several”  members consulted outside counsel 

in addition to Mingle before the meeting 

and the vote. Public image remained a pri­

mary guiding principle for the Board— the 

notes open with a comment regarding how 

the group was “ very concerned about [the] 

case & how UVA will appear publicly.”  

The relationship between the University and 

the attorney general had become even more 

strained—despite the already-noted tie be­

tween the attorney general’s office and the 

University, both Gilmore and Virginia Gover­

nor George Allen were Republicans who had 

just entered office that year, and they had new 

perspectives divergent from those of their 

Democratic predecessors, who had supported 

the University throughout the litigation.85 

The Board meeting notes commented that the 

case had become a “ cat &  dog fight with [the] 

AG.”
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One potential option on the table was 

to “ change the regulation”  by removing the 

religious restriction from the SAF funding 

guidelines, which as a result would “ moot 

the case.” 86 However, several members of 

the Board noted that this would still be 

expensive—even if  they paid WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ide A w ake the 

money originally requested, it  would be diffi ­

cult to “ avoid [paying] attys fees.” 87 Another 

option would be to attempt to settle the case, 

the position advocated by Attorney General 

Gilmore. He argued that “ the Fourth Circuit’s 

establishment clause holding is wrong”  and 

that the University “ could avoid the payment 

of substantial attorneys fees” by settling.88 

Mingle advised the Board against this, warn­

ing that “ [settlement of the case would be 

expensive and dangerous.”  Mingle counseled 

the Board to proceed with the litigation, 

because “ [fjunding the Wide Awake journal 

[would] expose the University to the possibil­

ity  of suit by persons who would regard such 

action as”  an Establishment Clause violation. 

“ Because of this feature,”  Mingle noted, “ the 

University needs a clear resolution of this 

case. Any resolution that does not resolve its 

merits exposes the University and the Board 

of Visitors to considerable future litigation 

and legal exposure.” 89

Ultimately, the Board decided to “ stay 

the course,” voting to continue to defend 

the policy.90 Thirteen Board members so 

voted, two voted against, wanting to “ fund 

a ll pub lica tions" and one abstained.91 A  

key consideration in the Board’s determi­

nation appears to have been Mingle’s argu­

ment that failing to resolve what funding 

guidelines were permissible would result in 

“ years of uncertainty and years of expensive 

litigation.” 92 According to one Board mem­

ber, “ Mingle made a convincing case” and 

persuaded the Board “ we should go forward.”  

Another influential factor seems to have been 

the impact of other options on the Univer­

sity’s public appearance. One Board member 

commented that it “ feels [like]  we need to go 

forward”  as this was related to the “ strategy

re: dealing with press.” 93 Five days after 

the vote, on November 17, the University 

announced to the press that the Board would 

continue to defend the policy.94 The very 

same day, coincidentally,95 the office of the 

attorney general also publicized that it would 

be opposing the policy and would intervene 

on the side of W ide A w ake.96

B r ie f  W r i t i n g

With the green light from the Board 

that the University would go forward with 

the case, the legal team began writing 

the Supreme Court brief around Decem­

ber 1994.97 The team considered the brief 

significantly more important than the oral 

argument. Jeffries wrote to Mingle that the 

reduced importance of the oral argument 

was “ especially true today, as the current 

crop of  justices have gotten into the habit of 

interrupting so frequently that no coherent 

presentation can be made.” 98 In the brief, 

and later at oral argument, the University 

diverged from the approach it had taken ear­

lier in the litigation. In a somewhat dramatic 

pivot, it retreated from its Establishment 

Clause claims, a move that has since puzzled 

commentators and provoked criticism. The 

change seems to be accounted for by the 

increased role of  John Jeffries, who had a key 

role in writing the brief, and his assessment of 

the Fourth Circuit’s opinion. Indeed, Jeffries 

had unique ideas for how to address the 

litigation, and he took the lead.

After cert was granted, John Jeffries 

officially  joined Mingle as counsel.99 Mingle 

remained lead counsel, but Jeffries moved 

from having a role on the “ sidelines”  to being 

“ active co-counsel.”  Now, Jeffries was fully  

on board, and he also took on the central 

role of writing the brief.100 This change in 

Jeffries’ role and his primary authorship of 

the brief can account for the University’s 

shifting argumentation strategy.

The Fourth Circuit’s opinion, of which 

Jeffries was highly critical, helps explain
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the shift in the University’s stance. Jeffries 

thought the opinion represented an anti­

quated view of the Establishment Clause 

that the majority of the justices would not 

endorse. In an early draft of the University’s 

brief for the Supreme Court, he planned to 

devote an entire section to why the Court 

should sidestep and effectively ignore the 

Fourth Circuit’s decision.101 This portion was 

later edited out, but it is illustrative of his 

mindset.

Jeffries’ assessment of how the justices 

would approach the case (and the Fourth 

Circuit’s opinion) in turn affected the Uni­

versity’s stance. He perceived that while the 

four liberal justices would agree with the 

Fourth Circuit’s approach to the Establish­

ment Clause, only those four justices would 

adopt such a position. He also estimated that 

these four justices would already be in the 

University’s camp, so defending the Estab­

lishment Clause reasoning used by the Fourth 

Circuit was unnecessary. For this reason, the 

merits briefing aimed to sway specifically 

Justices Sandra Day O’ Connor and William  

H. Rehnquist, of  whom the University needed 

one, and only one.102

In December 1994, Jeffries wrote that 

“ my firm conviction is that this case will  

not be decided on [the] ground [of the 

Establishment Clause and] that any sustained 

attention to it would be deflective and coun­

terproductive.” He was “ convinced that [the 

Establishment Clause] argument is a loser for 

us.” 103 As a result, he recommended placing 

a primary focus on the issue of viewpoint 

discrimination. He wrote to the legal team:

regardless of  the Court’s conceptual­

ization of  the case, a conclusion that 

the University had practiced view­

point discrimination would be dis­

positive. In essence, viewpoint dis­

crimination is a silver bullet that al­

lows plaintiffs to win no matter what 

the doctrinal category or the stan­

dard of review. Persuasive answers

to these contentions are, therefore, 

our overriding objectives.104

With Jeffries as primary author, the 

final Supreme Court brief focused almost 

exclusively on public forum doctrine and 

viewpoint discrimination.105

T h e  L e t t e r

During the litigation, a sensitive issue 

regarding Justice Antonin Scalia arose for 

the members of the litigation team. The 

situation, not previously discussed, provides a 

compelling miniature case study showcasing 

the extent to which unique and specific per­

sonalities, internal institutional politics, and 

concern with public image shaped the course 

of the litigation. This sub-narrative began 

years earlier, in 1967, when Scalia left private 

practice to teach at the University of Virginia 

School of Law. He served as a professor at the 

University until 1971, after which he worked 

in various governmental positions.106 Scalia 

was subsequently nominated for a seat on the 

D.C. Circuit and, in 1986, to the Supreme 

Court of the United States.107

Three years after he was appointed as 

a justice, the University nominated former 

Professor Scalia for the Thomas Jefferson 

Award.108 The award is the “ highest honor[] 

given to members of the University commu­

nity who have exemplified in character, work 

and influence the principles and ideals of 

Jefferson, and thus advanced the objectives 

for which he founded the University.” 109 

Apparently catching both the awards com­

mittee and the University by surprise, Scalia 

responded by sending then-President Robert 

O’Neil a biting letter. He described what 

he interpreted as unfair treatment by the 

University toward his children’s applications 

for admission and characterized the Univer­

sity’s behavior as either “ intentional disfa­

vor”  or “ gross neglect.”  He closed the letter 

by refusing the award and noting that he 

would not accept “ anything else” from the
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University, “ [n]ot now. Now ever.” 110 O’Neil 

responded a little over a week later. Opening 

the letter with the personal greeting, “ Nino,”  

instead of attempting to explain the conduct 

of the admissions committee, he opted to 

express his “ deep sense of sadness”  at Justice 

Scalia’s “ estrangement.” He concluded by 

articulating his hope that “ the future may 

offer some promise for rapprochement.” 111 

Justice Scalia did not respond.112

In February 1995, the letter and the 

subsequent fallout came to the attention of 

the litigation team. A  series of  emails ensued; 

among those involved were the University’s 

Dean of Admissions, the current and for­

mer University Presidents, and the rest of 

the litigation team. Some members of the 

group did not interpret the letter kindly: John 

Blackburn, Dean of Admissions, thought 

that Scalia was “ accusing] me of lying to 

him.” 113 O’Neil, former President and then 

consultant to the litigation team, observed 

that Scalia “ has a tendency to brood forever 

about such things, and he may be brooding 

yet.”  O’Neil also expressed that in this con­

text, and because of Scalia’s status as a for­

mer member of the faculty, he “ really should 

excuse himself from the Wide Awake case.”  

Despite his hope that Justice Scalia would 

recuse, O’Neil was doubtful, “ because of his 

interest in the subject - to say nothing of 

his brooding about the admissions case.” 114 

Of course, the desire for Scalia to recuse 

himself was not without self-interest; the 

legal team was not completely certain how 

Scalia would view the case,115 but predicted 

they would likely be “ pound[ed]”  by him at 

oral argument, and noted that of the justices, 

he was also “ among the most voluble.” 116

Individual justices have complete discre­

tion over their own recusal. They are not 

required to explain their recusal decisions, 

and they rarely do so.117 This dynamic helps 

explain why the University chose not to pur­

sue recusal. The litigation team did discuss 

asking for recusal, but ultimately decided 

against doing so, both because they thought

recusal was not necessarily appropriate in this 

case and because it was unlikely that the 

Justice would agree to recuse himself.

In reaction to the series of emails about 

Justice Scalia’s letter, Mingle emailed the 

group with a serious warning regarding con­

fidentiality. Of utmost import, wrote Mingle, 

was keeping “ this sensitive matter very con­

fidential.”  The team was instructed to share 

the information strictly on “ an absolute ‘need 

to know’ ” basis. Mingle closed by under­

scoring the stakes: “ If  the circle enlarges 

and the press picks up the issue, it could 

have damaging impact on the Wide Awake 

litigation before the Supreme Court.” 118 Two 

people responded, assuring Mingle of their 

commitment to confidentiality; after that, the 

email thread, and all further evidence of the 

discussion in the historical record, promptly 

ends.119 Notably, Scalia and the University 

do appear to have later reached a detente. 

In 2008, nearly twenty years after it was 

originally offered, the Justice accepted the 

Thomas Jefferson Award.120 In the coun- 

terfactual in which Scalia recused himself, 

the Court would have split four to four, 

effectively affirming the Court of Appeals 

and changing the ultimate outcome of the 

litigation.

O r a l  A r g u m e n t

It was not predetermined that Jeffries 

would represent the University at Supreme 

Court oral argument. During January 1995, 

the litigation team considered its options, 

which involved choosing between Mingle 

and Jeffries. Advantages the general coun­

sel’s office considered of having Mingle ar­

gue the case included his extensive “ litigation 

experience”  as well as his “ experience in this 

particular case,”  namely, “ knowledge of the 

facts, cases, [and] types of questions which 

will be raised in oral argument.” 121 Min ­

gle had represented the University in both 

lower courts and had been successful, which 

cut in favor of choosing him to represent
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the University. Mingle was thought to be 

“ more comfortable (and conversant) with the 

Establishment Clause issue.” Furthermore, 

Mingle was “ familiar with McConnell’s”  ap­

proach. Unlike Jeffries, Mingle was not an 

academic and could present a “ contrast”  to 

the “ academic style of McConnell.” How­

ever, the optics did not support choosing 

Mingle. The team worried that “ politics”  and 

the “ appearance of liberal institutional bias”  

weighed against having Mingle argue the 

case. Furthermore, there were institutional 

considerations—Lawson wondered “ what is 

the practical effect of saying you will  argue 

it if  Capelin [sic] et al, and Low say Jeffries 

should? If  we lose, how will  the[y] react?”  

Choosing Jeffries would also present both ad­

vantages and drawbacks. Jeffries’ leadership 

role on the brief helped recommend him.122 

However, the team worried that Jeffries had 

less experience with the case and the facts. 

Some in the general counsel’s office were 

anxious that they could lose control over the 

case, and that Jeffries might “ cut ties to our 

office, and rely on his own colleagues who are 

not familiar with the history of the case.” 123

However, the team eventually selected 

Jeffries to argue the case. Mingle thought 

it was ultimately “ a close call,” but that 

Jeffries’ “ con law expertise”  as well as “ in­

sights into Supreme Court decision-making 

and how particular Justices may be tilted”  

presented clear advantages.124 Moreover, Jef­

fries’ status as a former clerk to Justice 

Powell and a “ [f]riend of conservatives” on 

the Court could have a positive influence.125 

Also of crucial importance were the optics: 

due to his more limited role earlier in the 

case, the general counsel’s office hoped Jef­

fries presented a perspective that was “ dis­

sociated from [the] institution.” 126 According 

to Mingle, this distance could also hope­

fully  “ offset the albeit uninformed viewpoint 

of some politicos that Mingle is the legal 

advocate and policy architect of the Uni­

versity’s position.” 127 Furthermore, Lawson 

conjectured that Jeffries’ “ academic” style

might be more “ appealing”  to the “ clerks.” 128 

In sum, Jeffries provided a “ [conservative 

contrast” that could help the University’s 

appearance.129

P r e p a r a t io n  f o r  t h e  C o u r t

After the brief was filed, the attorneys 

took a month off. Jeffries wrote that he 

needed to take several weeks “ away from 

this case.” 130 As a result, preparation for oral 

argument did not start in earnest until Febru­

ary. The team’s oral argument preparation 

included several approaches. The first step 

involved the “ in-house team assembling and 

reacting”  to a “ detailed argument outline.” 131 

Next, a moot court with outsiders was ar­

ranged and was scheduled for February 22; 

it included Pamela Karlan, Amy Wax, Beth 

Hodson, and George Rutherglen.132 It does 

not appear that the group made the mistake 

of not consulting with enough dissenters. 

Instead, the team attempted to recruit people 

actively “ hostile to our position”  in order to 

“ learn what to expect.” 133

On March 1, 1995, Jeffries faced off  

against McConnell at oral argument before 

the justices. Here, Jeffries doubled down on 

the strategy taken in the brief of retreating 

from the University’s Establishment Clause 

argument. When asked about the position, 

Jeffries told the Court, “ Obviously, if  the 

Establishment Clause forbids us from giving 

direct aid to religion, there is an end to 

the matter, but we do not stand on that 

ground.” 134 Instead, Jeffries emphasized the 

importance of the University’s discretion. As 

Jeffries stated: “ There cannot be a right of 

access to the budget of the University of 

Virginia.” 135

The team had divergent reactions to the 

March 1 oral argument. The next day, Jeffries 

wrote Mingle that he was not optimistic about 

the outcome. To him, “ the signals seemed”  to 

be “ all wrong”  because “ the Justices weren’ t 

sufficiently interested in the questions that 

go our way.” Despite his pessimism about



T H E  U N E X P L O R E D  H IS T O R Y  O F  ROSENBERGER D E C IS IO N 1 1 9 srqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

the result, however, Jeffries had “ no sec­

ond thoughts about our preparation”  of the 

case.136 Conversely, Mingle felt “ optimistic 

about the outcome,” as a result of being 

convinced that “ the case will be decided 

on the briefs and the case record, which I  

believe are strong for the University on both 

counts.”  Mingle told Jeffries that he thought 

the justices’ “ rigorous questioning of both 

sides essentially reflected what we argued”  

regarding the discretionary nature of  resource 

allocations. Mingle did not even consider this 

a “ close case.” 137

Upon reflection, both Mingle and Jef­

fries thought that their most “ serious obsta­

cle”  was the Fourth Circuit’s opinion. Jeffries 

wrote:

[Our] [fjirst and most important

[obstacle] was the disastrous opin­

ion of the Fourth Circuit, which put 

the right result on patently wrong 

grounds. That started everyone off  

with a predisposition toward rever­

sal. I shall always believe that if  

the Fourth Circuit had written a 

minimally competent opinion, cert 

would not have been granted or, if  it  

had been, we would have prevailed 

on the merits.138

Mingle concurred that “ we were hand­

icapped by the Fourth Circuit’s erroneous 

reasoning.” He also thought the justices 

might have had different grievances with 

the appellate ruling and that some justices 

might be motived “ to straighten out the free 

speech side of the Fourth Circuit’s analysis”  

while some “ (especially Scalia) wanted to 

correct the Establishment Clause side of the 

appellate decision.”  As a result, he forecasted 

that the Court would “ avoid the Establish­

ment Clause issue - because of the wide 

implications of endorsing cash subsidies to 

pervasively sectarian organizations” and in­

stead “ decide the case on narrow grounds.”  

Specifically, Mingle predicted that the court

would use a public forum analysis to dispose 

of the case.139

T h e  D e c is io n

Ultimately, Jeffries’ predictions proved 

sagacious. The Supreme Court indeed re­

versed the Fourth Circuit, handing down its 

ruling on June 29, 1995. Justice Anthony 

Kennedy delivered the Court’s decision, 

joined by Justices Rehnquist, O’Connor, 

Thomas, and Scalia. Justice Kennedy held 

that the University had created a limited 

public forum with the SAF, though it was 

a forum in more of a “ metaphysical” sense 

than the “ spatial”  forums at issue in WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW idm ar 

and L am b’s C hapel. Justice Kennedy also 

explained that while “ the distinction” be­

tween content and viewpoint discrimination 

“ is not a precise one,” here the University 

had indeed engaged in viewpoint discrimi­

nation. The Court dismissed the University’s 

arguments about discretion and its attempts 

to distinguish W idm ar and L am b s C hapel on 

the basis of the difference between access to 

funding (a limited resource) and access to 

facilities (a practically unlimited resource); 

Justice Kennedy retorted that scarcity cannot 

justify viewpoint discrimination.140

The Court then turned to the Establish­

ment Clause, noting that while the University 

had apparently retreated from this argument, 

it  was the basis of  the Fourth Circuit’s opinion 

and therefore required discussion. Looking 

to precedent, Justice Kennedy concluded that 

there was “ no difference in logic or principle, 

and no difference of constitutional signifi­

cance”  between the facility access cases like 

W idm ar and L am b’s C hapel and the access 

at issue in R osenberger. As a result, he said, 

“ To obey the Establishment Clause, it was 

not necessary for the University to deny 

eligibility  to student publications because of 

their viewpoint.” 141

Justices O’ Connor and Thomas each 

concurred in separate opinions. Justice 

O’ Connor confronted the tension in the case
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head on, acknowledging that the case “ lies 

at the intersection of the principle of govern­

ment neutrality and the prohibition on state 

funding of religious activities.”  Her opinion 

recognized that difficult line drawing was 

required, but she found that “ careful judg­

ment and fine distinctions,”  as applied to this 

case, supported the majority’s holding.142 In 

contrast, Justice Thomas concurred primarily 

to spar with the dissent over historical analy­

sis. His concurrence and the dissent dispute 

at length over James Madison’s WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM em oria l 

and R em onstrance A ga inst R elig ious A ssess­

m ents and its implications regarding the 

meaning of the Establishment Clause.143

Justice David Souter wrote for the four 

dissenters, positing primarily that the funding 

at issue violated the Establishment Clause. 

He also distinguished M ueller , W itters, and 

Z obrest as indirect aid cases, in which the 

funding reached religious institutions “ only 

as a result of the genuinely independent and 

private choices of aid recipients.” 144 Turning 

to the speech clause, Souter first gave a 

nod to the University’s argument regarding 

the significant discretion usually afforded to 

universities,145 but he then devoted the heart 

of the next section of his opinion to arguing 

that the restriction is not in fact viewpoint 

discrimination, distinguishing viewpoint dis­

crimination as “ taking sides in a public 

debate,” 146 whereas here, the University had 

not favored or disfavored any religion, and 

thus did “ not skew debate by funding one 

position but not its competitors.” 147

P o s t - D e c is io n  R e a c t io n s

The decision was both cheered and vili ­

fied on a national level. Conservative organi­

zations and Christian advocacy groups such 

as the Christian Legal Society celebrated the 

decision.148 Conservatives felt invigorated by 

the holding; Jay Sekulow, chief counsel for 

the American Center for Law and Justice, a 

conservative advocacy group, applauded the 

decision for “ cross[ing] a critical threshold

R o n a ld  R o s e n b e r g e r  ( r i g h t )  c o - f o u n d e r  o f  Wide Awake, 

w a s  p h o t o g r a p h e d  o n  t h e  s t e p s  o f  t h e  S u p r e m e  C o u r t  

o n  M a r c h  1 , 1 9 9 5 , a f t e r  t h e  C o u r t  h e a r d  o r a l  a r g u m e n t  

i n  h is  F i r s t  A m e n d m e n t  c h a l le n g e .  F e l lo w  m a g a z in e  c o ­

f o u n d e r  R o b e r t  P r in c e  i s  a t  l e f t .

in the fight for religious liberty.” He also 

predicted that the decision would “ propel and 

energize other religious liberty issues.” 149 

Sekulow fulfilled  his own prophesy, going on 

to litigate both San ta F e Independen t Schoo l 

D istr ic t v. D oe and P leasan t G rove. However, 

other religious groups like the American Jew­

ish Congress, separationist advocates such 

as the Americans United for Separation of 

Church and State, and civil liberties groups 

including People for the American Way were 

angered by a decision they considered to be 

wrongly decided.150 Contemporaneous legal 

scholarship was likewise split, with the ma­

jority ’s decision garnering both praise151 and 

criticism.152

Several universities other than the Uni­

versity of Virginia felt the immediate sting of 

the decision, as they were compelled quickly 

to revise similar funding policies. Ironi­

cally, apparently least moved by the decision 

were University of Virginia students, with 

one newspaper reporting that many students
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commented that “ they knew little about the 

case.” 153

E p i lo g u e

After the Supreme Court decision, the 

parties continued to dispute the pending issue 

of Rosenberger’s claims for compensatory 

damages from the University, as well as 

fees and costs.154 Among the items at issue 

was what time periods should be included 

when calculating Rosenberger’s attorneys’ 

fees; pre-district court and post-Supreme 

Court fees were in question. Ultimately, after 

almost a year, the parties reached an agree­

ment. On May 14, 1996, the parties signed 

a joint statement in which it was agreed 

that litigation pending in the district court 

would be dismissed. WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW ide A w ake assented to 

release claims for money damages, attorneys’ 

fees, and costs, and in return, the University 

agreed to pay CIR $12,500.155 The discus­

sions surrounding the settlement do indi­

cate ongoing tensions between McDonald 

and Mingle. One of McDonald’s letters to 

the general counsel’s office levied several 

personal complaints against Mingle. He still 

resented Mingle making the parties meet in 

Charlottesville in 1991, and he also wrote 

that when Mingle argued that W ide A w ake 's 

attorneys were not entitled to fees for their 

work at the trial level, “ [wjith  all due respect, 

he cannot have been serious.” 156

For the University, the questions and 

concerns raised by R osenberger did not 

end with the litigation. From the school’s 

perspective, the decision left the University 

in the lurch, as it was “ clear” that “ the 

University [could] not continue to administer 

the mandatory SAF while excluding religious 

activities funding,”  but the case did not give 

guidance to the University about how to 

amend the program.157 The University was 

also under significant time pressure: it  needed 

to research and design a new plan, but only a 

few months after the Court handed down its 

decision, a new academic year would begin

and “ another round of student allocations”  

would need to be dispersed. As a result, Peter 

Low commented, a plan needed to be made 

“ as soon as possible.” 158

The Board needed to address two in­

terrelated issues. First, “ and more pressing,”  

it needed to revise the guidelines to com­

ply with the Court’s ruling. Second, it also 

needed to focus these revisions on “ how best 

to revise the Guidelines to withstand scrutiny 

in the event new constitutional claims are 

asserted in the future.” 159 According to the 

analysis from the general counsel’s office, the 

“ most significant issues”  specifically “ loom­

ing on the immediate horizon”  were:

(1) does the decision invalidate the

Board’s long-standing bans on the 

funding of  electioneering and lobby­

ing activities? (2) how deeply will  

the courts delve into the allocation 

of amounts of money among el­

igible speech-conducting organiza­

tions? (3) must the University pro­

vide a mechanism by which stu­

dents required to pay this mandatory 

fee may withhold their contributions 

from speech activities with which 

they personally disagree?

The University perceived potential liti ­

gation on all fronts: if  the University failed 

to amend the guidelines in certain respects, 

it faced litigation similar to that in R osen­

berger. But it  was also concerned that amend­

ing the guidelines to attempt to avoid lit ­

igation, for example, by allowing election­

eering or lobbying speech, could expose the 

University to other problems and “ implicate 

the University’s tax exempt status under 

section 50(l)(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 

Code.”  Based on the number of outstanding 

questions, the University considered itself an 

“ obvious and inviting target” for litigation 

from “ groups of all persuasions.” 160

One possibility researched by the Office 

of the General Counsel in the summer of
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1995 was that by switching from a mandatory 

SAF fee to a discretionary fee, the University 

could get out from under the WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAR osenberger 

decision. Theoretically, thought the Office, by 

only accepting voluntary fees, the University 

could avoid having the activity classified 

as “ state action” and therefore immunize 

itself from First or Fourteenth Amendment 

claims.161 However, by the end of the sum­

mer, the Office no longer viewed this as 

a feasible option; instead, it concluded that 

“ even if  the mandatory fee were abolished 

and replaced by a voluntary contribution 

solicited by students ... it is very likely that 

‘ state action’ could be found in the allocation 

process, particularly if the board set any 

guidelines or if  an existing agency of student 

governance, such as the Student Council, 

allocated the funds.” A new approach was 

therefore required, and the University turned 

to other options. A Student Activities Fee 

Task Force was set up, and it consulted 

with the general counsel’s office. Possibili­

ties under consideration included completely 

abolishing the SAF; keeping the SAF but dis­

continuing funding for any speech-oriented 

activities; keeping the SAF but discontinuing 

content-based exclusions and writing new, 

“ explicitly neutral”  guidelines; and discontin­

uing content-based exclusions but continuing 

“ to give student council discretion to allocate 

funds.” 162

The general counsel’s office advocated 

for completely abolishing the SAF. From the 

Office’s perspective, this strategy was legally 

airtight: “ Nothing in the Supreme Court’s 

decision ... requires a university to provide 

a mechanism for funding any student activ­

ities,”  so this would be “ unquestionably the 

most prudent course.”  The major benefit of 

this approach was avoiding the cost of  further 

litigation to resolve the outstanding questions 

left in the wake of R osenberger The 

expense was indeed likely to be major: the 

annual size of the SAF was only $400,000, 

but while unresolved at the time, the R osen­

berger litigation was poised to exceed that

cost. The University considered the very 

“ real prospect”  that it faced future litigation 

costs that would swallow the size of the 

SAF to be strong evidence of the prudence 

of not continuing the program. The general 

counsel’s office therefore concluded that “ the 

safest response ... is for the University to 

get out of the business of funding activities 

altogether.” 164

The University also considered the pos­

sible option of keeping the SAF but dis­

continuing any funding of speech activi­

ties. Like abolishing the SAF, this would 

hopefully inoculate the University from fu­

ture R osenberger-sty le litigation. However, 

this option was less than ideal, as defin­

ing “ speech” activities “ would entail line­

drawing of great difficulty  that could itself 

result in considerable risk of litigation.”  An­

other discrete option would be completely 

rewriting the SAF guidelines to be explicitly 

neutral. This possibility was also disfavored, 

as “ such criteria would be extremely difficult  

to craft, and ... [tjhe more detailed they were, 

the more rigid and unresponsive to the real 

budgeting needs of the organizations they 

would be.”  Also cutting against this option 

was the perception that unless each organi­

zation received equal funding, “ no such cri­

teria could eliminate substantial discretion in 

the appropriating body. And such discretion 

would invite lawsuits.”  Finally, the “ simplest 

approach”  other than complete SAF abolition 

would be abandoning content-based restric­

tions but otherwise leaving “ the present sys­

tem in place.”  One of  the main benefits of  this 

approach was its speed, given the University’s 

serious time constraints, as this plan would 

“ avoid complete restructuring”  of the current 

program.165

While the exact reasoning behind the 

ultimate decision is unclear, the choice that 

the University ultimately made among the 

options considered is revealing. What was 

thought to be the most prudent plan (abol­

ishing the SAF) was ultimately rejected 

for reasons seemingly unrelated to legal or
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financial considerations; it was thought to be 

an unfavorable public relations move: “ the 

University would surely be criticized heavily 

in public for taking this course, and it is likely  

that some would suggest that the University 

had closed down this valuable source of 

funds to spite the Christians who had taken 

it to court and won.” This public relations 

issue was considered to be a “ significant 

drawback.” 166

In the end, the school decided to elim­

inate content distinctions but leave the SAF 

otherwise unchanged. It also implemented 

a process by which students could elect to 

opt out of the SAF fee. Remarkably, the 

University therefore chose the option that it 

assessed would entail “ the maximum expo­

sure to the risks and costs of litigation,” 167 

apparently because it was the best public 

relations decision. When the Board discussed 

and rationalized its decisions publicly, these 

PR-related concerns remained unmentioned; 

instead, the University stressed the damage 

changing the SAF policies would have on 

student organizations and student life.168 To 

the last, the University remained focused on 

its status and image.

L e g a c y WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

R osenberger determinatively expanded 

the principle of equal access to resources to 

public funding. It also represented a clash in 

lines of cases, establishing that the principles 

underlying the Equal Access line of cases 

would trump No Aid  principles. R osenberger 

remains an oft-cited case. Specifically, recent 

years have seen an uptick in citations from 

the Supreme Court, with the citations coming 

from a variety of  justices from both sides of 

the idealogical spectrum.

The case also captures an essential ten­

sion between free speech and Establishment 

Clause jurisprudence. The strain lies in the 

fact that as a result of the lines of free speech 

and religion cases, the state faces a Catch-22. 

Universities like Virginia are vulnerable to

free speech claims when they create a public 

forum, limited purpose public forum, or fo­

rum by designation. Universities can immu­

nize themselves from speech claims if  they 

internalize or otherwise adopt the speech, 

making said speech the government’s.169 In 

so doing, however, they would simultane­

ously make themselves susceptible on Es­

tablishment Clause grounds. To the extent 

that it represents this double-edged sword, 

R osenberger epitomizes an inherent strain 

between the speech and religion elements of 

the First Amendment.170

R osenberger is also part of ongoing 

doctrinal trends in subtler ways. For example, 

echoes of R osenberger can be seen in the 

recent Establishment Clause cases on the 

subject of religious symbols. Indeed, R osen­

berger 's focus on history and the meaning 

of the Establishment Clause171 resounds in 

A m erican L eg ion 's focus on understanding 

and considering history.172 The case also 

embodies inherent tensions at the center 

of both religious liberty and free speech 

doctrines. Regarding the religion clauses, 

a central tension in the religious liberties 

legal doctrine is whether or not religion is 

“ special”  and whether or not religion is “ spe­

cial” for some purposes but not others.173 

This concept effectively splits the court in 

R osenberger. The dissenters contended that 

religion is special and is therefore subject to 

certain handicaps that other organizations are 

not, but the R osenberger plaintiffs and the 

majority took the stance that religion should 

not be treated specially vis-a-vis other orga­

nizations, and instead should be considered 

in a neutral fashion.174 This conception is in 

inherent tension with the Court’s view that 

religion is special in other areas, which it 

has expressed, for example, in the ministerial 

exception context.175 Thus, this question of 

just how special religion is cuts to the heart 

of  the religious liberties legal doctrine,176 and 

is implicated in a variety of other religious 

liberty cases,177 making the case of ongoing 

interest.
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W orkers A ga inst the C ity : T he F igh t fo r  F ree Speech in  H ague v. C IOsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA by Do nald W. Ro ge rs , 

(University of Illinois Press, Urbana, Illinois, 2020)

Reviewed by Henry S. Cohn

Donald Rogers, a lecturer in history at 

Central Connecticut State University and a 

board member of several Connecticut civic 

and historical societies, including the Con­

necticut Supreme Court Historical Society, 

previously published an article on the rights 

of assembly at the open-space courtyard of 

an indoor mall.1 Now he has written a re­

freshing and thorough study of the Supreme 

Court case of H ague v. C om m ittee fo r In ­

dustr ia l O rgan iza tion? which considered the 

constitutionality of municipal restrictions on 

outdoor assembly.

The H ague case began in 1937, when 

the CIO labor union distributed flyers in 

Jersey City, New Jersey, a busy port city 

adjacent to New York City. The CIO ’s action 

was opposed by Frank Hague, Jersey City ’s 

mayor. Although Hague had begun his career 

as a reforming Jersey City council member, 

rooting out corruption and inefficiency, by 

1937 he had amassed executive power and 

become “ the boss.” His administration was 

known to be corrupt. The media repeated his 

frequent declaration, “ I am the law!”  Unions 

did not fit into Hague’s goal of attracting 

businesses to Jersey City.

On November 29, 1937, Hague turned a 

cadre of police on a group of CIO members 

marching to a site in the city where a 

demonstration was to take place. He relied 

upon a 1924 ordinance banning leafleting and 

on a permit-requirement ordinance of 1930. 

The police destroyed handouts, arrested some 

marchers, and even “ deported”  some union­

ists to the town line. This type of police 

activity continued in the city for the next few 

months.

The CIO ’s lawyers, of course, opposed 

the anti-labor nature of Hague’s enforcement 

activities, but the entry of the American Civil  

Liberties Union (ACLU) into the controversy 

turned the dispute into a civil  rights struggle. 

The CIO and the ACLU  sought relief in the 

New Jersey Federal District Court early in 

1938. The plaintiff-union members’ evidence 

consisted of a recitation of the brutality 

against them as they attempted to distribute 

their literature and to hold demonstrations. 

Hague’s lawyers relied upon the city ’s rights 

to control assembly as set forth in its 1924 

and 1930 ordinances. Hague claimed that a 

municipality had unfettered control over the 

use of municipal streets and open spaces. 

Under questioning by ACLU ’s legendary at­

torney Morris Ernst, Hague charged that the 

labor union membership included dangerous 

Communists. He sought to make a statement 

that Ernst was a “ Red” himself, but the 

district judge refused to permit it.

The district judge was Coolidge ap­

pointee William Clark, a great-grandson of 

Simon Cameron, a member of Abraham 

Lincoln’s Cabinet. In 1930, in an indepen­

dent streak, he had held that the Eighteenth 

Amendment providing for prohibition was 

unconstitutional, because it was not adopted 

by constitutional convention but rather by 

state legislative ratification. His opinion was 

reversed on appeal. In 1938, while Clark was 

presiding over H ague, President Franklin D. 

Roosevelt appointed him to the Third Circuit 

Court of Appeals. In 1943, during World War 

II, he resigned his judgeship to join the U.S. 

Army. After the war, he lost a case in the 

Court of Claims in which he sought to return

©  2021 Suprem e C ourt H isto r ica l Socie ty 

DOI: 10.1111/jsch.12260



1 3 2 J O U R N A L  O F  S U P R E M E  C O U R T  H IS T O R Y

M a y o r  F r a n k  H a g u e  o f  J e r s e y  C i t y , w h o  o p p o s e d  t h e  C IO  

l a b o r  u n io n ’s  d is t r ib u t io n  o f  f ly e r s , i s  s h o w n  l ig h t in g  h is  

c ig a r  w it h  t h e  C o n s t i t u t io n  a n d  B i l l o f  R ig h t s .srqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

to the be nch. He he ld the re afte r the quasi­

judicial appointment of Chief Justice of the 

Allied High Commission Court of Appeals, 

stationed in Nuremberg, Germany.

In his WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH ague decision, Judge Clark 

struck down enforcement of the city ’s ordi­

nances, referring at the end of his opinion 

to city officials as “ wicked clowns.” 3 He 

declared, “ [Fjreedom of  speech and assembly 

come within the meaning of liberty as used in 

the Fourteenth Amendment.”  He ordered the 

city to permit the union free movement and 

to allow it to distribute leaflets and display 

information. In the only aspect of his opinion 

that was unfavorable to the plaintiffs, he 

allowed the city to control union activities in 

the city parks.

The city appealed to the Third Circuit. 

Strange stirrings seemed to be occurring 

behind the scenes.4 The case initially was 

to be assigned to a panel of five judges, 

including two who were retired, one (Joseph 

Buffington) having cognitive issues and being 

nearly blind. The CIO and ACLU sought 

relief from this unusual panel in a petition

to the Supreme Court, because under the 

U.S. Code the normal panel would have been 

three judges. Although the Court denied the 

petition, Owen J. Roberts, as the supervising 

Supreme Court Justice for the Third Circuit, 

intervened, and it is likely that this inter­

vention led to the setting up of a regular 

three-judge panel. Professor Rogers states 

that Judge Buffington had made public neg­

ative comments about District Judge Clark’s 

ruling, so the five-judge panel might well 

have reversed or stayed Clark’s ruling.5

Another interesting development in the 

appeal was that the American Bar Associ­

ation filed an am icus cu r iae brief in favor 

of the CIO and the ACLU, through a newly 

formed committee on the Bill  of Rights. A  

former president of the association, Arthur 

Vanderbilt, a longtime New Jersey oppo­

nent of Mayor Hague’s, supported the filing.  

Hague accused Vanderbilt of Communist 

leanings and tried unsuccessfully to block the 

filing. The brief, written with the help of 

the legal scholar Zechariah Chafee, argued 

that governments had the duty to support 

free public discussion. The ABA  also filed a 

similar brief in the U.S. Supreme Court.

The three judges on the panel were:

(1) John Biggs Jr. of Wilmington, Delaware, 

a Roosevelt appointee. He was a graduate 

of Princeton and Harvard Law School. 

His college roommate was F. Scott 

Fitzgerald, and he served as guardian of 

Fitzgerald’s daughter and as the executor 

of Fitzgerald’s will.  He remained on the 

Third Circuit until 1979, hearing close to 

4,000 cases and writing 1,500 opinions.

(2) Albert Maris, appointed by Roosevelt to 

the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and 

then to the Third Circuit, where he served 

for over fifty  years, from 1938 to 1989, 

and heard notable civil  rights cases. His 

revision of several federal judicial codes 

has led to his being called “ the father of 

modernized judicial procedure.” 6

(3) J. Warren Davis, who was appointed to 

the Third Circuit by Woodrow Wilson
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in 1920, after four years as a New 

Jersey federal district court judge. Three 

months after WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH ague was decided in 

the Third Circuit in 1939, Davis was 

charged criminally with taking a bribe 

in a bankruptcy case and he switched 

his status to inactive. In an unusual 

twist, it was Judge Clark, now on the 

Third Circuit, who alerted the Justice 

Department that Davis may have been 

engaged in illegalities. Also, during the 

prosecution of Davis, it was revealed 

that Davis had ghostwritten the infirm  

Buffington’s decisions. That Davis was 

the presiding judge for the Third Circuit 

H ague appeal could explain the origi­

nal five-judge panel episode. After two 

hung juries in 1941, the prosecutor nolle 

prossed the charges against Davis.

In the H ague case, the Third Circuit

issued a majority opinion by Judge Biggs, 

joined by Judge Maris, with Judge Davis 

dissenting in part.7 Judge Biggs affirmed 

Judge Clark’s decision, but he modified 

the district court order to allow the labor 

union members the right to assemble in the 

city parks. The three judges agreed that the 

rights sought were protected by the First 

Amendment as applied to the states through 

the Fourteenth Amendment, which thus also 

supplied the necessary federal jurisdiction. 

Regarding the parks issue, Judge Biggs 

distinguished an important precedent relied 

upon by the city and by Judge Davis’ partial 

dissent, D avis v. M assachusetts* in which 

the defendant was convicted of violating a 

Boston ordinance that prohibited any person 

from giving a public address without a permit 

from the mayor. The Supreme Judicial Court 

of Massachusetts, in an opinion by its Justice 

Oliver Wendell Holmes Jr., affirmed the con­

viction, as did the U.S. Supreme Court. Biggs 

found D avis inapplicable to H ague because, 

in H ague the CIO had applied for permits. 

Biggs also found D avis no longer sound 

law in light of subsequent Supreme Court 

decisions. Professor Rogers sees Biggs’

opinion as taking a new approach to First 

Amendment right-to-assemble claims, allow­

ing the gathering in public spaces for protests, 

subject to narrowly tailored state regulation, 

in contrast with the more restrictive approach 

that had governed before the 1930s.

Both sides sought certiorari in light 

of the Third Circuit’s decision, and it was 

granted. Seven justices were seated for the 

H ague case, as Justice William O. Douglas 

had not been on the Court when the case was 

argued, and Justice Felix Frankfurter recused 

himself because of his close previous ties 

to the ACLU. The seven justices were Chief 

Justice Charles Evans Hughes, a Hoover 

appointee as chief justice and a moderate; 

Justice Harlan F. Stone, a Coolidge appointee 

and a moderate; Justice Owen J. Roberts, a 

Hoover appointee, famous for his “ switch”  

during the Roosevelt Court-packing dispute; 

Justice Hugo L. Black, Roosevelt’s first 

appointee; Justice Stanley Reed, a 1938 

Roosevelt appointee and former solicitor 

general; and the two remaining “ horsemen”  

of conservativism, Justices James Clark 

McReynolds and Pierce Butler.

On February 27-28, 1939, the case was 

argued and, on June 5, 1939, the Court issued 

its opinions. Justice Roberts wrote a plurality 

opinion joined by Black and in part by 

Hughes, constituting a modified affirmance 

of the Third Circuit. Justice Stone wrote a 

concurring opinion in which Justice Reed 

joined. Chief Justice Hughes wrote a separate 

concurring opinion, joining Justice Roberts 

in part and Justice Stone in part. Justices 

McReynolds and Butler each filed a dissent.

Professor Rogers reports that Chief Jus­

tice Hughes’ choice of Justice Roberts to 

write the lead opinion may be explained by 

his social ties to Roberts. There was a ques­

tion about the assignment because Hughes 

had issued a concurring opinion, agreeing in 

part with Justice Stone’s concurring opinion. 

Professor Rogers states that Justice Stone had 

had a falling out with Hughes and that this 

led to the choice of Roberts. The holding in
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H aguesrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA wo u ld have be e n cle are r if  Sto ne had 

wr itte n the m ain o p inio n, ins te ad o f Ro be r ts , 

acco rding to Ro ge rs .9

Justice Roberts’ opinion followed the 

two lower courts in distinguishing D avis v. 

M assachusetts and their injunctive orders 

against the city, with minor adjustments. He 

approved of the injunction issued against the 

city in this case, but he modified it by remov­

ing the lower courts’ subsidiary orders setting 

forth the exact terms of any revised city ordi­

nances. Roberts famously found that streets 

and parks “ have immemorially been held in 

trust for the use of the public, and, time out 

of mind, have been used for the purposes of 

assembly, communicating thoughts between 

citizens and discussing public questions.”

Roberts’ rationale was unique, however. 

The assembly rights were based on the 

Fourteenth Amendment’s provision on the 

privileges and immunities of national citizen­

ship, not on the incorporation of the First 

Amendment in its Due Process Clause. The 

Privileges and Immunities Clause also pro­

vided the statutory jurisdiction for the case to 

be heard in federal court. There was no need 

to show actual damages. The jurisdictional 

holding rejected a key argument by the city 

and established a precedent. The city raised 

the issue that there was no subject matter 

jurisdiction for an injunctive action in federal 

court under the U.S. Code. The city further 

claimed that the plaintiffs had not proved 

damages in the amount of $3,000. Justice 

Roberts, in a precedent-setting holding on 

jurisdiction, found that the federal civil  rights 

statute, now codified as 42 U.S.C. section 

1983, provided jurisdiction. This statute pro­

vided that jurisdiction in federal court existed 

for rights allegedly secured by the Consti­

tution, here the Privileges and Immunities 

Clause. Under 42 U.S.C. section 1983, there 

was no requirement to prove damages.

Justice Stone’s concurrence accepted the 

approach of Judge Biggs that the Due Pro­

cess Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment 

incorporated the right of  assembly set forth in

the First Amendment. The jurisdiction must 

be based on a federal right under the Due 

Process Clause, as the plaintiffs had not sat­

isfied the Privileges and Immunities Clause. 

Chief Justice Hughes straddled the fence, 

stating that he concurred in general with 

Justice Roberts on the right to assemble, but 

found jurisdiction under Stone’s approach. 

Justices McReynolds and Butler dissented on 

the ground that D avis was still good law 

and that the city had wide powers to restrict 

assembly.

Professor Rogers’ analysis of H ague is 

incisive and original. First, he points out that 

the case did not involve merely correcting the 

actions of one rogue mayor, as some scholars 

have written. There were other cities with 

administrations equally eager to crack down 

on demonstrators. According to Rogers, the 

significance of H ague is more complex and 

broader. A  contribution of the book is that it 

explains H ague in terms of  the general devel­

opment of the right of freedom of assembly.

Second, because of the procedural his­

tory of the case, H ague did not have a major 

effect on labor law cases. It was a civil  rights 

case. When the CIO in the future sought to 

hold mass meetings or to picket, H ague was 

not especially relevant as a precedent.10

Most importantly, Rogers concludes that 

H ague should not be read as a triumph for 

the First Amendment’s right to assemble. 

It was more a transitional case from D avis 

to modern First Amendment holdings. With 

Justice Roberts relying on the Privileges and 

Immunities Clause and Justice Stone relying 

on the Due Process Clause, H ague 's message 

was muddled. Even Chief Justice Hughes’ 

opinion is unclear, as he adopted Roberts’ use 

of the Privileges and Immunities Clause, but 

undercut it by agreeing with Stone that that 

clause presented a jurisdictional problem.

Rogers notes that today we still debate 

the limits of municipal power. One might 

compare E dw ards v. Sou th C aro lina^ ' with 

A dder ly v. F lo r ida )2 E dw ards held that 

protesters could not be arrested for peaceably
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de m o ns trating fo r a cau s e , whe re as WVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA dder ly 

allo we d the co u nty to draw a line at p ro te s ts 

at a jail.

Rogers has chosen excellent 

photographs for his book, including four 

by prize-winning photographer Margaret 

Bourke-White that appeared in a February 7, 

1938 L ife M agazine report on Frank Hague’s 

exploits.
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